Doctoral Dissertation

Risk Behavior among Adolescents in Nepal

Ratna Shila Banstola, 2021

The Graduate School of Health & Welfare Science Okayama Prefectural University

Abstract

Introduction: Adolescence is an important formative phase of life during which many behavioral patterns are initiated and established, providing a valuable base for a positive, productive, successful and healthy adult life. Personal characteristics and a range of environmental factors make adolescents vulnerable to risky behaviors, which can lead to various negative consequences for health and overall aspects of life. Adolescents in the South East Asia Region (SEAR) have the highest prevalence of tobacco use, the second highest birth rate, and the highest suicide rate in the world (8.7 per 100,000). Recently, the World Health Organization conducted a global school-based student health survey in the SEAR, and its 2017 report revealed the prevalence of various problems among Nepalese adolescents, providing the first national level study of risky behavior among Nepalese adolescents. The survey indicated that a significant proportion of the adolescent population use substances, are sexually active, and have the highest prevalence of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts among the SEAR countries. Biological and environmental factors function together, and several social contexts, including family, peers, and school, influence adolescent development. Although self-esteem, perceived social support (PSS), and social capital (SC) are important concepts affecting adolescents' risky behavior, few studies have examined this issue in developing countries, and none have been conducted in Nepal.

Objectives: The first objective of this study was to identify the roles of self-esteem, three sources of PSS (family, friends, and significant others), and SC (family, school, and neighborhood) in adolescents' substance-use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior. In addition, parents can play an important role in enhancing protective factors and preventing adolescents from exhibiting risky behaviors. However, parenting and suicidal risk behavior have been minimally studied, with a small number of previous studies on self-esteem and parenting producing variable results. To the best of our knowledge, no previous studies in Nepal have examined parenting and mental health outcomes among adolescents (i.e., self-esteem and suicidal behavior). Therefore, the second objective of this study was to assess the association between parents' knowledge of adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting (practice and style), and to examine the effects of parenting on adolescents' self-esteem and suicidal behavior.

Methods: The Cross-sectional study was conducted among 13–19-year-old Nepalese adolescents studying in classes 9–11 (n = 943) and either of their parent (n=575). A multistage cluster random sampling technique was used to select participants from eight higher secondary schools (four private and four public) in three provinces of Nepal. Data were collected with self-administered questionnaires and the response rate from adolescents and parents was 92% and 63% respectively. Data was analyzed

in SPSS version 26 with descriptive and inferential statistics (bivariate and multivariate linear and logistic regression analysis) at <0.05 level of significance and 95% confidence interval.

Results: Adolescents with higher levels of support from family and higher family SC were less likely to use substances. Adolescents with higher self-esteem, higher levels of support from family and friends, and higher family and school SC were significantly less likely to exhibit suicidal behavior. However, self-esteem was positively associated with sexual behavior, and peers had a consistent positive influence on substance use and sexual behavior. Although self-esteem was found to be a strong protective factor against suicidal behavior, 29.8% Nepalese adolescents were found to have low self-esteem. The linear and logistic regression analysis of cross-sectional data from pairs of adolescents and either of their parents revealed significant positive associations between scores reflecting parents' knowledge about self-esteem in adolescents and scores reflecting their parenting practice (communication, support, and positive-reinforcement), and authoritative parenting. Importantly, authoritative parenting was positively associated with adolescents' selfesteem. In contrast, adolescents with authoritarian parents were prone to suicidal risk. Homemaker mothers and parents from Province 5 were more likely to be authoritative, whereas parents from low SES families were less likely to be authoritative.

Conclusion: The current study expanded our understanding of how self-esteem and different sources of PSS and SC influence different risky behaviors, indicating that some previously observed associations were the consequences of unmeasured confounding by controlling for several contextual factors, such as demographics, SES, family, school, and peer relationships. In addition, parental knowledge was found to have beneficial effects on parenting, suggesting that parents can contribute to adolescents' self-esteem through authoritative parenting, and that suicide can be prevented by reducing authoritarian parenting.

Implications: These findings might have important practical and educational implications for health workers, including school/community health nurses, teachers, families, communities and others who work in adolescent health and development. Interventions such as assessment of self-esteem, counseling for peer selection, and raising awareness of risky behavior can be performed at the adolescent and school-peer levels. Focusing on PSS and SC at school and in the family, and monitoring peer influence among adolescents, are also important. On the basis of the current findings, knowledge-based interventions, parenting training, and counseling of parents should be undertaken. Overall, this is the first study of its kind in Nepal, and the current findings have important implications for positively impacting Nepalese adolescent development.

Contents

Chapter I, Introduction	5
1. Possible factors that affect risk behaviors in adolescents	5
2. Adolescents' self-esteem and parents	8
3. Research goals	1
Chapter II, Self-esteem, Perceived Social Support, Social Capital, and Risk-	
behavior among Urban High School Adolescents in Nepal	3
1. Literature Review and Objectives	3
1.1 Literature Review	3
1.1.1 Prevalence of Risk Behavior in Adolescents	3
Substance Use	3
Suicidal Behavior14	4
Sexual Behavior14	4
1.1.2 Self-esteem	5
1.1.3 Social Support16	6
1.1.4 Social Capital17	7
1.2 General Objective of the Study18	8
1.3 Specific Objectives of the Study18	8
1.4 Hypothesis of the Study	9
1.5 Operational Definitions of the Variables	9
1.6 Significance of the Study	0
1.7 Theoretical underpinnings/Theoretical framework of this study21	1
2. Research Methodology22	2
2.1 Research Design	2
2.2 Research Setting and Population	2
2.3 Sampling and Participants	3
2.4 Instrument	4
2.5 Data Collection Procedure and Ethical Considerations	5
2.6 Data Analysis Procedure	7
3. Results	8
4. Discussion and Conclusion	3
4.1 Prevalence of Risk Behavior	3
4.2 Substance use	4
4.3 Suicidal behavior	5
4.4 Sexual behavior	5
4.5 Conclusion	7
Chapter III, Impact of Parents' Knowledge about the Development of Self-Esteem	
in Adolescents and Their Parenting Practice on the Self-Esteem and Suicidal	
Behavior	8

1. Literature Review and Objectives	.38
1.1 Literature Review	.38
1.1.1 Parenting and Self-esteem of Adolescents	.38
1.1.2 Parenting and Suicidal Behavior of Adolescents	.39
1.2 General Objective of the study	.40
1.3 Specific Objectives of the study	.40
1.4 Hypothesis of the Study	.40
2. Research Methodology	.40
2.1 Research Design	40
2.2 Research Setting and Population	40
2.3 Sampling and Participants	41
2.4 Instrument	41
2.5 Data Collection Procedure	44
2.6 Data Analysis Procedure	45
3. Results	.46
4. Discussion and Conclusion	52
4.1 Self-esteem and Suicidal Behavior	52
4.2 Association between Parents' Knowledge, and Parenting practice and	l
style	52
4.3 Association of Parenting Practice and style with Self-esteem of	
adolescents	53
4.4 Association of Parenting with Adolescents' Suicidal Behavior	56
4.5 Conclusion	58
Chapter IV, Final Conclusion, Limitation, and Implication	59
1. Conclusion	59
2. Limitation	59
3. Implication	60
Supplementary Tables	61
Acknowledgements	68
References	69
Letters and Consent Forms	83
Questionnaire for adolescents	.90
Questionnaire for parents	95

Chapter I, Introduction

1. Possible Factors that Affect Risk Behaviors in Adolescents

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the World Health Organization (WHO) have focused on the preventable but most prevalent global problems of substance-use, sexual behavior, and suicide-related behavior, among others, as risk-behaviors for adolescents, mostly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) that might be vulnerable to longer lasting effects on health and social functioning (Kann et al., 2018; CDC, 2018; WHO, 2017, 2018, 2018a). According to the WHO, at least 1 in 10 adolescents 13–15 years of age uses tobacco, 11% of all births worldwide are due to teenage pregnancy, i.e. 46 births/1000 to girls in the 15-19 years age range mostly in LMICs (WHO, 2018b; Pan American Health Organization [PAHO], 2018). Suicide is the third most common cause of morbidity and disability among adolescents worldwide, and the majority (90%) of adolescent deaths by suicide have occurred in the LMICs (WHO, 2019). In the South East Asia Region (SEAR) suicide is the leading cause of youth and adolescents' death with high cause specific mortality (WHO, 2017a, 2020). Most notably, almost half of the adolescents' deaths due to self-harm worldwide took place in the LMICs of SEAR because SEAR has world's highest rate of adolescents' self-harm (WHO, 2017a).

A recent survey among teens aged 13–17 years old in SEAR projected that Nepal had the highest frequency of suicidal ideation (14%), a behavior that is the greatest risk for committing suicide, and high number of suicide attempts (10%) amongst the nations of SEAR (WHO, 2017). The survey also showed that 10% of students in Nepal used substances. Furthermore, 17% of adolescents aged 15–19 years were already mothers or pregnant, and one in five women gave birth by age 18 years, 21% adolescents ever had sexual intercourse, and men initiated sexual activity 1.2 years before marriage at age 20 (Aryal et al., 2017; Ministry of Health and Population [MoHP], 2017).

Establishing healthy behaviors during childhood and adolescence is more effective and easier than trying to change behavior in adulthood (Aryal et al., 2017). Promoting health and behavior of young persons is also important to the success of the 2030 agenda for Sustainable Development (World Bank, 2019). Despite rising aspirations, very little has been done in the area of youth development in Nepal (Ministry of Population and Environment [MoPE], 2017). Though we have become aware of the extent of this problem only recently, to the best of our knowledge, there is no study in Nepal that focused on possible preventive factors for these risk behaviors.

An adolescent's behavior is determined not only by individual traits but is also influenced by multiple factors within a social context (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime: UNODC, 2018; Jessor, 2014; WHO, 2014; Spear, 2013; Currie et al., 2009). Furthermore, the adolescent's brain is sensitive to social influence, and whether they have a positive or negative perception from relationships with family, caregivers, and peers influences their behavior and the outcome (Schriber & Guyer, 2016; Nguyen, 2015; Steinberg, 2005, 2008; Smith et al., 2013, Li et al., 2017). Selfesteem, perceived social support (PSS), and social capital (SC) are the important concepts related to adolescents' psychological and social environmental system, that might affect adolescents' risk behavior, however, there is scarcity of study in developing countries in this topic. Rosenberg (1965) defines self-esteem as an individual's overall evaluation of self; if one has more positive feelings or considers oneself as worthy, self-esteem will be higher. A study based on Problem Behavior Theory identified low self-esteem as one of the risk factors for substance-use (Karaman, 2013), and several studies have generated an understanding that, low selfesteem leads to concurrent and future negative outcomes. For example, adolescents with low self-esteem are at risk for depression at present and in their adulthood (Jayanthi, 2014; Masselink et al., 2018; Orth et al., 2008), delinquency and academic problems (Rosenberg, 1989), and long-term unemployment, poor health, economic problems and criminal behavior in adulthood (Trzesniewski et al., 2006). Similarly, studies have also demonstrated that adolescents with low self-esteem were at risk of suicide (Kleiman & Riskind, 2013; Huang et al., 2017; Sharaf, 2009), substance use (Handren et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2018; Karaman, 2013), and risky sexual behaviors (Enejoh et al., 2016; Kerpelman et al., 2016). However, there remains a lack of data on the association of self-esteem with those risk-behaviors along with other sociocontextual factors in Nepal.

On the other hand, studies based on ecological theory showed social support from family and teachers had a protective effect on adolescent risk behaviors, although a mixed influence from neighbors and other adults, was revealed (Sharaf et al., 2009; Kleiman & Riskind, 2013; Kang et al., 2017; Reininger et al., 2012). Another concept, social capital (SC), a theory established in sociology by renowned theorists, promoted the importance of social features (family, neighborhood, school, and similar human organizations), individual networks, relationships, norms, cohesion, and trust (Kawachi & Berkman, 2000; Tzanakis, 2013). Studies in different parts of the world have indicated that SC can impact health behaviors and developmental trajectories, and are associated with better mental health and educational outcome in adolescents (Kawachi & Berkman, 2001; Rothon et al., 2012), however, this concept is least used in understanding adolescents' risk behaviors and almost not used in developing countries, therefore, studies in different sociocultural and economic contexts are needed because the influence of SC might be different in different contexts (Kaljee & Chen, 2011; McPherson et al., 2013). Nepalese surveys demonstrated differences in the prevalence of substance use and suicidal behavior by some demographic, parental occupation, and peer factors (Kabir & Goh, 2014; Karki et al., 2016; Thapa et al., 2017). Therefore, three different sources of SC and perceived social support (PSS) was evaluated in this study to determine their association with three risk behaviors of adolescents in diverse ethnic, cultural, religious, and socioeconomic contexts.

Furthermore in the context of Nepal, a study on health and social vulnerability of adolescents showed that Nepalese adolescents were vulnerable to various issues like child marriage, school dropout (mainly due to poverty, conflict, substance use), lack of health services, and psychosocial problems (Adhikari et al., 2016). Although Nepal has made impressive progress in life expectancy, maternal and child health, and reduction of infectious diseases including HIV and TB during the last two decades, a promotive and preventive focus on adolescent health and behavior is still far from being achieved. Many youth mental health problems seem to be hidden and under-assessed because adolescents have traditionally been ignored by public sector programs and budgets (UNICEF, 2019; MoPE, 2017; MoHP, 2015). Therefore, studies need to be conducted in different contexts to make preventive interventions more specific and effective (WHO, 2020a, 2020b).

2. Adolescents' Self-esteem and Parents

Adolescence is a unique developmental period of life marked by the transition from childhood to adulthood in which adolescents have to adjust to various changes and challenges, and this might make adolescents prone to various psychosocial problems (Collins & Steinberg, 2008; Harter, 2008; Lerner & Steinberg, 2009; Potts & Mandleco, 2011; WHO, 2020b). Good psychosocial health in adolescence includes having a positive sense of identity and self-worth (WHO, 2017a). In this regard, selfesteem is an important aspect of mental health and it is believed to be one of the predictive factors for the psychological well-being of adolescents in their unique period of identity development (Rosenberg et al., 1995; Akdemir et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2015; Du et al., 2017). Therefore, healthy development with higher self-esteem during childhood and adolescence would lead to healthy and productive adulthood.

Nepal is a country in SEAR, with low income, overall literacy rate of 67%, and agriculture as the major occupation. Almost 24% of its total population are adolescents of 10–19 years old (Central Bureau of Statistics, 2014), and a previous study found that a significant number of Nepalese adolescents (24%) have low selfesteem (Lamichhane, 2015). Parents can contribute on development or enhancement of adolescents' self-esteem because parenting does matter, and parents can have an influence on their children, both by genetic makeup and by the way they treat their children (Maccoby, 2000; Bornstein, 2002; Donath et al., 2014), but to our knowledge, there has been no study in Nepal that tried to identify how parents can enhance this important protective factor in their adolescent children.

How an adolescent perceives him or herself is presumably based on his/her interaction with others and the interpretation of others, and the starting point of this process is the relationship between the mother/parents and child, followed by peer and other social relationships (Collins & Steinberg, 2008; Harter, 2008; Lerner & Steinberg, 2009; Cooley, 1998; Mead, 1934). Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory also emphasized the influence of multiple environmental factors on the adolescent's development, and further placed emphasis on the importance of parents and family through the bioecological model of human development (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 1986, 2007). Therefore, in keeping with these theoretical perspectives, it seems plausible that parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in

adolescents, their everyday practice and their parenting style are related to the selfesteem and suicidal behavior of their adolescent children.

The emotional climate in which parents raise their children is known as their parenting style (Darling & Steinberg, 1993). Baumrind identified three parenting styles, i.e., authoritarian, authoritative, and permissive/indulgent (Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Dwairy, 2004; Hoff et al., 2002; Hussain et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 1995; DeVore & Ginsburg, 2005; Shyny, 2017). Authoritative parenting is characterized by warmth, consistency and discipline in mutuality, understanding and support, whereas authoritarian parenting is marked by high control and discipline with punishment, and permissive/indulgent parenting is characterized by very low control and demands, but high degrees of freedom and acceptance (Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Hussain et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 1995; DeVore & Ginsburg, 2005; Shyny, 2017; Alonso-Stuyck, 2019). Past studies revealed the beneficial effect of perceived authoritative parenting on academics (DeVore & Ginsburg, 2005; Aunola et al., 2000; Areepattamannil, 2010; Steinberg et al., 1992), the prevention of some risk behaviors such as adolescent smoking, drinking and marijuana use (Supple & Small, 2006; Piko & Balázs, 2012; Glozah, 2014; Zuquetto et al., 2019; Valente et al., 2020), and increased level of hope in adolescents (Heaven & Ciarroch, 2008). However, there have not been many studies on the effect of parenting on the mental health of their children.

Although a few studies considered self-esteem, the results of the studies were varied; for example, unlike the findings of studies in the US (Milevsky et al., 2007; McClure et al., 2010), Ghana (Glozah, 2014) and Iran (Alami et al., 2014), a study in Brazil (Martínez et al., 2007) reported that permissive parenting, rather than authoritative parenting, had an optimal effect on the self-esteem of Brazilian adolescents. Furthermore, there was no difference in the effect of these two parenting styles in a study conducted in India (Sharma & Pandey, 2015). Therefore, the effect of parenting may be dependent on the culture, socioeconomic status and gender, rather than being universal, and may not be able to be generalized to all parts of the world. Furthermore, there have been few studies related to parenting and adolescent suicidal risk behavior. Amongst the few studies, authoritarian parenting was associated with increased suicidal ideation among Jamaican adolescents (Smith & Moore, 2013), and

father's authoritarian style was associated with increased suicidal behavior among Lithuanian adolescents (Zaborskis et al., 2016); however, authoritarian parenting was not significantly associated with suicidal attempt among German adolescents (Donath et al., 2014). Regarding a possible protective effect, a study in the United States indicated that authoritative parenting might prevent suicide attempts because parenting characterized by both high support and boundaries was associated with a reduced number of suicide attempts, and authoritative parenting was found to be more effective in preventing suicide through self-esteem because self-esteem mediated this relationship (Cero & Sifers, 2013). However, it is unclear whether these findings from other cultural background are generalizable to the Nepalese context.

Moreover, parenting is a complex concept that includes not only the creation of an emotional climate but also many specific behaviors and characteristics of everyday practice. Although parenting practice and parenting style have been used in studies interchangeably, inclusion of both the parenting practice specific to the outcome of interest and parenting style in studies helps in gaining a better understanding (Steinberg et al., 1992; Spera, 2005). Parents' practices are a mechanism that directly helps their children attain their specific socialization goal. For example, a parent might be involved with his/her child in assisting with homework, reading with the child at home, etc., so that the child will get good grades in school, while parenting style is the characteristics of parenting or attitude that has an indirect influence on his/her child (Steinberg et al., 1992; Darling & Steinberg, 1993). Therefore, it was important to include in the present study items such as communication, positive reinforcement, and support, as the overall measure of parenting practice related to the adolescent's mental development, and more specifically the adolescent's self-esteem, along with the three parenting typologies (authoritarian, authoritative, and indulgent) to study their associations with the adolescent's self-esteem and suicidal risk behavior. Thus, the findings will be novel. Similarly, most past studies were based on adolescents' report of their parents' practice; however, the parents' report of their own practice might be different (Martínez et al., 2007; Kerr et al., 2012; Hoskins, 2014). Therefore, information generated by parental report of their own parenting will further add to the extant literature. Moreover, a family's socioeconomic status (SES) is associated with the parents' goals and values of socialization that they want to teach their children.

Parents vary in expectations, and parents may show different behaviors or create a different environment depending on their SES (Bornstein, 2002; Hoff et al., 2002; Anli & Karsli, 2010). This demonstrates the need to include SES while examining the effect of parenting on adolescent outcome. A previous study in Jamaica also recommended this (Smith & Moore, 2013). On the other hand, most studies have been conducted in Western developed nations. Hence, this study in Nepal fills the context, methods and knowledge gaps in existing literature, i.e., the findings from a developing country of SEAR helped to add an understanding on the impact of parenting on adolescents' outcome of self-esteem and suicidal behavior in a setting/context which is different than that of western nations or the nations of other regions. Furthermore, on the methodological approach, the study included the questionnaire on both the parenting practice and style, and the study has tried to confirm the effect of parenting, that is either the parents' report will have the same or a different effect on adolescents' outcome as those reported by previous studies because most of the past studies were based on adolescents' report. It is also believed that the present study has added in the sparsely explored phenomena, i.e., suicidal behavior of adolescents in relation to their parents. Moreover, to add new knowledge, this study has also explored the relationship between parent's knowledge on an adolescent's self-esteem and their practice, and to our best knowledge, that has been not yet explored in previous studies. Ultimately, this is the first study in Nepal that has applied the concept of parenting to elucidate the impact on adolescents' mental health outcomes, i.e., self-esteem and suicidal behavior.

3. Research goals

In this background and interest on mental health, behavior and development of adolescents in developing country context, I have conducted this study in Nepal, the first in this topic, to identify the roles of self-esteem, three sources of PSS from family, friends, and significant others, and three sources of SC in family, school, and neighborhood in understanding the adolescents' risk behavior. Furthermore, if some previously observed associations were the consequences of unmeasured confounding, this study would add clarity by controlling for variables such as demographics, SES, and family, school and peer relationships. Top of this, the study also clarifies that which sources of support and SC has important preventive association against adolescents' risk behaviors. In addition, second aim was to identify the impact of parents' knowledge on adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting (practice and style) on self-esteem and suicidal-behavior of adolescents. It was intended to find out the answers on three research questions. First, does parents' knowledge of self-esteem in adolescents have a relationship with their parenting? Secondly, what are the effects of parent's knowledge, their parenting practice and style on the self-esteem of their adolescent children? Third, what is the effect of parenting on suicidal risk behavior in adolescents? Finally, the main goal is to obtain important findings which can be implied to contribute to the mental health of Nepalese adolescents through intervention at the adolescents, parents' and family level. It was expected that study findings will provide the areas that need to be focused on in parental counseling or planning interventions by health workers, school and community health nurses, counselors and others who are involved or interested in the area of adolescent development in Nepal.

Chapter II, Self-esteem, Perceived Social Support, Social Capital, and Risk-behavior among Urban High School Adolescents in Nepal 1. LITERATURE REVIEW AND OBJECTIVES

1.1 Literature Review

Various published articles, reports, thesis etc. related to adolescents' development, their risk behaviors and the association of these behaviors with several individual and social contextual factors was reviewed as the base of this study as well as to identify the areas that needed to be filled by this study. Therefore, this literature review section explains about the prevalence of three risk behaviors in adolescents i.e., substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior in global, regional level and in Nepal. Similarly, the summary of the review on the findings from past studies on the role of adolescents' self-esteem, perceived social support and social capital at different level has also been presented in this section.

1.1.1 Prevalence of Risk Behavior among Adolescents Substance use

Tobacco (smoking or smoke less), alcohol, marijuana and other types of drugs such as cannabis, opioids etc. are known as substances. Tobacco, alcohol and marijuana are the most common, however, psychoactive drugs are also in increasing trend (UNESCO, 2017; United Nations [UN], 2020). Overall prevalence of any type of tobacco use among adolescent is 12% and prevalence of alcohol is 26.5% worldwide and SEAR has the highest number of adolescent tobacco user i.e., 34% of the global total (WHO, 2019a; WHO, 2018c).

Substance use by adolescents in South East Asia Region and Nepal

The global school-based student health survey (GSHS) by WHO (2017a) among the countries of SEAR showed that the prevalence of any substance use was 10% in Nepal, Bangladesh and Sri Lanka, and highest 36% in Bhutan. The pooled prevalence of current cigarette smoking across nine countries (excluding India which has estimates only for 13–15-year-old) was 9.7%, Nepal had 5.9% and highest in Bhutan 24.6%. Similarly, the pooled estimate across the nine countries for current use of any tobacco product was 11.7%, highest 29.3% in Bhutan, and it was found at 8% in Nepal. Moreover, alcohol use also varied highly across countries ranging from 1.6% in Bangladesh to 23% in Thailand and 24.2% in Bhutan. The pooled estimate

across the 10 countries was 7.1%. Furthermore, current drug use was also found highest in Bhutan (12%), it was reported as 2.6% for Nepalese adolescents and the least in Indonesia (1%). The pooled estimate across the 10 countries was 2.5%. There was significant gender difference, male students were significantly more likely to substance use (cigarette smoking, tobacco use, alcohol use or marijuana) than girls across all the countries with few exceptions (WHO, 2017; WHO, 2018d).

Suicidal behavior

Suicide is the third leading cause of adolescent death globally. Adolescents of 10-19 years old in SEAR has the highest rate of self-harm in the world i.e., 8.7 per 100,000. Suicide is second leading cause of adolescents' death in SEAR, although in high income countries also, suicide is second cause for adolescent's death but the rate is 4.1 per 100,000. Though Suicide is the leading cause for adolescent's death in European LMICs, the rate is 7.6 per 100,000 which is less than the SEAR. In American Region LMICs suicide is 3rd cause with the rate of 4.8, and 4th cause with the rate of 2.2 per 100,000 in Western Pacific LMICS. Furthermore, in modified WHO regions, self-harm is amongst the top five causes of adolescent disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) in the two regions i.e., LMICs of Europe and SEAR and not in all other regions (High Income Countries, African LMICs, Eastern Mediterranean LMICs and Western Pacific LMICs) (WHO, 2017a, 2019). *Suicidal behavior of adolescents in Nepal*

Suicidal behavior refers to a range of behavior that include thinking about suicide (or ideation), planning for suicide, attempting suicide and suicide itself (WHO, 2014a). We already discussed that the adolescents of 15-19 years of age in SEAR has the highest rate of self-harm than any other regions (WHO, 2017a). The GSHS by WHO (2017) found the percentage of 13–17-year-old students who reported that they seriously considered attempting suicide in the last 12 months varied from 4.9% in Bangladesh to 13.7% in Nepal. The pooled 12-month prevalence of suicide ideation across nine countries (excluding India) was 6.8%. Nepalese adolescents have highest suicidal ideations amongst the nations of SEAR.

Sexual Behavior

Adolescence is a time for sexual exploration and expression, thought to be influenced by rapid pubertal changes and hormonal surge. For many adolescents, sexual intercourse begins in adolescence, in or outside of marriage. Early sexual initiation with unprotected intercourse can lead to unplanned pregnancies and sexually transmitted infections including HIV (WHO, 2018; UN, 2020a). At least 10 million unintended pregnancies occur each year among adolescent girls aged 15–19 years in the developing world. Of the estimated 5.6 million abortions that occur each year among adolescent girls aged 15–19 years, and 3.9 million are unsafe. Complications during pregnancy and childbirth are the leading cause of death for 15–19-year-old girls globally (Darroch et al., 2016; WHO, 2020c).

Sexual behavior in SEAR and Nepal

According to WHO (2018d) adolescent birth rate (ABR) in SEAR countries ranges of highest 113 per 1000 to girls aged 15-19 years in Bangladesh and second highest 71 per 1000 in Nepal, and the least in DPR Korea 0.7 per 1000. But Nepal Demographic and Health Survey (NDHS) in 2016 has found ABR is 56.3/1,000, still it is higher than global rate (MoHP, 2017). The NDHS also identified that, 25% of male and 1% of female of 15-24 years of age has premarital sexual intercourse. The first GSHS in Nepal among adolescent students (13-17 years) revealed that almost 21% of adolescents had sexual intercourse, among those 66.9% had sexual intercourse before age of 14 years, and only 57.4% of adolescent students used condom during their last sexual intercourse (Aryal et al., 2017). A cross-sectional survey in Kathmandu among the college students (of which 35.8% participants were 15-19 years age group from grade 11 and 12) showed that, despite the religious and cultural restrictions, prevalence of premarital sexual intercourse and risky sexual behavior are not uncommon in Nepal, and 39% reported that they have had premarital sex. About two-thirds of the respondents who had experienced premarital sex had sex before the age of 19, and seven percent reported that they had sexual intercourse before the age of 15 (Adhikari & Tamang, 2009).

1.1.2 Self-esteem

Self-esteem is the component of personality system that influence the individual's perception of self, values and decision (Jessor, 2014; Rosenberg, 1965). Adolescence is the time when a person intensely ask himself, "Who am I?" that is the basis of personal identity. The two aspects of identity are self-concept and self-esteem. Self-esteem refers to how people feel about themselves, and self-esteem remains

fluctuating during adolescence (McNeely & Blanchard, 2010; Rosenberg, 1965). Since decades many scholars were working and publishing on this topic, but less on understanding adolescent risk behaviors and there is paucity of studies in low-income countries. Notably, no study on relationship between self-esteem and adolescent's risk behavior in Nepal.

Among the studies in American adolescents showed that self-esteem was negatively associated with substance use (Chen et al., 2018; Zamboanga et al., 2009), those with higher self-esteem had increased perception of risk and reduced drinking behavior (Handren et al., 2016), and Slovakian study found the negative association with cannabis use but when this association was adjusted for demographic and SES, self-esteem remained only significant with smoking behavior of boys (Veselska et al., 2009). Similarly, studies among Australian, Chinese, Mexican and Taiwanese adolescents showed the protective association of self-esteem with suicidal behavior (Sharaf et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2005). It can be said that it could be similar to Nepalese adolescents, however, the findings from own cultural setting would be most reliable and applicable. Secondly, we could further extend past understanding by examining the association adjusted for factors related to family, school and peers not only the demographic and SES related factors. Moreover, there is variabilities in the reported association of self-esteem with adolescent sexual behavior in past studies, for example, some showed the negative association (Kerpelman et al., 2016), while other showed weak negative association (McAtee, 2012) or no association (Kalina et al., 2009). In this context researcher would like to add an understanding in Nepalese cultural context.

1.1.3 Social Support

Social support is the assistance available for an individual from the people of his social relationships that could be from family members to relatives, neighbors, school teachers, peers or from others. Social support is broad term, which could be physical, material or emotional support, and it could be in the form of offered or perceived or the received support (House et al., 1988; Kleiman & Riskind, 2012). Perceived social support refers to the individual's perception of availability of needed support and the satisfaction with that support (Haber et al., 2007; Zimet et al., 1988). The emotional support has the most important role on mental health, positivity and wellbeing (Çevik & Yildiz, 2017; Moreira et al., 2014; Potts & Mandleco, 2011). Therefore, PSS might have important role on adolescent's development.

Literature related to sexual behavior and PSS are very scarce, though Çakar and Tagay (2017) and Ndugwa et al. (2011) showed the association of PSS with combinations of adolescent's risk behavior among which sexual behavior was one. There are only few studies available which took account of PSS and suicidal behavior (Kang et al., 2017; Sharaf et al., 2009), although comparatively little more work has been done on substance use (Bendtsen, 2013; Brassai, 2011; Nguyen, 2015; Reininger et al., 2012). However, it is needed to examine in Nepalese context, second, it is elusive that either those associations were controlled for contextual factors. It was also realized that the examination of relation between the support from different sources with different risk behavior specifically could provide us clear understanding about from which sources of support could have better preventive role over others. Hence, this study has specified the different sources of support and examined each of their role on risk behaviors.

1.1.4 Social Capital

Social capital has been defined as the cooperative and trustworthy relationship between people. Physical capital refers to physical objects, whereas human capital is properties of individuals, and social capital refers to connections among individuals that creates social networks, the norms of reciprocity and trustworthiness, and entail mutual obligation and responsibility for action. The common consensus of all the social capitalists (theorists/scholars) is that the level of interpersonal trust, reciprocity, norms, cohesion and mutual aid which act as resources or the property that is accessed through and inherent in social relation within a social structure (Coleman, 1988; Putnam, 2000; Kawachi & Berkman, 2000; Tzanakis, 2013; Ferguson, 2006). The SC at different levels co-occurs among the adolescents i.e., within the context of family, school and peers (Ahlborg et al., 2019).

Although, for last 20 years the concept of SC dragged the attentions of scholars beyond social science to the field of health and epidemiology, and studies were started to proliferate, resulting in ample researches related to SC and adult health outcomes but still there are a few on adolescents, almost scarce in developing countries, and the concept remains underutilized for understanding adolescents and

youth engagement in risk behaviors (De Silva et al., 2005; Lundborg, 2005; Moore & Kawachi, 2017; Takakura, 2011, 2014; Kaljee & Chen, 2011; McPherson et al., 2014; McPherson et al., 2013). Though there were studies in west or developed nations on SC and substance use especially smoking and alcohol use (Åslund & Nilsson, 2013; Magson et al., 2016; Takakura, 2011; Jorge et al., 2018), there is lack of studies on association of SC and suicidal behavior (Langille et al., 2012) and sexual behavior (Crosby et al., 2003). The lack of comprehensive valid scale to measure different sources of SC for the studies on adolescents was felt. More noticeably, to specify the SC at different level and its role on different risk behavior of adolescents controlled for various factors related to social context was needed which could bring strong evidence and could add on clear understanding. The study from developing country context can further add in our understanding on the role of different sources of SC on different risk behaviors.

1.2 General Objective of the Study

The overall objective of the study was to identify the risk behaviors and the role of self-esteem, perceived social support (from family, friends and significant others) and social capital (at family, school and neighborhood) on risk behaviors of urban high school adolescents of Nepal.

1.3 Specific Objectives of the Study

To assess the risk behaviors of adolescents (substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior),

To assess the level of self-esteem, PSS and SC of the adolescents.

To find out the association of self-esteem with risk behaviors of adolescents adjusting for all the covariates (demographic, SES, family, and school related contextual factors).

To identify the association of PSS (from family, friends and significant others) with risk behaviors of adolescents adjusting for all the covariates (demographic, SES, family, and school related contextual factors).

To elucidate the association between SC (at family, school and neighborhood) and risk behaviors of adolescents adjusting for all the covariates (demographic, SES, family, and school related contextual factors).

1.4 Hypothesis of the Study

There is significant effect of self-esteem on risk behaviours.

There is significant association between PSS (from family, friends and significant others) and risk behaviours.

There is significant effect of SC (family, school and neighborhood) on risk behaviors.



Fig.1: Hypothesis model for the analysis of relationships between independent and dependent variables of the study

1.5 Operational Definitions of the Variables

Adolescent: In this study adolescents are the students of class nine to eleven at the age between 13-19 years.

Socio-demographic factors: Age, sex, ethnicity, religion, area of residence, family type etc. are the socio-demographic factors in this study.

Socioeconomic status (SES): It is measured in terms of parents' education level, occupation, and economic status as perceived and reported by adolescents.

Social Contextual factors: In this study the context related to adolescents' everyday life that is family, school, and peers were considered as social context, and the factors related to these contexts as below were the socio-contextual factors for this study.

Family factors: Family conflict and violence, perceived love and bonding with parents, physical abuse, verbal/emotional abuse at home, access to internet, perceived parental control/monitoring, and family members' use of substances.

School related factors: Type of school, academic performance (result of last annual examination), parental expectations in academics of adolescents, peer pressure for risk behavior, friends' involvement in risk-behaviors, appreciation by teachers, teacher-student relationship, how teacher behave at school, and school rules. **Self-esteem**: Self-esteem was assessed through the score on Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) which ranges between 0-30. Score below 15 was considered as low self-esteem based on the available literatures (Abraham, 2010; García et al., 2019; Lamichhane, 2015; McGee & Williams, 2000; Shanmugam & Kathyayini, 2017).

Perceived social support: In this study perceived social support means the perception of the adolescent that there is someone whom they can share joy and sorrow, there are persons who provide emotional support, listen when adolescents are in problem and help to solve them. Perceived social support was measured with Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support scale (MSPSS) developed by Zimet et al. (1988), which is a brief research tool designed to measure perceptions of support from 3 sources: family, friends, and significant others. The scale comprised of a total of 12 items in 7-point likert scale, with 4 items for each subscale. On the basis of total score, level of perceived social support was determined i.e., 1-2.9: low, 3-5: medium and 5.1-7: high support.

Social Capital: In this study, three forms of SC were measured i.e., family SC was measured with 6 items in three-point likert scale with the total score of 18. School and neighborhood SC were measured by 12 items (7 for school and 5 for neighborhood) on a four-point Likert scale. The total score for school SC was 28 and for neighborhood SC was 20.

Risk Behaviour: In this study risk behavior was defined as involvement of adolescents in three behaviors namely substance use (tobacco, alcohol, marijuana and drugs), suicidal activity (ideation, plan and attempt) and sexual activity (watching sexually explicit materials and sexual intercourse) and that was measured with questions based on the CDC Youth Risk-Behavior Survey and WHO survey questionnaire for adolescents' risk-behavior in South Asia, including Nepalese adolescents (CDC, 2017; WHO, 2017).

1.6 Significance of the Study

The study has yielded information on adolescents' risk behaviors and the preventive role of self-esteem, different sources of perceived social support and social capital. These findings might have useful practical and educational implication for health workers including school/community health nurses, teachers, families, communities & others working in the area of adolescent health, behavior, and positive

development. The researcher hoped that the study findings will help to develop the preventive intervention at adolescent, family and school level. It may also be useful for sensitizing parents as well as policy makers in planning child and adolescent related intervention. The findings obtained will also contribute to add in scant literature in understanding the adolescents' risk behaviors in the context of Nepal. Further it will be helpful for the students, researchers and the all who are interested in this area.

1.7 Theoretical underpinnings/Theoretical framework of this study

An ecological perspective was adopted as the theoretical base for this study i.e., Urie Bronfenbrenner (1979) ecological system theory, and WHO (2014) ecological model on determinants of adolescent's health and development. Researchers have described the models through which the ecological concept can be applied for the studies (e.g., McLeroy et al., 1988; Stokols, 1992; DiClemente et al., 2005; Reininger et al., 2012 etc.). Ecological theory discusses that an individual remains at the center surrounded by several nested environmental systems that is one after another interrelating with each other. The main concept of the theory is human growth and development is influenced and shaped by a number of environmental factors: the microsystem, the mesosystem, the exosystem, the macrosystem and later the chronosystem. These contexts/systems exert influences either gross or few on the core/center i.e., to the individual. The individual who remains at the center is the adolescent in this study. By applying this theoretical concept, study is intended to identify the influence of own personal factors and from the different contextual factors for risk behaviors of adolescents. The adolescents' personality factors, his perception of his environment that is through his daily interaction, such as self-esteem, perception of support, and availability of cognitive social capital to him are concerned in this study and the association of these factors to the adolescents' outcome of substance use, suicidal behavior or sexual behavior are studied. Microsystem is the immediate environment of child/adolescent which comprises of family/parents, peers and school that are most closely linked to the adolescent and mostly come into contact in everyday life. Mesosystems is described as the system within which microsystems function and mesosystem is also known as connection or the relationship among entities involved e.g., interaction with and in-between parents, teacher, neighborhood etc. The exosystem consist of influence at the community level, that include social institutions which affect adolescent's indirectly i.e., mass media, community resources etc. The macro system is related to broader cultural values, laws and government resources. These beliefs, values or rules are the reference or guide within which the micro and meso system operate for e.g., cultural belief about smoking, drinking or teenage sexual activity etc. The chronosystem refers to the experiences of an individual over time and the influences of the environment or setting in which a person lives throughout their developmental process. Hence, the adolescents' three risk behaviors (substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior) are the outcome of influence is concerned in this study (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 1986; Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2007; Ryan, 2001).



Fig. 2: Theoretical framework based on Bronfenbrenner's ecological system theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979).

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

2.1 Research Design

The cross-sectional analytical study design was used in this study.

2.2 Research Setting and Population

The study was conducted in Nepal, located in South East Asia, with a geographical area 147,181 square kilometers. The country has total population of 28.4 million people, of which almost 24% are adolescents. Although Nepal is a multi-ethnic, multi-lingual, multi-religion, and multi-cultural country, Nepali is the main language, and 81% of people follow the Hindu religion. According to the World Bank

income group, it is a country with low income, overall literacy rate of 67%, and agriculture as the major occupation (Central Bureau of Statistics, 2014). Geographically the country is divided into three regions, running east to west. They are the Mountain, the Hill and the Terai (Plains). For administrative purpose, after recent changes approved by Nepal's Constituent Assembly in September 2015, Nepal is divided into seven provinces, each of which is sub-divided into districts with urban and rural areas/municipalities. The adolescents from high schools of urban areas were the population for this study.



Fig. 3: Map of Nepal (Government of Nepal, Ministry of Land Management, Cooperatives and Poverty Alleviation, 2018)

2.3 Sampling and Participants

Multistage cluster random sampling technique was used to obtain the representative participants for the study. At first, three provinces from the total of seven were selected for this study: Province number 3, which included Kathmandu, the capital or main city of Nepal; Province number 4, which included the Kaski district and Pokhara that represented other middle urban areas; and Province number 5, which included the Palpa district i.e., Tansen municipality which represented the smaller countryside urban areas of Nepal. We selected urban areas because of the higher prevalence of risk behaviors among adolescents in urban areas (Karki et al., 2016; Adhikari et.al., 2016; MoHP, 2012) and the possible impact of urbanization on risk behaviors (Kabir and Goh, 2014; UN, 2020). According to the Ministry of Education (2017), the total number of higher secondary schools in Provinces 3, 4, and 5 was 978, 561, and 532, respectively. Hence, 3 schools (2 government and 1 private) from

Kathmandu, 3 schools (1 government and 2 private) from Pokhara, and 2 schools (1 government and 1 private) from Palpa were selected. Classes 9-11 of those schools were the final clusters, and adolescents aged 13-19 years (who were available and willing to participate) were the participants in this study. To get equal representation of participants from three grades, lottery was done to select the classes and sections of those schools according to the number of students in one class/section. Although at initial 1070 adolescents participated in the study (response rate, 92%), considering the completeness of the questionnaire, 943 were included in the final analysis. Therefore, the final sample size or the number of participants of this study was 943.



'Fig. 4: Participant Selection Flow

2.4 Instrument

Structured self-administered questionnaire was used for data collection which consisted of questions as below.

Sociodemographic and socioeconomic status (SES) related information consisted of questions on age, sex, religion, ethnicity, education level, family type, parental marital status, parent's education and occupation, and economic status as perceived by the adolescents; these questions were developed by reference to past studies (Lamichhane, 2015; Karki et al., 2016; Banstola, 2017; Aryal et al., 2017; WHO, 2017).

Social context (information related to family and school including teachers and peers). Family factors included family conflict and violence, perceived love and bonding with parents, access to mass media, perceived parental control/monitoring, and family members' use of substances. School factors included type of school, academic performance (result of last annual examination), peer pressure, friends' involvement in risk-behavior, appreciation by teachers, teacher-student relationship, how teacher behave, and school rules.

Social capital at three sources i.e., family, school and neighborhood. For this study, questions related to cognitive social capital at these three levels were used. Family SC was measured by 6 items on a 3-point scale (satisfaction, trust, and cohesion at the family level), which was developed after thorough review of available literature (McPherson et al., 2013; Rothon et al., 2012; Magson et al., 2016; Raymond-Flesch et al., 2017). Forward and backward translation of the tool was confirmed with language experts and then a pretest of the tool was conducted before execution for final data collection. After the pretest, questions were modified to make them clearer and easier to answer. Reliability was tested with Cronbach alpha, and the convergent and discriminant validities of the family SC were studied by confirmatory factor analysis using average variance extracted and maximum shared variance (Hair et al., 2010). School and neighborhood SC were measured by 12 items (7 for school and 5 for neighborhood) on a 4-point Likert scale that was previously utilized (Takakura et al., 2014; Paiva et al., 2014). Cronbach's alpha of the Nepali version of the tool was 0.87 in total, 0.68 for family SC, 0.86 for school SC, and 0.89 for neighborhood SC in the present study. Principal component analysis and confirmatory factor analysis demonstrated validity of the tools.

The multidimensional scale of perceived social support (MSPSS) (Zimet et al., 1988) was used to measure PSS from 3 sources: family, friends, and significant others. The scale was comprised of 12 items, scored on a 7-point scale that ranged from 1 (very strongly disagree) to 7 (very strongly agree), and resulted in a total PSS score of 12-84. The total PSS score was divided by 12 to convert it into a score of 1-7. This tool showed high reliability ($\alpha = 0.93$, 0.88, 0.88, and 0.84, respectively, for

total, family, friends, and significant others) in the present study. Inter-item correlation was good, and principal component analysis showed the good factor loadings for which they were intended. This tool was already translated in Nepali and previous studies among Nepalese adolescents also reported good internal validity and the reliability (Tonsing, 2012; Lamichhane, 2015; Banstola, 2017).

The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) was used to measure self-esteem levels of adolescents. This 10-item self-report measure consisted of 5 positivelyworded and 5 negatively-worded items answered on a 4-point scale that ranged from 'strongly agree' (score: 3) to 'strongly disagree' (score: 0), with a total score that ranged from 0-30. A higher score indicated higher self-esteem. The data showed reliability of $\alpha = 0.75$. Nepali version of this scale showed good practicability and high internal reliability when used with Nepalese adolescents ($\alpha = 0.80$) (Lamichhane, 2015).

Risk-behavior (substance-use, suicidal behavior, and sexual behavior) of adolescents was measured with questions based on the CDC Youth Risk-Behavior Survey and a survey questionnaire for adolescents' risk-behavior in South Asia, including Nepalese adolescents (CDC, 2017; WHO, 2017; Aryal et al., 2017). For substance-use, participants were asked if they had ever used tobacco, alcohol, marijuana, or drugs, and if the response was yes, then how many times had they used the substance in the past 30 days. For suicidal behavior, they were asked about suicidal thoughts, plans, or attempts in the previous 12 months, and for sexual behavior, they were asked if they had watched sexually explicit materials/pornography and ever had sexual contact. Those who responded yes to any of these questions were coded as 1, and those who responded no were coded as 0.

2.5 Data Collection Procedure and Ethical Considerations

Data collection was done from the students in their respective classrooms through self-administered questionnaire and it took around 30 minutes to complete the questionnaire by the adolescents. Before the collection of data, the researcher explained the purpose of the study and assent was obtained from the adolescents. Consent form was sent with adolescents to obtain consent from their parents/guardian. The participation in the study was fully voluntary and the respondents were given full authority to withdraw their participation at any time during the investigation. Anonymity was maintained by asking students not to write their names in the questionnaire. Students were ensured that their identity will not be disclosed to anyone as they did not have to write their names in the questionnaire. They were ensured that the information will be used for research purpose only. Precautions was taken throughout the study in every step to safeguard the right and welfare of all respondents. Ethical approval from Ethical Review Board, Okayama Prefectural University (26 October, 2018, ref. 18-47) and formal permission from concerned school authorities in Nepal was obtained for this study (76/075, 80/075, 231/075, 269/075).



Fig. 5: Data Collection Flow

2.6 Data Analysis Procedure

Data were analyzed with SPSS version 26.0 (IBM, Tokyo). Descriptive statistics (frequency, percentage, mean, and standard error) were used to describe the characteristics, and inferential statistics (bivariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis) were used at <0.05 significance level. Odds ratio (OR) was calculated with a 95% confidence interval (CI). A crude odds ratio (COR) was used to find bivariate association, and an adjusted odds ratio (AOR) was calculated to find any association of independent variables, adjustment for possible confounder variables such as demographics, SES (parents' education, occupation, and economic status as perceived by adolescents), family factors (conflict, violence, love-bonding with parents, substance-use by family members, control/supervision by parents), and school-related factors (type of school, peer pressure, friends involvement in risk-behavior, academic

performance, parental expectation in academics, teacher-student relationship, appreciation by teacher, how teachers behave, school rules/monitoring).

3. RESULTS

A total of 1070 adolescents were willing to participate, of which 943 adolescents provided complete responses and were therefore included in the final analysis (Table 1). The mean age of the respondents was 15.82 years, and the number of female participants was higher (51.7%). A higher percentage of males were involved in substance-use (25.1%) and sexual behavior (22.2%), but suicidal behavior was higher in females (11.9%). Adolescents who belonged to religions other than Hindu had higher rates of suicidal and sexual behavior (16.5% and 20.3%, respectively). Substance-use was higher for adolescents from Kathmandu (23.0%), and suicidal and sexual behaviors were higher in adolescents from Pokhara (12.5% and 20.8%, respectively).

The effect of parents' occupations was also significant, as seen by lower rates of risk-behaviors in adolescents whose mothers were homemakers (stay at home), and by less substance-use and suicidal behavior in those whose fathers were employed (Table 2). Regarding family type, 56.1% of adolescents were from single families and 43.9% were from joint families. Substance-use was higher (21.7%) for those in joint families. Adolescents in private schools had a higher prevalence of all three risk behaviors.

The mean scores for independent variables were: self-esteem, 16.51; PSS from family, friends, and others, 23.0, 21.39, and 20.35, respectively; and SC at family, school, and neighbor, 15.89, 20.81, and 14.67, respectively (Table 3). The prevalence of substance-use among adolescents was 18.9% and included alcohol (10.9%), tobacco (smoking, 8.3%; smokeless, 5.6%), marijuana (3.9%), and drugs (1.0%). The prevalence of suicidal behavior was 9.8% (thoughts, 7.8%; plan, 4.3%; attempt, 2.5%). Regarding inappropriate sexual behavior, 11.3% of adolescents watched sexually explicit material/pornography, and 2.4% had sexual contact.

Variables	Total No. (%)	Substance-Use		Р	Suicida	l Behavior	P	Sexual Behavior		Р
		No	Yes		No	Yes		No	Yes	
Age (Mean \pm Standard Deviation 15.82 \pm 1.31)										
13–15 Years	388 (41.1)	311 (80.4)	76 (19.6)	0.627	344 (88.9)	43 (11.1)	0.249	342 (88.4)	45 (11.6)	0.244
16–19 Years	555 (58.9)	453 (81.6)	102 (18.4)		505 (91.2)	49 (8.8)		476 (85.8)	79 (14.2)	
Sex										
Male	455 (48.3)	341 (74.9)	114 (25.1)	< 0.000*	420 (92.5)	34 (7.5)	0.023*	353 (77.8)	101 (22.2)	<0.000*
Female	488 (51.7)	423 (86.9)	64 (13.1)		429 (88.1)	58 (11.9)		465 (95.3)	23 (4.7)	
Ethnicity										
Brahmin/Chhetri	333 (35.3)	267 (80.4)	65 (19.6)	0.440	297 (89.7)	34 (0.3)	0.875	281 (84.4)	52 (15.6)	0.254
Janajati	505 (53.6)	407 (80.6)	98 (19.4)		456 (90.3)	49 (9.7)		445 (88.3)	59 (11.7)	
Others (Dalit, Muslim etc.)	105 (11.1)	90 (85.7)	15 (14.3)		96 (91.4)	9 (8.6)		92 (87.6)	13 (12.4)	
Religion										
Hindu	815 (86.4)	666 (81.8)	148 (18.2)	0.158	743 (91.3)	71 (8.7)	0.006 *	716 (88.0)	98 (12.0)	0.010*
Others	128 (13.6)	98 (76.6)	30 (23.4)		106 (83.5)	21 (16.5)		102 (79.7)	26 (20.3)	
School District										
Kathmandu	336 (35.6)	258 (77.0)	77 (23.0)	0.004*	303 (90.4)	32 (9.6)	0.035*	301 (89.6)	35 (10.4)	<0.000*
Kaski	361 (38.3)	290 (80.3)	71 (19.7)		316 (87.5)	45 (12.5)		286 (79.2)	75 (20.8)	
Palpa	246 (26.1)	216 (87.8)	30 (12.2)		230 (93.9)	15 (6.1)		231 (94.3)	14 (5.7)	
Type of family										
Single	529 (56.1)	440 (83.3)	88 (16.7)	0.048*	476 (90.3)	51 (9.7)	0.908	454 (86.0)	74 (14.0)	0.383
Joint	414 (43.9)	324 (78.3)	90 (21.7)		373 (90.1)	41 (9.9)		364 (87.9)	50 (12.1)	
Type of school										
Government/Public	562 (59.6)	474 (84.5)	87 (15.5)	0.001*	521 (92.9)	40 (7.1)	0.001*	501 (89.1)	61 (10.9)	0.011*
Private	381 (40.4)	290 (76.1)	91 (23.9)		328 (86.3)	52 (13.7)		317 (83.4)	63 (16.6)	

Table 1. Descriptive information on adolescents' sociodemographic characteristics and risk behavior (n = 943).

Total No. Total Number; Numbers in the parentheses indicate percentage; *significant P value < 0.05 on chi-square test.

Variables	Total	Substance-	Use	P	Suicidal Behav	ior	P	Sexual Behavio)r	Р
	No. (%)	No	Yes		No	Yes		No	Yes	
Socio-economic-status										
Hardly-sufficient	66 (7.0)	60 (90.9)	6 (9.1)	0.082	59 (89.4)	7 (10.6)	0.861	61 (92.4)	5 (7.6)	0.205
Sufficient	557 (59.1)	451 (81.1)	105 (18.9)		499 (89.9)	56 (10.1)		476 (85.5)	81 (14.5)	
Surplus	320 (33.9)	253 (79.1)	67 (20.9)		291 (90.9)	29 (9.1)		281 (88.1)	38 (11.9)	
Father's Education										
Illiterate	44 (4.7)	42 (95.5)	2 (4.5)	0.044*	41 (93.2)	3 (6.8)	0.656	42 (95.5)	2 (4.5)	0.223
Literate	757 (80.3)	607 (80.3)	149 (19.7)		683 (90.3)	73 (9.7)		654 (86.4)	103 (13.6)	
Don't know	142 (15.1)	115 (81.0)	27 (19.0)		125 (88.7)	16 (11.3)		122 (86.5)	19 (13.5)	
Mother's Education										
Illiterate	105 (11.1)	85 (81.7)	19 (18.3)	0.511	97 (92.4)	8 (7.6)	0.301	93 (88.6)	12 (11.4)	0.852
Literate	700 (74.2)	572 (81.7)	128 (18.3)		633 (90.6)	66 (9.4)		606 (86.6)	94 (13.4)	
Don't know	138 (14.6)	107 (77.5)	31 (22.5)		119 (86.9)	18 (13.1)		119 (86.9)	18 (13.1)	
Mother's Occupation										
Other	519 (55.0)	406 (78.4)	112 (21.6)	0.018*	456 (88.0)	62 (12.0)	0.012*	439 (84.6)	80 (15.4)	0.024*
Home maker	424 (45.0)	358 (84.4)	66 (15.6)		393 (92.9)	30 (7.1)		379 (89.6)	44 (10.4)	
Father's Occupation										
Not employed	68 (7.2)	47 (69.1)	21 (30.9)	0.009*	55 (80.9)	13 (19.1)	0.007*	56 (82.4)	12 (17.6)	0.250
Employed	871 (92.8)	713 (82.0)	157 (18.0)		791 (91.0)	78 (9.0)		759 (87.2)	111 (12.8)	

Table 2. Descriptive information on socioeconomic status and risk behavior of adolescents (n = 943).

Total No. Total Number; Numbers in the parentheses indicate percentage; *significant P value < 0.05 on chi-square test.

Variables	Total	Substance-Use#		P Value	Suicidal B	ehavior#	Р	Sexual	Р	
	No. (%)	No	Yes		No	Yes	-	No	Yes	
Self-esteem (Mean ± SE 16.51 =	± 0.12)									
Low	281 (29.8)	208 (74.0)	73 (26.0)	<0.000*	236 (84.3)	44 (15.7)	<0.000*	244 (86.8)	37 (13.2)	0.998
High	662 (70.2)	556 (84.1)	105 (15.9)		613 (92.7)	48 (7.3)		574 (86.8)	87 (13.2)	
PSS from family (Mean \pm SE 2	3.0 ± 0.17)									
Low and Medium	185 (19.6)	120 (65.2)	64 (34.8)	<0.000*	146 (79.3)	38 (20.7)	<0.000*	147 (79.5)	38 (20.5)	<0.001*
High	758 (80.4)	644 (85.0)	114 (15.0)		703 (92.9)	54 (7.1)		671 (88.6)	86 (11.4)	
PSS from friends (Mean \pm SE 2	21.39 ± 0.18)									
Low and Medium	259 (27.5)	188 (72.9)	70 (27.1)	<0.000*	214 (82.9)	44 (17.1)	<0.000*	206 (79.5)	53 (20.5)	<0.000*
High	684 (72.5)	576 (84.2)	108 (15.8)		635 (93.0)	48 (7.0)		612 (89.6)	71 (10.4)	
PSS from significant others (M	fean \pm SE 20.35 \pm	= 0.20)								
Low and Medium	333 (35.3)	259 (78.0)	73 (22.0)	0.074	288 (86.7)	44 (13.3)	0.008*	278 (83.5)	55 (16.5)	0.024*
High	610 (64.7)	505 (82.8)	105 (17.2)		561 (92.1)	48 (7.9)		540 (88.7)	69 (11.3)	
Family SC (Mean \pm SE 15.89 \pm	0.06)									
Low	12 (1.3)	5 (41.7)	7 (58.3)	<0.000*	9 (75.0)	3 (25.0)	0.189	8 (66.7)	4 (33.3)	0.100
High	929 (98.7)	757 (81.6)	171 (18.4)		839 (90.5)	88 (9.5)		808 (87.1)	120 (12.9)	
School SC (Mean \pm SE 20.81 \pm	0.12)									
Low	60 (6.4)	44 (73.3)	16 (26.7)	0.113	51 (85.0)	9 (15.0)	0.160	45 (75.0)	15 (25.0)	0.005*
High	882 (93.6)	719 (81.6)	162 (18.4)		797 (90.6)	83 (9.4)		772 (87.6)	109 (12.4)	
Neighbor SC (Mean ± SE 14.67	7 ± 0.09)									
Low	91 (9.7)	65 (71.4)	26 (28.6)	0.013*	81 (89.0)	10 (11.0)	0.682	76 (83.5)	15 (16.5)	0.324
High	852 (90.3)	699 (82.1)	152 (17.9)		768 (90.4)	82 (9.6)		742 (87.2)	109 (12.8)	

Table 3. Prevalence of risk behavior with self-esteem, perceived social support, and social capital (n = 943).

Total No. Total Number; Numbers in the parentheses indicate percentage; *significant *P* value < 0.05 on chi-square test.; # multiple response. Abbreviations: PSS, perceived social support; SC, social capital. #Substance-use: 178 (18.9%), alcohol 103 (10.9%), smoking tobacco 78 (8.3%), smokeless tobacco 53 (5.6%), marijuana 37 (3.9%), and drug use 9 (1.0%).

[#]Suicidal behavior: 92 (9.8%), suicidal thought 74 (7.8%), plan 41 (4.3%), attempted 24(2.5%).

[#]Sexual behavior: 124 (13.2%), watch pornography/sexually explicit materials 107 (11.3%), sexual contact 23 (2.4%).

Table 4. Odds ratios and confidence intervals for the effect of self-esteem, three sources of social support, and three sources of social capital on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents, controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family, and school factors (n = 943).

	Substance Use							Suicidal Behavior						Sexual behavior					
	Crude Model		Adjusted Model		Crude Model			Adjusted Model			Crude Model			A	Adjusted Model				
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	
Independent variables																			
Self esteem	0.93	0.89	0.97	0.95	0.90	1.00	0.85	0.80	0.91	0.90	0.83	0.96	1.02	0.97	1.08	1.11	1.04	1.19	
PSS from family	0.93	0.90	0.95	0.95	0.91	0.98	0.92	0.89	0.95	0.95	0.91	0.99	0.95	0.92	0.97	0.98	0.93	1.03	
PSS from friends	0.94	0.92	0.97	0.97	0.94	1.00	0.93	0.90	0.96	0.96	0.92	0.99	0.94	0.91	0.96	0.96	0.92	1.00	
PSS from other significant persons	0.97	0.94	0.99	1.00	0.96	1.03	0.96	0.93	0.99	0.97	0.93	1.01	0.96	0.94	0.99	0.99	0.95	1.03	
Family social capital	0.82	0.76	0.88	0.83	0.75	0.93	0.78	0.72	0.86	0.80	0.70	0.92	0.88	0.81	0.96	0.87	0.75	1.01	
School social capital	0.93	0.89	0.97	1.00	0.94	1.05	0.87	0.83	0.92	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.91	0.87	0.95	0.98	0.91	1.04	
Neighborhood social	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.96	0.90	1.03	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.97	0.89	1.06	0.97	0.91	1.03	1.01	0.92	1.10	

OR: odds ratio, CI: confidence interval, LCI: lower confidence interval, UCI: upper confidence interval, SES: socioeconomic status, PSS: perceived social support. Crude models show ORs and CIs between each independent variable and three types of dependent variables.

We demonstrated the relationships between each independent variable of self-esteem, PSS, or SC, and each dependent variable, i.e., risk behavior of substance use, suicidal behavior, sexual behavior (Table 4). Multivariate analysis controlled for all covariates revealed that adolescents with higher support from family and higher family SC benefited from a significant protective effect against substance use. Similarly, adolescents with high self-esteem, higher support from family and friends, and higher family and school SC were significantly less likely to demonstrate suicidal behavior. However, adolescents with high self-esteem were more likely to exhibit sexual behavior, while none of the adolescents with PSS and SC showed any association with sexual behavior. All results of the adjusted models including the OR and CI values are presented in supplementary tables 1-7.

4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Adolescent risk-behavior is an important health and social issue globally, and Nepal is no exception. Some studies have tried to indicate prevalence for different risk-behaviors, but a knowledge gap about what are the actual protective factors still remains. Therefore, this study was an attempt to assess the effect of important but rarely explored factors like self-esteem, PSS, and SC on substance-use, suicidal behavior, and sexual behavior by specifying different sources and controlling for all other demographic, SES, family, peer, and school related factors, because even lower prevalence risk-behaviors have very high adverse impacts on not only the adolescents involved but also their families, society, and the nation (UNODC, 2018; CDC, 2018). 4.1 Prevalence of Risk Behavior

Regarding substance use, a similar prevalence of tobacco and marijuana use has been reported by other studies, but either lower or higher rates of alcohol and other intoxicant use have been reported (WHO, 2017; Kabir & Goh, 2014; Karki et al., 2016). A study in the eastern part of Nepal found that smoking was higher among adolescents of private schools, as was the case in our study, but that difference was not statistically significant (Pradhan et al., 2013). Our study found a lower prevalence of suicidal behavior than that reported by other studies in Nepal (WHO, 2017; Thapa et al., 2017); however, the WHO study included only adolescents who were 13–17 years of age and the other study was conducted in eastern Nepal among adolescents 12–16 years of age. Nepal adolescents and youth survey 2010/11 reported that sexual intercourse among adolescents was 13.27% for ages 10–14 years and 60.64% for ages 15-19 years (MoHP, 2012), and first GSHS survey recently conducted in Nepal showed that almost 21% of school adolescents 13-17 years of age had sexual intercourse (Aryal et al., 2017). Those percentages are higher than the present findings, and the difference might be because adolescents from both urban and rural areas were included in both studies, although the 2011 report was a household survey of those in school and out of school and therefore might have included more married adolescents in the households. Similar to our findings, a study in Hong Kong reported that 10% of adolescents consumed pornographic materials, and that internet pornography was the most common medium (Shek & Ma, 2012). There was variation across countries

in the reported sexual behavior of adolescents (Lodz et al., 2019; Enejoh et al., 2016; Reininger et al., 2012).

The mean self-esteem score in our study was similar to findings from previous studies (Lamichhane, 2015; Maharjan, 2008). The mean scores for school and neighbor SC in our study were less than that reported among Japanese adolescents measured with the same scale (Takakura et al., 2014). It seems that adolescents' responses to available SC might differ between geographic areas with unique social contexts.

4.2 Substance use

Our multivariate-analysis proved that adolescents with high PSS and SC from family were less vulnerable to substance-use, but the association between self-esteem and substance use was confounded by other factors, i.e., the father's education, occupation and income, friend's substance use, and strongest of all, peer pressure. Although past international studies showed negative associations between self-esteem and substance use including alcohol and marijuana, the role of self-esteem was weakened by the peer-related confounding factors (Handren et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2018; Veselska et al., 2009; Kim, 2011; Karaman, 2013). Peer factors are especially concerning during adolescence because this is the period when more time is spent with friends and most of the time is spent in school or outside the family. Consequently, simply the enhancement of self-esteem is not sufficient. Our study also revealed a negative association between PSS and substance-use and confirmed that family PSS was the strongest and most consistent source of PSS.

When SC was taken into account, an association with substance use was demonstrated by several studies (Curran, 2007; Wen, 2017; Magson et al., 2016). An Indian study also showed significant associations with family factors like parent-child relationship and communication (Chhabra & Sodhi, 2012). However, evidence from those studies was not sufficient to determine the association between SC and substance-use in the context of Nepal, and if SC is strongly influenced by other factors that are known to be associated with these substance-use behaviors, it is now clear from this study that adolescents with high family SC are less likely to use substances. Furthermore, past studies showed an association between neighbor SC and substance use (Jorge et al., 2018; Åslund & Nilsson, 2013). In this context, the present study

provided insight that other factors such as SES, peers etc. have a greater effect on such an association. Moreover, although past studies from developed nations showed the role of community or neighbors, the relationship or the perception and availability of neighbor SC might be different in different parts of the world. Therefore, our findings suggest that if family can provide and create higher support, and SC, adolescents might be deterred from substance-use.

4.3 Suicidal behavior

This study indicated the role of self-esteem, PSS (from family and friends), and SC (family and school) in protecting adolescents from suicidal behavior. We found that higher self-esteem makes adolescents less prone to suicidal behavior, and this effect of self-esteem has also been demonstrated in previous studies that included South Asian countries (Sharaf et al., 2009; Kleiman & Riskind, 2013; Huang et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2018; Chatard et al., 2009). Therefore, we conclude that self-esteem is a strong protector of adolescents against suicidal behavior.

The consistent protective effect of family and friends observed in this study and in studies from other countries supports the present finding that adolescents with high PSS from family were less likely to exhibit suicidal behavior (Kang et al., 2017; Springer et al., 2006; Randall et al., 2014). Similarly, Jamaican adolescents who had protective factors in the home were at less risk of suicide, however, there was no association with protective factors outside the home (Abel et al., 2012). This again suggests that family factors, especially having parents in the home, play an important protective role. Furthermore, previous studies determined that suicidal behavior was exhibited less by adolescents with high support from friends (Dema et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2018; Kleiman & Riskind, 2013). Based on these findings, adolescents should first be helped to enhance and maintain their self-esteem level. Additionally, family and friends need to support adolescents in such a way that they can perceive that adequate support is available.

Studies from South Korea and Canada observed a predictive effect of SC on suicidal behavior in adolescents (Bae, 2019; Langille et al., 2012). The first study was related to communication and getting help from family and friends, and the second study focused mostly on interaction with others in society, religious beliefs, and trust and reciprocity at school. The present study revealed that adolescents with high SC at
family and school were at less risk for suicide, and provided evidence that family and school SC were more important than the neighborhood in prevention of suicidal behavior in adolescents. Furthermore, the association with family SC was stronger than with school SC. There is need for future studies to focus more on different types and levels of SC in different types and areas of communities to broaden these findings. 4.4 Sexual behavior

Our focus was on self-esteem, PSS, and SC as protective mechanisms against inappropriate sexual behaviors among adolescents in Nepal. Our findings were similar to those from past studies, but one difference was that we observed a positive association between self-esteem and sexual behavior. In contrast, a previous study showed no association between self-esteem and sexual behavior (Kalina et al., 2009), and our findings were also contradicted by results from studies in Nigerian (Enejoh et al., 2016), Turkish (Karaman, 2013), American (Kerpelman et al., 2016), and Korean adolescents (Kim, 2011), which identified low self-esteem as the risk factor. Our finding of an association between higher self-esteem and inappropriate sexual behavior suggests that the role of self-esteem varies in different contexts. A possible explanation could be that adolescents with higher self-esteem are confident, take pride in themselves, and can make decisions (Rosenberg, 1965). Therefore, besides the positive effects, higher self-esteem may sometimes lead to risks in adolescents, who are exploratory, vulnerable, and in a transitional period of life (WHO, 2014, 2014a, 2018b; Learner & Steinberg, 2009). Our findings showed the double-edged sword effect of self-esteem on risk behavior, i.e., it has a negative effect on suicide behavior and substance use, but a positive effect on sexual behavior. Adolescents' self-esteem should be assessed; those with low self-esteem should be helped with their ability to prevent risk behavior, most importantly suicidal risk, while those with high selfesteem should be monitored and prevented from engaging in inappropriate sexual behavior. Considering the scarcity of evidence from past studies, our finding is novel and could be considered for future studies to explore this discrepancy, which might be due to differences in country contexts.

In the present study, a protective effect of PSS from parents against sexual risk-behavior was found in Salvadoran adolescents and boys from Mexico, and a

protective effect of PSS from parents and friends was observed in adolescents from Turkey (Springer et al., 2006; Reininger et al., 2012; Çakar & Tagay, 2017).

Regarding SC studies in developed countries including the US, Australia, and Europe reported that family and peer support, school environment, relationships and communication between student and teacher, and family and neighborhood SC were important factors for preventing risk-behavior, including sexual risk-behavior (Crosby et al., 2003; Magson et al., 2016; Currie et al., 2009). Indian study found that more sexual activity was associated with family factors like parent-child relationship and communication (Chhabra & Sodhi, 2012), which are the elements considered as family SC in the present study. However, we found that the overall effect of SC was influenced by the peer factor. Although past findings have suggested that family and school SC serve as control mechanisms for sexual behavior, we would add that peer influence weakens those mechanisms and should therefore be considered as a factor for promoting healthy sexuality among developing adolescents.

4.5 Conclusion

Self-esteem, PSS from family and friends, and SC at the family and school levels were protective against suicidal behavior; PSS from family and SC at the family level were negatively associated with adolescent substance use, however, none of these variables showed a protective effect for sexual behavior. In contrast, self-esteem was positively associated with sexual behavior. Although self-esteem was found to be protective for all risk behaviors in past studies, we found other contextual factors influenced the association between self-esteem and risk behaviors, especially influence by peers. Therefore, prevention of peer influence should be emphasized. Similarly, the role of community or neighbor might vary in different contexts. In conclusion, protective and risk factors identified in this study should be considered for preventive interventions at the family and school levels to ensure a better and safer transition into adulthood by preventing risk behaviors.

Chapter III, Impact of Parents' Knowledge about the Development of Self-Esteem in Adolescents and Their Parenting Practice on the Self-Esteem and Suicidal Behavior

In the context of highest suicidal ideation and higher suicidal plan and attempts of Nepalese adolescents amongst the nations of SEAR, the study 1 has found that, higher self-esteem is a strong protective factor against suicidal risk behavior of adolescents. However, a significant number of Nepalese adolescents (29.8%) have low self-esteem. Parents are the important resource and strongest source of influence for their children (Potts & Mandleco, 2011; Laursen & Collins, 2009; Baumrind & Thompson, 2002; Grusec, 2002). The parent child relation is the strongest of all human relation (Lerner et al., 2013; Bornstein, 2002), therefore, parents may contribute to the enhancement of self-esteem, prevention of suicides in adolescents and overall positive development. The health workers including nurses, psychologists can assess the level of adolescents' self-esteem, their suicidal ideation or plans, also can plan for counseling, positive parenting trainings and knowledge interventions to the parents on how to create or generate the protective factors for their adolescents. However, the parenting and suicidal behavior is least studied and notably, to the best of our knowledge there is no study in Nepal on parenting and mental health outcomes of adolescents i.e., self-esteem and suicidal behavior, and therefore, there was need to find out the exact area to be emphasized on parental counseling and intervention program in Nepalese context. In the given significance, study 2 is explained below, which was intended to find out the relationship between parents' knowledge of adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting, and the effect of parenting on self-esteem and suicidal behavior of adolescents as well.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW AND OBJECTIVES

1.1 Literature Review

Literature review explains about the brief summary on the findings from past studies on parenting and adolescents' self-esteem and suicidal behavior as below.

1.1.1 Parenting and Self-esteem of Adolescents

Past studies have showed that parental involvement helps in the development of competence and successful social interactions in children (Parke & Buriel, 2008), parental closeness and attachment make children and adolescents happy and competent (Cummings & Cummings, 2002). Self-esteem is somehow related to the confidence, competence, feeling happy and worthy, and in this sense parental practices such as involvement, closeness, attachment etc. may have implications, but there is scarce of the study that comprehensively measured the parental practices specific to the development of self-esteem and its relation to adolescents' self-esteem level. On the other side, although some studies showed the relationship between adolescents self-esteem and parental support (McGee et al., 2000; Supple & Small, 2006; Sharaf et al., 2009), parental involvement (Akdemir et al., 2016; Handren et al., 2016) and good relation (Van De Bongardt et al., 2015; Smokowski et al., 2015), the understanding will be widen if several items included together in a study such as support, relation, communication, participation and involvement, and reinforcement etc. to see the effect on self-esteem of adolescents.

Regarding parenting style and self-esteem, there are some studies from US that showed authoritative parenting is beneficial (Heaven & Ciarrochi, 2008; McClure, et al., 2011; Milevsky et al., 2007), but another had contradicted (Supple & Small, 2006). Just a very few studies were available in other countries, and the findings were inconsistent to findings from the cultural context of US (Sharma & Pandey, 2015; Martínez et al., 2007). In this status, findings from these cited studies may not be implied as it is in Nepalese context. Therefore, considering these facts the study was needed on impact of parenting on Nepalese adolescents' self-esteem level. And it is also worthwhile including both the parenting style and parenting practice specifically related to adolescent's mental health and self-esteem.

1.1.2 Parenting and Suicidal Behavior of Adolescents

Review of the literatures suggested the fact that very rare study on adolescent's suicidal behavior and parenting have been done. The few available studies are almost from developed nations of west and not at all in the context of Nepal. For example, the five articles available to the researchers and four from developed nations such as, US, Germany, Czech, Lithuania (Cero & Shifers, 2013; Donath et al., 2014; Burešová et al., 2015; Zaborskis et al., 2016) and only one from the developing nation i.e., Jamaica (Smith & Moore, 2013). More importantly, the findings from these studies may not confirm the understanding and application in Nepalese context. Hence, the understanding of impact of parenting in Nepalese context will lead the better way towards positive mental health which includes promotion of self-esteem and prevention of suicide risk in adolescents.

1.2 General Objective of the study

To find out the impact of parenting on adolescents' self-esteem and suicidal behavior

1.3 Specific Objectives of the study

To identify the association between parents' knowledge on adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting practice and parenting style

To assess the association of parents' knowledge about adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting with self-esteem of adolescents

To find out the association between parenting and suicidal risk behavior of adolescents.

1.4 Hypothesis of the Study

Parents knowledge on adolescents' self-esteem has positive association on their parenting.

Parents knowledge on adolescents' self-esteem, parenting practice and style has significant association with self-esteem of adolescents.

Parenting has significant association with suicidal behavior of adolescents



Fig. 6: Hypothesis model for analysis of relationship between independent and dependent variables of the study

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

2.1 Research Design

The cross-sectional study design was adopted in this study.

2.2 Research Setting and Population

The study was conducted in Nepal. The study setting was the higher secondary schools of urban area of Nepal. The adolescent students (13 to 19 years old studying in classes nine to elven), and their parents (either father or mother) were the study population for this study.

2.3 Sampling and Participants

A multistage cluster sampling technique was used. Three provinces from the total of 7 provinces of the country were selected for this study: Province number 3 that included Kathmandu, the capital city of Nepal; Province number 4, which included the Kaski district and Pokhara that represented other middle urban areas; and Province number 5, which included the Palpa district and represented the smaller countryside urban areas of Nepal. According to the Ministry of Education (2017), the total number of higher secondary schools in Provinces 3, 4, and 5 was 978, 561, and 532, respectively. Hence, 3 schools (2 government and 1 private) from Kathmandu, 3 schools (1 government and 2 private) from Pokhara, and 2 schools (1 government and 1 private) from Palpa were selected. Classes 9-11 of those schools were the final clusters, and adolescents aged 13-19 years and their parents (who were available and willing to participate) were the participants in this study.



Fig. 7: Participant Selection Flow

2.4 Instrument

Two self-administered questionnaires (one for adolescents and one for their parents) were used in this study. Questionnaire for adolescents included the three parts as below.

Questions about socio-demographic variables

This included questions about personal information such as age, sex, education level, type of school, school district etc.

Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale

The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) was used to measure self-esteem levels of adolescents. This 10-item self-report measure consisted of 5 positivelyworded and 5 negatively-worded items answered on a 4-point scale that ranged from 'strongly agree' (score: 3) to 'strongly disagree' (score: 0), with a total score that ranged from 0-30. A higher score indicates higher self-esteem.

Questions related to suicidal behavior

Questions were based on the CDC Youth Risk-Behavior Survey and a survey questionnaire for adolescents' risk-behavior in South Asia, including Nepalese adolescents (CDC, 2017; Aryal et al., 2017; WHO, 2017). Adolescents were asked three questions about suicidal thoughts, plans, or attempts in the previous 12 months, and the response for each item was dichotomized as yes or no, and coded as 1 for those who responded yes and 0 for no.

Questionnaire for parents included three parts as below.

Questions related to socio-demographic information, included questions about personal information such as age, sex, religion, ethnicity; education level, occupation, socio-economic status, marital status and type of family etc.

Questions related to knowledge on self-esteem, included 12 items in fourpoint likert scale, the score for each item ranged from 1 to 4 and the total score ranged from 12 to 48).

Questions related to parenting practice, was measured with 21 items in fourpoint scale the score for each item ranged from 1 to 4 with a total score ranging from 21 to 84. The items on parenting practice asked about positive reinforcement, open/honest communication, support, etc. (with items such as: usually sit together and maintain open communication with their child; try to be realistic and honest with their child; attend school events and meet schoolteachers; try to make the child feel proud by praising; family has talks and mealtimes together; try to make the child feel that his/her parents are there to help, etc.). Questions related to parenting style, included total of 13 items which measured three types of parenting styles, namely, authoritarian, authoritative and indulgent rated on a five-point Likert scale, with the score on each item ranging from 1 to 5. There were 4 items on authoritarian parenting as strict parents (e.g., whenever my child shows disobedience, I scold and criticize him/her with bursting anger; I have little patience to tolerate any disobedience and have clear expectations); 5 items on authoritative parenting as democratic parents (e.g., I have set some appropriate rules for him/her and give friendly corrections whenever necessary; My child talks with me out of being punished after he/she has done something wrong); and 4 items on Indulgent parenting as laissez-faire parents or freedom-giving parents (e.g., I always threaten my child but do not actually punish him/her; My child is quite free and I do not have any demands or control). The range of total scores on the sections of the four-item authoritarian parenting, five-item authoritative parenting, and four-item indulgent parenting was 4–20, 5–25 and 4–20, respectively.

Validity and reliability of the Instrument

Questionnaire was generated on the basis of available literatures and the opinion from the experts was obtained. We had developed the questionnaire items regarding the parent's knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents based on the following literatures: (Collins & Steinberg, 2008; Harter, 2008; Lerner & Steinberg, 2009; Potts & Mandleco, 2011; Rosenberg et al., 1995; Rosenberg, 1965; Cooley, 1998; Mead, 1934; Jessor, 2014); we had developed the items on parenting practice related to self-esteem based on the following literatures: (Rosenberg et al., 1995; Rosenberg, 1965; Bornstein, 2002; Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Smith & Moore, 2013; Jessor, 2014; McAdams et al., 2017; Van De Bongardt et al., 2015; Cripps & Zyromski, 2009; Smokowski, 2015; Shoshani & Steinmetz, 2013); and we had developed the items on parenting style based on the following literatures: (Hussain et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 1995; Shyny, 2017; Alonso-Stuyck, 2019; Aunola et al., 2000; Areepattamannil, 2010; Piko & Balázs, 2012; Glozah, 2014; Zuquetto et al., 2019; Heaven & Ciarrochi, 2013; Smith & Moore, 2013; Kerr et al., 2012; Abdul Gafor, 2014; Kern & Jonyniene, 2012; Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2019). The tool was developed in Nepali. Pretesting was performed on 96 adolescents and 64 parents who had similar characteristics as those of our study participants. Then,

modifications were made to make the questions easy to understand and answer. The final data showed good reliability. Cronbach alpha values were 0.89 for the knowledge questionnaire, 0.93 for parenting practice, and in the three parenting-style subscales, 0.63 for authoritarian, 0.78 for authoritative, and 0.68 for indulgent parenting. To ensure the validity of the tools, exploratory factor analysis with maximum likelihood ratio and varimax rotation was executed and found that all 12 items in the knowledge questionnaire had factor loadings of > 0.48 to 0.75 with a single component matrix. Similarly, the 21 items in the parenting practice questionnaire were also extracted in a single component matrix with factor loadings of >0.51 to 0.73. For parenting style, 5 items for authoritative (0.51 to 0.73), 4 items for authoritarian (0.37 to 0.76), and 4 items for indulgent parenting (0.44 to 0.68) were loaded.

2.5 Data Collection Procedure

Data from adolescents was collected in their classrooms of the respective schools. The researcher visited the students in their classrooms, explained the study, and obtained assent for participation in the study from the students. Students were asked to fill out the questionnaires and return them to the researcher. The students were asked to give to their parents a well-sealed envelope that contained a detailed explanation of the study, a consent form and questionnaire. The students were asked to bring back to school the questionnaires that their parents had filled out, in the subsequent two or three days. In the letter to the parents, a detailed explanation of the study was provided, and we asked either the adolescent's mother or father to fill out the questionnaire. Precautions were taken throughout the study at every step to safeguard the rights and welfare of all respondents, and they were assured that their identities will not be disclosed, and the information will be used only for this research purpose. The respondents were given full authority to withdraw their participation from the study without any fear at any time during the investigation. Anonymity was maintained by asking them not to write their names on the questionnaire; however, to match the adolescent's data with his/her parent's data, the same code number was used for the adolescent and his/her parent. A total of 934 questionnaires were distributed to the parents and 589 were returned (response rate, 63%). However, questionnaires

with missing answers were omitted, and 575 pairs (62%) of questionnaires from the adolescents and his/her parents were utilized in the final analysis.



Fig. 8: Data Collection Flow

2.6 Data Analysis Procedure

Upon receipt of the questionnaire from each respondent, the questionnaire was checked for completeness and consistency. Careful attention was paid to the code number to match the questionnaires filled out by the adolescent and by his/her parent. Then data was analyzed and interpreted according to the objectives and the hypothesis of the study in SPSS version 26. Descriptive statistics (frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation) and inferential statistics (bivariate, multivariate logistic and linear regression analysis) was used at ≤ 0.05 level of significance. Before performing regression analysis, we confirmed the statistical assumption of normal distribution of the data with its kurtosis and skewness value (Kim, 2013). The present investigation was concerned with two outcome variables, i.e., self-esteem and suicidal behavior of adolescents, and their parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents, parents' practice and three parenting styles were the independent variables. We examined three hypotheses: (1) parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents positively predicts their parenting practice and positive parenting style, i.e., authoritative parenting style; (2) parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents, their parenting practice and authoritative parenting style positively predict the self-esteem of their adolescents; and (3) parents' practice and parenting style significantly predict suicidal behavior.

In the analysis, at the first step cross tabulation was used to describe sociodemographic factors, and the chi-squared test to study their association with the self-esteem level and suicidal behavior of their adolescent was used. Secondly, the relationship between parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem, and parenting practice and three parenting styles were assessed with a single linear regression model. Similarly, the relationship between parent's knowledge about the development of self-esteem, practice and three parenting styles, and self-esteem score of adolescents was analyzed with a binary linear regression model. Thirdly, the relationship among the score of parenting practice and three parenting styles, and the suicidal behavior of adolescents was evaluated using a logistic regression model. Finally, these three crude models were adjusted for possible confounders.

3. RESULTS

A total of 575 pairs of adolescents and their parents were participants of the study, considering the completeness of the questionnaires (Table 5). The participation rate of mothers was higher than that of fathers (61% vs. 39%). The mean age of the adolescents and their parents was 15.82 years and 40.75 years, respectively. The number of girl student was higher than the boys, i.e., 56.2% and 43.8% respectively. Regarding ethnicity, 50.9% belonged to the Janajati ethnic group. Majority were belonged to Hindu religion (82.3%). In relation to the family type, participants from single family were 54.3%, i.e., characterized by the parents and their children are living together, whereas the joint family is marked by the family also include grandparents, uncle, aunt and cousins were 45.7%. About parents' education level, 52.2% had completed higher secondary and above level, and 47.8% were under the category of literate to secondary level. The majority of the parents that is, 90.3% were married and living together, only 9.7% were either widow/widower or divorced/separated. Furthermore, 62.3% reported their family income is sufficient for their livelihood, 12% had hardly sufficient and 25.7% reported they have some surplus/savings.

Male adolescents had a significantly higher self-esteem score than female adolescents. Adolescents whose families had higher SES had a significantly higher self-esteem score (Table 5). Although statistically not significant, the self-esteem score was higher among adolescents who belonged to the Brahmin/Chhetri ethnicity

(71.5%), among adolescents living in Palpa district (76%), among adolescents living with joint family (73.9%), and among adolescents whose parents live together (70.5%). The prevalence of suicidal risk behavior among the adolescents was 11.3% and was significantly higher among female adolescents than among male adolescents, and among adolescents who attended private schools than among those who attended government/public schools.

Table 5. Characteristics of the parents and adolescents according to the selfesteem level and suicidal risk behavior of the adolescents (n = 575).

	Tota	1	Solf-Fsto	om I ovol	P	Suicidal Ris	Rehavior	р
	Number	<u>%</u>	Low	Normal-	- 1	<u> </u>	Yes	. 1
Variables		70	(n = 172)	High		(n = 510)	(n = 65)	
			(n - 1/2)	(n - 403)		(n - 510)	(n - 0.5)	
				(n - 403)				
Parents' characteristics								
Age	220	50.0	102 (20.2)	22(((0, 0))	0(0	200 (00 5)	20 (11 5)	022
≤ 40 years old	338	58.8	102(30.2)	236 (69.8)	.869	299 (88.5)	39 (11.5)	.832
\geq 41 years old	237	41.2	70 (29.5)	167 (70.5)		211 (89.0)	26 (11.0)	
Mean \pm SD (40.77 \pm 6.31)								
Relation with child	226	20.2	(7,(20,0))	150 (70.4)	010	200 (99 5)	2((11.5))	002
Father	226	39.3	67 (29.6)	159 (70.4)	.910	200 (88.5)	26 (11.5)	.903
Mother	349	60.7	105 (30.1)	244 (69.9)		310 (88.8)	39 (11.2)	
Ethnicity Duchasia (Chlastai	215	27.4	(0, (27, 0))	155 (72.1)	710	100 (07 0)	2((12,1))	770
Branmin/Cnnetri	215	5/.4	00(27.9)	155(72.1)	./18	189(87.9)	20(12.1)	.//8
Janajati	293	50.9	91 (31.1)	202 (68.9)		260 (88.7)	33 (11.3)	
Others	6/	11.7	21 (31.3)	46 (68.7)		61 (91.0)	6 (9.0)	
Religion	100	1.7.7	20 (20 1)	72 (70 ()	002	00 (07 2)	12 (12 7)	(10
Others	102	17.7	30 (29.4)	72 (70.6)	.903	89 (87.3)	13 (12.7)	.612
Hindu	4/3	82.3	142 (30.0)	331 (70.0)		421 (89.0)	52 (11.0)	
Province/District	241		00 (00 F)	150 ((()))	1.00	224 (00 5)	25 (10.2)	
Province 3 Kathmandu	261	45.4	88 (33.7)	173 (66.3)	.168	234 (89.7)	27 (10.3)	.771
Province 4 Kaski	217	37.7	60 (27.6)	157 (72.4)		190 (87.6)	27 (12.4)	
Province 5 Palpa	97	16.9	24 (24.7)	/3 (/5.3)		86 (88.7)	11 (11.3)	
Type of family					~ 			
Single	312	54.3	103 (33.0)	209 (67.0)	.077	274 (87.8)	38 (12.2)	.470
Joint	263	45.7	69 (26.2)	194 (73.8)		236 (89.7)	27 (10.3)	
Education level $(n = 548)$	2.02	45.0	00 (01 5)	1 = 0 ((0, 0))	201	225 (00 5)	25 (10.2)	
Literate to secondary level	262	47.8	83 (31.7)	179 (68.3)	.391	235 (89.7)	27 (10.3)	.338
Higher secondary and	286	52.2	81 (28.3)	205 (71.7)		249 (87.1)	37 (12.9)	
Marital status								
Separated/Widow/Widower	56	9.7	19 (33.9)	37 (66.1)	.490	53 (94.6)	3 (5.4)	.139
Together	519	90.3	153 (29.5)	366 (70.5)		457 (88.1)	62 (11.9)	
Socio-economic status								
Hardly Sufficient	69	12.0	26 (37.7)	43 (62.3)	<.000*	62 (89.9)	7 (10.1)	.908
Sufficient	358	62.3	121 (33.8)	237 (66.2)		316 (88.3)	42 (11.7)	
Surplus	148	25.7	25 (16.9)	123 (83.1)		132 (89.2)	16 (10.8)	
Adolescents'								
Age								
13-15 years	268	46.6	78 (29.1)	190 (70.9)	.692	238 (88.8)	30 (11.2)	.938
16-19 years	307	53.4	94 (30.6)	213 (69.4)		272 (88.6)	35 (11.4)	
Mean \pm SD (15.69 \pm 1.31 yea	rs)							
Sex								
Male	252	43.8	62 (24.6)	190 (75.4)	.014*	234 (92.9)	18 (7.1)	.005*
Female	323	56.2	110 (34.1)	213 (65.9)		276 (85.4)	47 (14.6)	
Type of school								
Government/Public	365	63.5	119 (32.6)	246 (67.4)	.063	332 (91.0)	33 (9.0)	.024*
Private	210	36.5	53 (25.2)	157 (74.8)		178 (84.8)	32 (15.2)	

Number in parentheses indicates percentage. *Statistical significance at p < 0.05 on Chi-square test. Low self-esteem = score <15 on the Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES).

Table 6. Linear regression association between parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents and their parenting practice (n = 575).

	Parenti	Parenting practice (communication,				uthoritari	an Parenti	ng	А	uthoritativ	e Parentii	ıg		Indulgent	Parenting	
	sup	port, reinfor	cement, et	c.)												
	Unadj	justed	Adj	usted	Unad	justed	Adjı	isted	Unad	justed	Adj	usted	Unad	justed	Adju	isted
	В	β	В	β	В	β	В	β	В	β	В	β	В	β	В	β
	95%	6 CI	95%	% CI	95%	6 CI	95%	6 CI	95%	6 CI	95%	% CI	95%	6 CI	95%	o CI
Parent's	1.0	0.56	1.0	0.59	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.18	0.27	0.20	0.30	0.03	0.04	0.05	0.07
knowledge about	(0.85, 1	.08) **	(0.89,	1.11)**	(-0.03	, 0.06)	(-0.03	, 0.07)	(0.13, 0	0.23)**	(0.15,	0.25)**	(-0.03	, 0.08)	(-0.01.	, 0.10)
the development																
of self-esteem in																
adolescents																

** Significant p = 0.000; B, unstandardized coefficient; β , standardized coefficients beta; CI, confidence interval.

Adjusted, Adjusted for parent's age, sex, ethnicity, religion, family type, education, marital status, and socioeconomic status, adolescent's age, and adolescent's sex

The significant positive associations were observed between the score on parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents and the scores on their parenting practice and authoritative parenting (Table 6). Each increase in knowledge score was related to an increase in practice score (B = 1.0, 95% CI 0.89-1.11), and parents with higher knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents were more likely to adopt the authoritative parenting style (B = 0.2, 95% CI 0.15-0.25).

practice with the sen-est		the address	in chi chi	575).							
					S	elf-Esteem Lev	el of Adolesco	ents			
Independent Variables	-			Unadjusted	l				Adjuste	d	
	Mean (SE)	В	β	Р	LCI	UCI	В	β	Р	LCI	UCI
Knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents	40.47 (0.23)	0.051	0.073	0.082	-0.006	0.108	0.053	0.075	0.075	-0.005	0.111
Parenting practice (communication, support, reinforcement, etc.)	70.36 (0.39)	0.036	0.087	0.036*	0.002	0.069	0.024	0.058	0.174	-0.011	0.059
Authoritarian parenting	13.12 (0.13)	-0.050	-0.043	0.309	-0.146	0.046	-0.040	-0.034	0.424	-0.139	0.059
Authoritative parenting	19.71 (0.15)	0.125	0.121	0.004*	0.041	0.208	0.098	0.093	0.027*	0.011	0.186
Indulgent parenting	12.26 (0.15)	-0.024	-0.023	0.588	-0.112	0.063	-0.060	-0.055	0.191	-0.150	0.030

Table 7. Linear regression association of parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents and parenting practice with the self-esteem level of the adolescents (n = 575).

SE, standard error; B, unstandardized coefficient; β , standardized coefficients beta; * Significant p = < 0.05; LCI, lower limit of confidence interval; UCI, upper limit of confidence interval. Adjusted, adjusted for parent's age, sex, ethnicity, religion, family type, education, marital status, socioeconomic status, adolescent's age, and adolescent's sex. Adolescents' self-esteem score: 16.59 ± 0.16 (mean \pm SE).

The mean score of self-esteem in the adolescents was 16.59 ± 0.16 (standard error) (Table 7). The mean scores of the following independent variables were: parents' knowledge 40.47, parenting practice related to adolescent's self-esteem 70.36, and three types of parenting style, i.e., authoritarian, authoritative, and indulgent, were 13.12, 19.71, and 12.26, respectively. Linear regression analysis revealed a significant bivariate association of the scores on parents' practice and authoritative parenting style with the adolescents' self-esteem score, but on multivariate analysis the score on parents' practice was confounded by two covariates, i.e., socioeconomic status and gender of the adolescent. Although the score on parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents was associated with the score on parenting practice, it did not show any association with the self-esteem score of the adolescents. However, the score on authoritative parenting showed a beneficial effect on the adolescent's self-esteem score after adjustment for several covariates related to the parents and adolescents (B = 0.1, 95% CI 0.11–0.18).

Independent Variables				Su	icidal Risk Beh	avior of Adolesco	ents			
			Unadjusted					Adjusted		
	В	р	OR	LCI	UCI	В	р	OR	LCI	UCI
Parenting practice										
(communication, support,	-1.499	0.552	0.99	0.966	1.019	-3.075	0.628	0.99	0.964	1.022
reinforcement, etc.)										
Authoritarian parenting	-2.922	0.113	1.1	0.985	1.155	-4.621	0.041*	1.1	1.004	1.194
Authoritative parenting	-0.910	0.069	0.94	0.884	1.005	-2.482	0.136	0.95	0.885	1.017
Indulgent parenting	-1.674	0.377	0.97	0.903	1.040	-3.569	0.897	0.99	0.922	1.074

Table 8. Logistic regression odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for factors predicting adolescents' suicidal behavior (n = 575).

OR, odds ratio; B, unstandardized coefficient constant; * Significant p = < 0.05; LCI, lower limit of confidence interval; UCI, upper limit of confidence interval. Adjusted, Adjusted for parent's age, sex, ethnicity, religion, family type, education, marital status, and socioeconomic status, adolescent's age, adolescent's sex, school district, and type of school.

The results of multivariate logistic regression analysis identified that the parental authoritarian style was a significant risk factor for suicidal behavior in the adolescents (AOR = 1.1,95% CI 1.0-1.19) (Table 8). Although the scores on authoritative and indulgent parenting styles, and parenting practice showed inverse relationships with suicidal risk behavior, they were not significant statistically in adjusted model.

Demondel Deelement d Versiehler		Authori	tative Parenting	g Style	
Parental Background variables	В	β	р	LCI	UCI
Parent's age	-0.040	-0.066	0.112	-0.089	0.009
Relation with child					
Father (ref.)					
Mother	-0.175	-0.023	0.589	-0.812	0.461
Religion					
Others (ref.)					
Hindu	0.430	0.043	0.300	-0.383	1.244
Ethnicity					
Brahmin/Chhetri	0.267	0.034	0.415	-0.375	0.910
Janajati	-0.174	-0.023	0.584	-0.796	0.448
Others	-0.186	-0.016	0.706	-1.155	0.783
Family type					
Single (ref.)					
Joint	0.445	0.059	0.161	-0.178	1.069
Educational level					
Secondary and below (ref.)					
Higher secondary and above	-0.143	-0.019	0.653	-0.767	0.481
Mother's occupation *					
Home-maker	0.635	0.083	0.046*	0.012	1.258
Father's occupation					
Works at home/unemployed (ref.)					
Employed	0.214	0.014	0.741	-1.057	1.484
Economic status *					
Hardly sufficient	-1.242	-0.107	0.011*	-2.194	-0.291
Sufficient	0.211	0.027	0.519	-0.431	0.852
Surplus	0.427	0.049	0.238	-0.283	1.138
Marital status					
Widow/widower/separated/divorced (ref.)					
Married and living together	0.161	0.013	0.764	-0.888	1.210
Age of adolescent	0.003	0.001	0.983	-0.234	0.239
Sex of adolescent					
Male (ref.)					
Female	-0.151	-0.020	0.635	-0.778	0.475
School district*					
Kathmandu	-0.618	-0.081	0.052	-1.240	0.005
Kaski	-0.107	-0.014	0.743	-0.749	0.534
Palpa	1.271	0.126	0.003*	0.447	2.095
School type					
Government/Public (ref.)					
Private	-0.626	-0.080	0.057	-1.270	0.018

Table 9. Linear regression coefficients and level of significance of the factors associated with authoritative parenting (n = 575).

B, unstandardized coefficient; β , standardized coefficients beta; * Significant p = < 0.05; LCI, lower limit of confidence interval; UCI, upper limit of confidence interval, * significant factor.

Furthermore, in the univariate analyses for factors associated with authoritative parenting, significant relationships were found between economic status, occupation of mother, and area of residence/school district, and authoritative parenting (Table 9). Homemaker mothers were more likely to be authoritative with their child, whereas, if family income was hardly sufficient for livelihood, the parents in such homes were less likely to be authoritative. Regarding the school district, Palpa district is a small district with a small urban area in the hill region of Nepal that differs in terms of family structure, neighborhood and parents' occupation status from the other two districts. In Palpa district, most of the mothers stay at home and are homemakers, and most families have their own agricultural land and grow their own crops; therefore, livelihood might easier in Palpa district compared with the livelihood of working parents who stay in rental properties in Kathmandu and Pokhara/Kaski. The parents in Palpa district were more authoritative than the parents in Kathmandu.

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

In this study, we examined the effect of parenting according to the parents' report on the self-esteem and suicidal behavior of adolescents according to the adolescents' report. Furthermore, we used the SES as reported by the parents (which is considered to be a more appropriate and reliable approach than adolescents' report of their family's SES) as a covariate in the analysis of the relationship between parenting and adolescent outcome (i.e., their self-esteem and suicidal behavior). Nevertheless, given the strong tradition in Nepalese culture that favors boys over girls, and based on the reported evidence of higher rates of suicidal behavior and low self-esteem among adolescent girls in Nepal, it was also worthwhile to consider gender as another important covariate. Here, we would like to discuss our findings based on the outlined research questions, with important practical implications at the levels of the family/parents, school/public health nurses, psychologists, counselors and others who work in the arena in contributing to the mental health of adolescents. Most importantly, programs can be developed to provide effective counseling for the parents of adolescents, parenting training, and knowledge so that parents can enhance their adolescent's self-esteem and prevent suicides.

4.1 Self-esteem and Suicidal Behavior

In our study, the mean self-esteem score of adolescents was 16.59, which is similar to those obtained in previous studies in Nepal (Lamichhane, 2015; Maharjan, 2008). Further in line with the previous studies, we found that girls were more likely to have lower self-esteem than boys (Lamichhane, 2015; McClure et al., 2010; Herz & Gullone, 1999). The prevalence of suicidal behavior found in this study (11.3%) was similar to those found in previous studies (Thapa et al., 2017; WHO, 2017). 4.2 Association between Parents' Knowledge, and Parenting practice and style

Regarding our first research question as to whether parents' knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents has a relationship with the parenting practice of parents, linear regression analysis proved our assumption that revealed that the parenting practice score was significantly associated with the knowledge score; that is, parents with higher knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents had a better practice score (on overall communication, relation, involvement, support, and positive reinforcement, i.e., appreciation, praise). Similarly, parents with higher knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents were significantly more likely to practice an authoritative parenting style. In this regard, our findings on the relationship between knowledge and practice suggested that if parents have knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents, they practice good communication and have a good relationship with their children, try to be supportive, practice positive reinforcement in the form of praise, appreciation and encouragement for good effort, and try to be more involved or participate in academic and other areas of their child's life. Parents with better knowledge about the developmental aspect of adolescents are likely to be more authoritative, i.e., have open bidirectional communication and respect the views of their child, involve the adolescent in decision making, set rules and make corrections in a mutual way, being less focused on punishment, and manage time to be engaged with his/her child and his/her academic and school activities, etc., as much as possible. Previous studies in different parts of the world showed that authoritative parents are more likely to encourage their children and engage in their school activities (Steinberg et al., 1992). Parental involvement (Akdemir, 2016; Handren et al., 2016), parental acceptance and support (McGee et al., 2000; Supple & Small, 2006; Sharaf et al., 2009), and having a good relationship with their children (Dwairy, 2004; Van De Bongardt et al., 2015; Smokowski et al., 2015) are beneficial for their children's selfesteem.

4.3 Association of Parenting Practice and style with Self-esteem of Adolescents

Our linear regression analysis also provided the answer to our second question, revealing that the authoritative style of parenting according to the parent's report was positively associated with their adolescent's self-esteem. Several past studies reported that adolescents who perceived that their parents are authoritative were significantly more likely to have higher self-esteem (Heaven & Ciarroch, 2008; Milevsky et al., 2007; McClure et al., 2010; Alami et al., 2014). With this finding, we could add to the extant literature that the parental report of their parenting style also has the same

beneficial effect as the parenting style perceived by adolescents in previous studies. Parents can contribute to the development of self-esteem in their adolescent children through authoritative parenting in Nepal as well. While another study showed that permissive parenting contributed more to the self-esteem of adolescents compared with authoritative parenting (Martínez et al., 2007), in the present study, permissive parenting did not show a beneficial effect on the self-esteem of Nepalese adolescents. Hence, this discrepancy may have been due to differences in the setting and context (Hoskins, 2014). Furthermore, although authoritative parenting had a beneficial effect as seen in most previous studies, it should be noted that the effect of SES followed by gender was also strong in the Nepalese context. In addition, while we explored factors associated with authoritative parenting, we observed significant associations between authoritative parenting and economic status, occupation of the mother, and area of residence. A past study in Turkey also provided partial support for the association between SES and perceived parenting style (Anli & Karsli, 2010). Parental goals and values of socialization of their children, and their expectations from the child may be different in different socio-economic strata, and parents of different SES may show different behaviors or create a different environment for their children. Parents of higher SES are more likely to be democratic and assertive (Hoskins, 2014; Hoff et al., 2002). Similarly, regarding mother's occupation, homemaker mothers may have more time to be involved and interact with her child. Compared to working mothers, homemaker mothers may have less job-related/dual career stress, and as such they may have a more positive approach with their child. According to this notion, to support this finding, past evidences have suggested that the parenting style in higher SES homes was found to be more democratic and accepting, and these parents' value self-direction in their children and exhibit more warmth and involvement, while in families with lower SES, working-class parents are more likely to be harsh, punitive, and oriented towards order and obedience, i.e., the authoritarian style (Hoff et al., 2002; Steinberg et al., 1992). Regarding the school district, parents in Palpa district were more authoritative compared to parents in Kathmandu and Kaski. Palpa is a hill/countryside small urban area of Nepal, whereas Kathmandu is the capital city and Kaski is the second largest city in Nepal after Kathmandu, and more parents are employed outside their home. On the other hand, compared to large cities, parents in rural or small urban areas might have less expectations for their child about their future. This might be the reason that they are less likely to be harsh and punitive, and are more accepting. A future study should explore the exact cause of this difference.

We also found that the parenting practice score of parents (i.e., the total score derived from items such as communication, relationship, support, participation, appreciation, encouragement, etc.) was positively associated with the self-esteem score of their adolescents on bivariate analysis, but this was completely confounded by two variables, i.e., SES and gender, on multivariate analysis. Socioeconomic status had the stronger effect on this relationship. Therefore, it can be added that the SES and the environmental context might influence the goals, practice and style of parents because children do not grow and develop and the adult does not parent in isolation, but within the surrounding culture, economy and context (Hoff et al., 2002), and the effect of parenting is not universal but is dependent on culture and gender (Dwairy, 2004). It was also reported that adolescents perceive a difference in parenting by gender and SES (Anli & Karsli, 2010). Therefore, researchers should consider different cultures and contexts when studying the relationship between parenting and self-esteem of their children (Herz & Gullone, 1999). Past studies showed that adolescents who perceived that they had higher family SES had higher self-esteem (Bannink et al., 2016; Shoshani & Steinmetz, 2013), and our study also revealed that socioeconomic status mattered. On the other hand, a strong male-dominant social culture and religion still play a role in the difference in the rearing pattern of male and female children and the view of society in Nepal. Nepalese adolescents have high rates of health and social vulnerabilities and psychosocial problems, and they are especially higher among girls. Furthermore, the psychosocial well-being of adolescents is also affected by their SES in Nepal (Adhikari et al., 2016). Despite efforts to reduce gender inequality, women/girls in Nepal are still marginalized in society (e.g., discrepancy in the available roles, priorities, opportunities, and resources) which affects their health, development and well-being (MoHP, 2018). Another study on resilience in Nepalese adolescents indicated that one-fifth of the students had low resilience and girls had a lower total resilience score (Singh et al., 2019). Here, in this single cross-sectional study, with our main aim of how to promote self-esteem and prevent suicidal behavior in adolescents, we could not determine the

exact rationale for the effect of SES on parents' practice; thus, a future study should explore why this is the case. Currently, based on our findings, it can be said that although gender is not modifiable and SES is a complex factor, Nepalese parents can enhance their adolescent's self-esteem through authoritative parenting practice. 4.4 Association of Parenting with Adolescents' Suicidal Behavior

Thirdly, regarding the suicidal risk behavior of adolescents, our multivariate logistic regression analysis revealed that the parental authoritarian style was a significant risk factor for suicidal behavior in adolescents. Although none of the other variables (parents' practice, and authoritative and indulgent parenting styles) was a significant factor, the odds of those factors were in line with their protective effect. To our knowledge, there are a limited number of articles on the impact of parents on their adolescent's suicidal behavior; however, to support this finding a study in Jamaicans indicated that adolescents who reported that their parents are more authoritarian were more prone to suicide ideation and gender had a moderating effect (Smith & Moore, 2013). Among Lithuanian adolescents, some manifestations of suicidal behavior were significantly associated with low satisfaction with family relationships, low emotional support from their mothers and fathers, low monitoring by their mothers, low school-related parental support, and authoritarian-repressive parenting style of their fathers (Zaborskis et al., 2016). However, the results of the present study are in contrast with the results of the study from Germany (Donath et al., 2014) that reported that authoritarian parenting was not a significant predictor of suicide attempt among German adolescents; however, it should be noted that only ninth-grade adolescents were included in their study, and the difference in country context might have caused this discrepancy. The effect of parenting style or the perception of their parents' parenting style by adolescents could differ between developed and undeveloped nations (Donath et al., 2014; Spera, 2005). Moreover, a study in Czech adolescents of 11-16 years of age indicated that weak control and more warm relations can have a reducing effect on adolescent's self-harm behavior (Burešová et al., 2015); these are characteristics similar to the authoritative style of parenting. Similarly, another study in the US reported that both higher support and boundaries by parents for their children, which are also characteristics of authoritative parenting, were found to be protective against suicidal behavior among adolescent students of 7th and 9th grades, and on top of this relationship, the self-esteem of the adolescents had a mediating effect (Cero & Sifer, 2013). Therefore, parents can lower suicidal risk in their adolescent children by enhancing their self-esteem through authoritative parenting while providing higher support and maintaining a good relationship with their adolescent children. However, our analysis did not prove the significant association of parental authoritativeness with reduction in suicidal risk behavior, although the odds were in line with a protective effect. Similar to previous studies, we established in the Nepalese context that authoritarian parenting is a risk factor for suicidal behavior. In support of our findings, studies on parenting and adolescent outcome have stated that parenting with high control and harsh parenting, i.e., the authoritarian parenting style, lead to negative outcomes in their adolescent children, such as depression, diminished academic success, and self-harm, while authoritative parenting has a beneficial effect (DeVore & Ginsburg, 2005; Alonso-Stuyck, 2019; Aunola et al., 2000; Areepattamannil, 2010; Steinberg et al., 1992; Piko & Balázs, 2012; Glozah, 2014; Zuquetto et al., 2019; Heaven & Ciarrochi, 2008; Milevsky etal., 2007; McClure et al., 2010; Hoskins, 2014; Supple & Small, 2006; Newman et al., 2008). Hence, our findings suggested that parents can prevent suicidal behavior in their adolescent children by reducing their authoritarian parenting style. Parents should focus on reducing negative criticism and punishment-oriented behavior towards their adolescent children; rather, they should focus on correction of any misbehavior by positive mutual communication and understanding, and by creating a less threatening environment. It seems that parents need to control their burst of anger and need to listen/analyze or better try to understand the rationale from the perspective of the child/adolescent if any problem, disobedience or breaking of set rules occurs. However, a future study to establish a cause-effect association and longitudinal studies to further support these findings are needed. The Freudian view is that adolescence is a period of emotional upheavals, Erikson's view is that adolescence is a period of identity crisis, and Jessor's view is that adolescence is a period of problem behavior associated with personal and multiple external factors. Although teenagers spend much more time with their peers than with their parents and may sometimes openly challenge their parents' actions and beliefs, still they value their relationships with their parents tremendously and adolescents are not always the critical ones, but rather the ones to be molded (Erikson, 1959; Collins & Steinberg, 2008; Harter, 2008; Lerner & Steinberg, 2009; Potts & Mandleco, 2011; Cooley, 1998; Mead, 1934; Maccoby, 2000; Bornstein, 2002; Jessor, 2014). Therefore, parents should be counseled to help them understand the undeniable important fact that they are the best and most important resources for adolescent's positive development. 4.5 Conclusions

A significant number of adolescents in Nepal have low self-esteem and show suicidal risk behavior, although parents' knowledge about the development of selfesteem in adolescents was not significantly associated with the self-esteem level of the adolescents; however, parents with greater knowledge about the development of self-esteem in adolescents were significantly more likely to have better parenting practice, and more likely to adopt authoritative parenting. Importantly, authoritative parenting positively predicted their adolescent's self-esteem; on the other hand, authoritarian parenting was a risk factor for suicidal behavior. Study covariates such as SES and gender showed strong effects. Gender is not modifiable and SES is complex, but parents can contribute to the self-esteem of their adolescents by adopting an authoritative style, and by reducing their authoritarian parenting, parents can contribute to prevention of suicidal behavior. Hence, we conclude that parents can play a very effective role in promoting positive mental health in their adolescent children. School health nurses, community/public health nurses, psychologists, counselors and others who work in the area of adolescent mental health and development can focus on planning knowledge intervention, parenting training or counseling for the parents of adolescents.

Chapter IV, Final Conclusion, Limitation, and Implication

1. Conclusion

The study has shed lights on the significant and consistent protective association of self-esteem, PSS from family and friends, SC at family and school for suicidal behavior of adolescents. Similarly, adolescents with high family SC and PSS from family were less likely for substance use. Therefore, PSS and SC at family had the strong effect than the other sources of PSS and SC. On the other hand, self-esteem and sexual behavior are positively associated. Consistently, peer influence showed strong proportionate association with substance use and sexual behavior. Therefore, both the enhancement of protective factors and monitoring and helping adolescents from the influence of peers are important measures. Similarly, second study further added that the parents can contribute on enhancement of protective factor, i.e., parents can enhance self-esteem of their adolescents through authoritative parenting, and suicidal behavior can be prevented by reducing authoritarian parenting. Study has also provided the answers that, if parents have higher knowledge on adolescent's selfesteem, they are more likely to do better parenting practice (in terms of communication, support and reinforcement etc. to their adolescents), and parents with higher knowledge score were also more likely to be authoritative with their adolescents. Therefore, it is concluded that school or public health nurses or school health personnel or counselors can plan for intervention at two levels: adolescents and parent/family level. At adolescents' level, assessment of self-esteem, counseling for proper peer selection, and awareness activities in the adolescent group about risk behavior and its consequences can be done. In parental level, knowledge intervention about adolescent's mental health and development including self-esteem; positive parenting training focusing on the benefit of authoritative parenting and reducing authoritarian parenting, and counseling can be done. Therefore, family and schoolpeer level intervention for adolescents might be helpful to promote and generate protective factors and prevent the adolescents from risk behaviors.

2. Limitation

The study has some limitations to explain about, i.e., due to the cross-sectional design adopted for the study, causality cannot be determined. In addition, the study was conducted in urban high schools; therefore, the findings would not apply to the

understanding of adolescents and parents living in rural areas or adolescents who do not attend formal schools. The information was collected by self-report measure; therefore, the findings did not help in our understanding of illiterate parents, our understanding of those parents who did not respond to the questionnaire, and our understanding of those adolescents who were absent on the day of data collection or who did not completely fill out the questionnaire. Moreover, only either the adolescent's father or mother participated in the study, and there was a possible influence from the parent who did not participate in the study; therefore, a future study should consider collecting data from both parents as far as possible to gain a wider understanding. Furthermore, we included only those participants in which both the adolescent and his/her parent filled out the questionnaires completely because we needed to match the data of the adolescent with the data of his/her parent. Finally, though all the best efforts to get information on different levels of SC had been applied, the lack of a valid standard measure remains. So that future studies could consider the development and validation of a tool to measure SC in Nepalese context by referencing the present study.

3. Implication

The study has generated the information about risk-behaviors and the preventive role of self-esteem, different sources of PSS, and SC in adolescents. Study has further yielded information regarding parenting and adolescents' mental health outcome of self-esteem and suicidal behavior from the developing country context. Hence, the findings might have important practical implications for planning interventions and educational implications for different audiences (parents/families, teachers, school and community health nurses, communities, and others) in the areas of adolescent health and behavior. Our study would contribute to the literature on adolescents' risk-behaviors and role of parents in the context of Nepal. It would also supplement the existing international literature by filling the knowledge gap on sources of SC and PSS for multiple risk behaviors within the context of a developing country, and by measuring the influence of confounder effects. Going forward, this study will be helpful to students, researchers, and others who are interested in designing future studies in this area.

Supplementary Table 1. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of Self-esteem on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

			Substanc	e Use (Ye	s)			Sı	uicidal Be	havior (Y	es)			S	exual be	havior (Y	es)	
	(Crude Mo	del	Àd	ljusted Mo	odel	C	Crude Mo	del	Àd	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Moo	iel	Ad	ljusted M	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
Self-esteem	0.93	0.89	0.97	0.95	0.90	1.00	0.85	0.80	0.91	0.90	0.83	0.96	1.02	0.97	1.08	1.11	1.04	1.19
Age				1.02	0.83	1.26				1.09	0.83	1.44				1.13	0.86	1.49
Sex (ref: Male)				0.59	0.38	0.91				3.35	1.75	6.39				0.33	0.18	0.60
Religion others (ref: Hindu)				0.85	0.47	1.54				1.69	0.85	3.38				1.20	0.59	2.47
Brahmin/Chhetri ethnicity (ref)																		
Janajati				0.85	0.55	1.31				0.88	0.48	1.60				0.62	0.35	1.10
Others				0.63	0.30	1.34				0.76	0.31	1.87				0.52	0.21	1.29
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.60	1.08	2.35				0.98	0.59	1.63				0.75	0.45	1.25
Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)																		
Sufficient				2.71	0.99	7.41				0.88	0.32	2.38				1.15	0.36	3.66
Surplus				3.66	1.28	10.48				0.79	0.27	2.34				0.97	0.28	3.32
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)				0.00	0.50	1.50				1.01	0.60					• • • •	1.40	
Pokhara/Province 4				0.93	0.56	1.56				1.21	0.62	2.34				2.88	1.46	5.65
Palpa/Province 5				0.57	0.30	1.06				0.93	0.40	2.17				0.74	0.29	1.8/
Father education – initerate (ref)				0.00	1.01	52.21				1.50	0.26	7 10				2 80	0.67	22.45
De net know				9.90	1.91	22.21				1.39	0.50	6.25				2.17	0.07	22.43
Do not know Mother education illiterate (ref)				5.52	0.00	32.14				1.07	0.18	0.55				5.17	0.44	22.82
Literate				0.72	0.35	1 45				0.98	0.37	2.60				0.87	0.33	2 29
Do not know				1.25	0.33	3.26				1 75	0.37	6 40				1 24	0.33	4 54
Mother-Home maker (ref: other)				0.88	0.58	1 32				0.66	0.40	1 14				0.75	0.34	1.28
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.35	0.17	0.75				0.44	0.19	1.00				1.02	0.37	2.82
Family conflict-often (ref)				0.55	0.17	0.75				0.11	0.17	1.00				1.02	0.57	2.02
Sometimes				1.29	0.38	4.32				1.35	0.26	7.12				1.05	0.24	4.69
Never				0.84	0.24	2.95				0.83	0.15	4.63				0.48	0.10	2.30
Domestic violence often (ref)																		
Sometimes				0.51	0.12	2.19				0.55	0.10	3.08				0.48	0.08	2.89
Never				0.51	0.13	1.94				0.24	0.05	1.19				0.53	0.10	2.64
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.35	0.77	2.37				0.94	0.47	1.90				0.69	0.31	1.55
Never				0.50	0.13	1.91				0.68	0.13	3.59				1.17	0.25	5.62
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.13	0.74	13.20				1.56	0.29	8.29				1.67	0.29	9.76
Sometimes				2.52	0.60	10.62				1.20	0.23	6.40				1.04	0.18	6.13
Never				1.21	0.95	2.00				1.04	0.50	1.05				0.02	0.47	1.44
Father substance use (ref: no)				1.51	0.85	2.00				1.04	0.59	1.85				0.82	0.4/	1.44
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.58	0.95	2.09				0.98	0.40	2.07				5.04	0.45	0.10
Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.05	0.91	1.85				1.41	0.07	2.99				0.99	0.45	2.19
Internet at home (ref: no)				0.78	0.80	1.85				1.49	0.67	1.92				1 38	0.30	2 44
Parental control/monitoring score				0.93	0.85	1.02				1.00	0.01	1.16				0.90	0.80	1.01
Private School (ref: government school)				1.89	1 13	3.17				2 43	1 21	4 90				0.86	0.43	1.73
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)				1107		5117				2.10						0.00	0110	1175
Distinction/first division				0.99	0.61	1.61				1.02	0.52	1.98				1.06	0.54	2.05
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.24	0.80	1.93				0.72	0.41	1.26				1.96	1.07	3.58
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.38	1.54	3.67				1.81	0.98	3.32				2.14	1.22	3.75
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.06	0.57	1.96				1.60	0.73	3.50				5.14	2.65	9.99
Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.15	1.13	4.07				2.28	1.06	4.89				4.78	2.19	10.45
Teacher behave good (ref: no)				0.57	0.31	1.06				1.06	0.51	2.19				0.72	0.33	1.57
Teacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.43	0.78	2.64				0.49	0.25	0.97				3.16	1.35	7.41
Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.96	0.51	1.80				0.73	0.35	1.53				0.69	0.31	1.54
Strict school rules/monitoring (ref: no)				1.03	0.62	1.69				0.66	0.36	1.22				0.58	0.32	1.04
Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.38	0.98	5.77				1.11	0.36	3.41				1.40	0.46	4.24

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio 719.409, Neglkerke R square 0.291, Chi-square 185.835, and degree of freedom 45, Suicidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 464.065, Neglkerke R square 0.279, Chi-square 131.547, and degree of freedom 45, Sexual behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 463.958, Neglkerke R square 0.450, Chi-square 258.892, and degree of freedom 45, respectively

Supplementary Table 2. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of PSS from family on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

$ \begin{array}{ $		Substance Use (Yes)							Su	icidal Be	havior (Y	es)			5	Sexual be	havior (Y	es)	
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		C	rude Mod	del	Ad	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Moo	del	Ad	justed M	odel	С	rude Mo	del	Ad	justed Mo	odel
PS form family 0.33 0.90 0.95 0.91 0.92 0.91 0.90 0.95 0.93		OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
Ape 101 0.82 1.24 106 0.81 1.40 1.15 0.87 1.51 0.57 1.51 0.	PSS from family	0.93	0.90	0.95	0.95	0.91	0.98	0.92	0.89	0.95	0.95	0.91	0.99	0.95	0.92	0.97	0.98	0.93	1.03
Construction 100 0.40 1.54 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 0.04 1.04 0.04 1.04 0.05 1.04 0.05 1.04 0.05 0.24 1.04 Danajati 0.01 0.59 1.42 0.00 0.85 3.39 1.18 0.58 2.40 Janajati 0.01 0.59 1.42 0.00 0.85 1.83 0.05 0.34 1.05 Joint Family (ref. fingle) 1.55 1.05 2.28 0.49 0.31 2.27 0.20 0.57 0.23 3.22 Family Income-Hardy sufficient (ref) 2.76 1.00 7.66 0.81 0.31 2.27 0.20 0.32 3.22 Area of residence-Karthmandu/Province 4 0.95 0.57 1.60 0.28 0.23 2.27 0.20 8.48 3.60 0.61 8.66 Debara/Province 4 0.95 0.57 1.60 2.20 7.30 2.60 0.33 2.22	A co.				1.01	0.02	1.24				1.06	0.01	1.40				1.15	0.97	1.51
Set (in: Male) 0.01 0.40 0.94 3.87 1.06 5.39 0.18 0.21 0.51 Banhamic Obhers 0.91 0.59 1.42 1.00 0.55 1.83 0.59 0.24 1.05 Jannjati 0.66 0.31 1.40 0.81 0.33 2.02 0.57 0.58 2.40 Joint Family (ref: ingle) 2.76 0.76 0.83 0.32 2.27 0.32 3.23 Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref) 0.71 0.68 0.74 0.25 2.19 0.66 0.23 3.23 Pokhanz/Province 4 0.59 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Plap/Province 5 0.59 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.38 2.36 0.61 18.66 Mohar Chance fuel 0.59 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 3.48 2.66 0.38 2.88 2.66 0.38 2.88 2.66 0.88 0.63 2.29 2.81 1.10 0.40	Age				1.01	0.82	1.24				1.00	0.81	1.40				1.15	0.87	1.51
Religion others (ref: Hund) 0.85 0.47 1.33 1.70 0.85 3.97 1.18 0.84 2.40 Buhmm Chloride Hundy (ref 0.91 0.55 1.42 1.00 0.55 1.83 0.67 0.23 1.39 Others 0.66 0.31 1.40 0.81 0.31 2.22 0.57 0.23 1.32 Family Income Hardy sufficient (ref) 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.02 0.23 3.23 Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)	Sex (ref: Male)				0.61	0.40	0.94				3.8/	2.06	7.30				0.28	0.15	0.51
Hardmann Description 1.42 Loss 1.42 Loss 1.43 Loss	Religion others (ref: Hindu)				0.85	0.47	1.53				1.70	0.85	3.39				1.18	0.58	2.40
Janagint 0.91 0.59 1.42 1.00 0.53 1.85 0.03 0.04 1.05 Joint Family (ref. single) 1.5 1.05 2.28 0.94 0.56 1.55 0.79 0.48 1.32 Joint Family (ref. single) 7.60 0.83 2.27 0.96 0.28 3.23 Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref) 0.68 0.74 0.22 2.19 0.68 2.28 Palpa/Province 4 0.59 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Palpa/Province 5 0.59 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Father education - illiterate (ref) 0.50 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.48 3.60 0.61 8.65 Do not know 4.89 0.81 2.57 1.90 0.20 7.30 2.66 0.83 2.20 Father employed (ref. not employed) 0.70 0.71 0.43 2.20 0.44 4.09 0.21 2.04 4.20	Brahmin/Chhetri ethnicity (ref)																		
Others 0.66 0.31 1.40 0.81 0.33 2.02 0.57 0.43 1.32 Family Income-Hardly sufficient (ref) 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.02 0.32 3.22 Sufficient 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.02 0.32 3.22 Sufficient 0.71 0.29 0.32 1.19 10.68 0.71 0.25 2.19 0.96 0.32 3.22 Sufficient 0.71 0.29 0.32 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.18 2.42 5.44 Palabre Albumath/Province 5 0.57 1.60 0.38 8.48 3.36 0.61 18.66 On ork now 4.89 0.81 29.57 1.90 0.037 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 D on know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 0.22 2.24 <td>Janajati</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.91</td> <td>0.59</td> <td>1.42</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.00</td> <td>0.55</td> <td>1.83</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.59</td> <td>0.34</td> <td>1.05</td>	Janajati				0.91	0.59	1.42				1.00	0.55	1.83				0.59	0.34	1.05
Joint Family (ref: single) 1.55 1.05 2.28 0.94 0.55 1.55 0.79 0.48 1.32 Surficient 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.02 0.32 3.22 Surficient 3.71 1.29 10.68 0.74 0.25 2.19 0.96 0.32 3.23 Pakhanu?Province 4 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Pakhanu?Province 5 0.59 0.57 1.60 0.38 8.48 3.36 0.61 18.66 Do not know 4.89 0.81 29.57 1.19 0.20 7.30 2.66 0.38 18.63 Mother education - illierate (ref) 1.55 0.56 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.21 0.75 0.37 1.01 0.72 0.44 0.34 8.48 Do not know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.19 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 1.36 0.52 </td <td>Others</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.66</td> <td>0.31</td> <td>1.40</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.81</td> <td>0.33</td> <td>2.02</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.57</td> <td>0.23</td> <td>1.39</td>	Others				0.66	0.31	1.40				0.81	0.33	2.02				0.57	0.23	1.39
Family Income-Hardly sufficient (ref) 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.00 0.32 3.23 Sufficient 3.71 1.29 10.68 0.74 0.25 2.19 0.96 0.28 3.23 Area of residence-Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref) 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 8.48 3.61 0.22 1.41 Polkham Province 4 0.95 0.52 1.11 0.20 0.38 8.48 3.36 0.61 18.66 Do not know 4.89 0.81 2.957 1.19 0.20 7.0 2.66 0.83 3.22 Do not know 4.89 0.81 2.957 1.90 0.37 2.66 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 0.85 0.55 1.28 0.44 0.19 1.02 0.17 0.43 3.20 Family conflication engloyed) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Family conflication for engloyed 0.51 0.13 0.35	Joint Family (ref: single)				1.55	1.05	2.28				0.94	0.56	1.55				0.79	0.48	1.32
Sufficient 2.76 1.00 7.60 0.83 0.31 2.27 1.02 0.32 3.22 Surplus 3.71 1.29 10.68 0.74 0.25 2.19 0.96 0.28 3.22 Area of residence-Kultmandu/Province 3 (ref) 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Palpa Province 5 0.59 0.52 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Eather education - illiterate (ref) 1.10 0.40 2.18 0.26 0.38 18.66 Do not know 0.36 0.55 1.51 0.90 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.21 Pather education - illiterate (ref) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.75 0.48 6.34 2.23 2.25 0.86 0.33 2.24 0.44 0.70 0.25 2.26 0.86 0.32 2.24 0.26 0.38 0.40 0.77 0.20 0.42 3.20 0.56 1.28 0.64	Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)																		
Surplus 3.71 1.29 10.68 0.74 0.25 2.19 0.96 0.28 3.23 Pakharu/Province 3 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Palup (Province 5 0.95 0.52 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Externate 0.95 1.89 52.24 1.80 0.38 8.48 3.60 0.61 18.66 Do not know 0.16 0.75 0.37 1.51 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Mother education - illiterate (ref) 0.85 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother education - illiterate (ref) 0.85 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.22 Faither employed (ref: not employed) 0.85 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.29 Sometimes 0.54 0.13 <td< td=""><td>Sufficient</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>2.76</td><td>1.00</td><td>7.60</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.83</td><td>0.31</td><td>2.27</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1.02</td><td>0.32</td><td>3.22</td></td<>	Sufficient				2.76	1.00	7.60				0.83	0.31	2.27				1.02	0.32	3.22
Area of residence-Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref) 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Palpa/Province 5 0.59 0.32 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Palpa Province 5 0.59 0.32 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Literate 9.95 1.89 52.24 1.80 0.38 8.48 3.36 0.61 8.66 Mother education - illiterate (ref) 1.51 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother-Hone maker (ref: other) 0.56 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.48 3.23 Do not know 0.56 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.91 1.02 1.17 0.48 3.24 Pather employed (ref. not employed) 0.56 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 0.75 3.31 Never 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.15 3.49 Never 0.54 0.13 2.07 2.13 0.66 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.17 Feiling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 0.54 0.13 2.16 0.39 0.30 2.17 1.49	Surplus				3.71	1.29	10.68				0.74	0.25	2.19				0.96	0.28	3.23
PokknavProvince 4 0.95 0.57 1.60 1.22 0.63 2.38 2.78 1.42 5.44 Palpa/Province 5 0.59 0.52 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Father education - illiterate (ref) 4.89 0.81 2.957 1.19 0.20 7.30 2.66 0.38 18.65 Do not know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother education - illiterate (ref) 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother education - illiterate (ref) 0.35 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.22 Pather employed (ref: no temployed) 0.35 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.42 0.32 6.84 Never 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 0.32 6.84 Never 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 0.21 6.8	Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)																		
Palap Province 5 0.59 0.52 1.11 0.94 0.40 2.19 0.73 0.29 1.84 Father education - illierate (ref) 9.95 1.89 52.24 1.80 0.38 8.48 3.36 0.61 18.66 Mother education - illierate (ref) 1.19 0.20 7.30 2.66 0.38 18.66 Literate 0.75 0.37 1.51 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother- Home maker (ref: other) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Family conflict-often (ref) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 0.22 1.17 0.43 3.20 Sometimes 1.38 0.40 4.78 1.31 0.24 7.89 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2	Pokhara/Province 4				0.95	0.57	1.60				1.22	0.63	2.38				2.78	1.42	5.44
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Palpa/Province 5				0.59	0.32	1.11				0.94	0.40	2.19				0.73	0.29	1.84
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Father education – illiterate (ref)																		
Do not know 4.89 0.81 29.57 1.19 0.20 7.30 2.66 0.38 18.63 Mother dectation - illiterate (ref) 0.75 0.37 1.51 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 1.36 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.37 1.01 0.72 0.42 1.22 Mother employed (ref: not employed) 0.85 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.22 Family conflict-other (ref) 0.75 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Pometines 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.63 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.43 2.66 6.84 Never 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.15 3.43 Do mostines 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.55 1.13 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.56 0.13 2.14 2.01 <td>Literate</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>9.95</td> <td>1.89</td> <td>52.24</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.80</td> <td>0.38</td> <td>8.48</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>3.36</td> <td>0.61</td> <td>18.66</td>	Literate				9.95	1.89	52.24				1.80	0.38	8.48				3.36	0.61	18.66
Mother education - illiterate (ref)International and the latterateInternational and the latterateInternational and the latterateLiterate 0.75 0.37 1.51 0.99 0.37 2.65 0.86 0.33 2.23 Do not know 0.85 0.52 3.55 1.75 0.48 6.34 1.22 0.34 4.40 Mother-Home maker (ref: other) 0.85 0.56 1.28 0.64 0.37 1.10 0.72 0.42 1.22 Faither employed) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 0.43 3.20 Faither employed 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.15 3.43 Sometimes 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.49 0.34 0.90 2.17 Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.49 0.44 0.91 2.17 Sometimes 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.36 0.17 4.38 0.37 0.18 4.30 Sometimes 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.30 0.31 2.47 Never 0.56 0.15	Do not know				4.89	0.81	29.57				1.19	0.20	7.30				2.66	0.38	18.63
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Mother education - illiterate (ref)						_,,												
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Literate				0.75	0.37	1.51				0.99	0.37	2.65				0.86	0.33	2 23
Mother-Home maker (ref: other) 1.25 1.25 1.64 0.37 1.10 1.22 0.42 1.22 Fahrer employed (ref: not employed) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Fahrer employed (ref: not employed) 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.19 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Sometimes 1.38 0.40 4.78 1.31 0.24 7.08 1.49 0.32 6.84 Never 0.91 0.25 3.20 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.71 0.15 3.43 Domestic violence often (ref) 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.56 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.25 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.29 Sometimes 1.32 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Never 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 <td>Do not know</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 36</td> <td>0.52</td> <td>3 55</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 75</td> <td>0.48</td> <td>6 34</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 22</td> <td>0.34</td> <td>4 40</td>	Do not know				1 36	0.52	3 55				1 75	0.48	6 34				1 22	0.34	4 40
Father employed (ref. not employed) Father employed (ref. not employed) Sometimes 0.35 0.16 0.76 0.44 0.17 1.02 1.17 0.43 3.20 Sometimes 1.38 0.40 4.78 1.31 0.24 7.08 1.49 0.32 6.84 Never 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.15 3.43 Domestic violence often (ref) 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Sometimes 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.51 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Sometimes 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.66 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 3.04 1.41 1.66 2.96 0.99 0.47 2.19	Mother-Home maker (ref: other)				0.85	0.56	1 28				0.64	0.37	1 10				0.72	0.42	1.22
Family conflict-often (ref) 0.50 0.11 0.11	Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.35	0.16	0.76				0.44	0.19	1.02				1 17	0.43	3 20
Sometimes 1.38 0.40 4.78 1.31 0.24 7.08 1.49 0.32 6.84 Never 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.15 3.43 Domestic violence often (ref) 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Sometimes 0.56 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Sometimes 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.	Family conflict often (ref)				0.55	0.10	0.70				0.44	0.19	1.02				1.17	0.45	5.20
Solutions 1.36 0.40 4.76 1.31 0.24 1.30 0.24 1.30 0.25 0.31 0.32 0.34 Never 0.91 0.25 3.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.71 0.32 0.34 Sometimes 0.54 0.14 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Sometimes 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Sometimes 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.31 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.22 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.79 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 <td>Sometimes</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 2 9</td> <td>0.40</td> <td>1 79</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 21</td> <td>0.24</td> <td>7.08</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.40</td> <td>0.22</td> <td>6.84</td>	Sometimes				1 2 9	0.40	1 79				1 21	0.24	7.08				1.40	0.22	6.84
Nevel 0.31 0.23 5.28 0.83 0.14 4.79 0.11 0.13 5.43 Domestic violence often (ref) 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Sometimes 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 1.21 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 <td>Novor</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.01</td> <td>0.40</td> <td>2.79</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.82</td> <td>0.24</td> <td>1.00</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.71</td> <td>0.52</td> <td>2 42</td>	Novor				0.01	0.40	2.79				0.82	0.24	1.00				0.71	0.52	2 42
Sometimes 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 3.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 0.56 0.15 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 1.14 1.36 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92	Never Demostie vielence often (ref)				0.91	0.23	3.28				0.85	0.14	4./9				0.71	0.15	5.45
Sometimes 0.54 0.13 2.30 0.65 0.11 5.79 0.41 0.07 2.45 Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.88 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 1.21 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 0.92 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1	Domestic violence often (ref)				0.54	0.12	2 20				0.65	0.11	2 70				0.41	0.07	2.45
Never 0.54 0.14 2.01 0.28 0.05 1.48 0.44 0.09 2.17 Sometimes 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.20 8.47 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 1.21 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.62 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.62 Privete Grandparents subschance 0.92 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03	Sometimes				0.54	0.13	2.30				0.05	0.11	5./9				0.41	0.07	2.45
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref) 1.32 0.75 2.31 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.31 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never	Never				0.54	0.14	2.01				0.28	0.05	1.48				0.44	0.09	2.17
Sometimes 1.32 0.75 2.51 0.95 0.47 1.91 0.68 0.51 1.49 Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.75 1.365 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 8.47 8.47 8.47 8.47 8.47 Solid re substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.61 0.79 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.02 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.292 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.02 Privets chered of the substance taken 0.10 0.92 0.91 1.62 0.92 0.82 0.92 0.82 0.92 Operation of the substance use (ref: no) 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 <td>reening love and bonding with parents often (ref)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.22</td> <td>0.75</td> <td>0.01</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.05</td> <td>0.47</td> <td>1.01</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.00</td> <td>0.21</td> <td>1 40</td>	reening love and bonding with parents often (ref)				1.22	0.75	0.01				0.05	0.47	1.01				0.00	0.21	1 40
Never 0.56 0.15 2.13 0.86 0.17 4.38 0.87 0.18 4.30 Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 7 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.92 2.64 0.83 0.47 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.62 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.02 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.22 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.02 Privet Sched (core score schede) 0.92 0.14 1.62 0.92 0.82 1.62	Sometimes				1.32	0.75	2.31				0.95	0.47	1.91				0.68	0.31	1.49
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref) 3.21 0.76 13.65 1.66 0.30 9.08 1.93 0.30 12.39 Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Father substance use (ref: no) 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.47 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 0.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.02 Drivets (shearl (ref: no)) 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03 Drivets (shearl (ref: no)) 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 0.12 1.62 Drivets (shearl (ref: no)) 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03 Drivets (shearl (ref: no)) 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 0.92 0.82 1.62 <	Never				0.56	0.15	2.13				0.86	0.17	4.38				0.87	0.18	4.30
Sometimes 2.69 0.63 11.41 1.38 0.25 7.57 1.31 0.20 8.47 Never Father substance use (ref: no) 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Internet at home (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03 Drivets folged (orf for govergre	Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.21	0.76	13.65				1.66	0.30	9.08				1.93	0.30	12.39
Never1.370.892.111.110.631.970.880.511.53Mother substance use (ref: no)1.570.922.670.990.472.072.511.264.97Sibling substance use (ref: no)1.680.923.041.410.672.960.990.452.19Grandparents substance use (ref: no)1.210.791.851.550.912.640.830.471.48Internet at home (ref: no)0.790.521.211.090.621.941.370.782.42Parental control/monitoring score0.940.861.031.030.921.170.920.821.03Private Substance use (net no)1.021.122.232.491.240.920.821.03	Sometimes				2.69	0.63	11.41				1.38	0.25	7.57				1.31	0.20	8.47
Father substance use (ref: no) 1.37 0.89 2.11 1.11 0.63 1.97 0.88 0.51 1.53 Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.62 Drivets (back (grift group metric sched) 1.21 1.22 2.49 1.24 0.92 0.81 1.62	Never																		
Mother substance use (ref: no) 1.57 0.92 2.67 0.99 0.47 2.07 2.51 1.26 4.97 Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.81 1.62 Drivets Ghard (ordific group metric schere) 1.21 1.22 1.24 0.92 0.81 1.62	Father substance use (ref: no)				1.37	0.89	2.11				1.11	0.63	1.97				0.88	0.51	1.53
Sibling substance use (ref: no) 1.68 0.92 3.04 1.41 0.67 2.96 0.99 0.45 2.19 Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.81 1.62	Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.57	0.92	2.67				0.99	0.47	2.07				2.51	1.26	4.97
Grandparents substance use (ref: no) 1.21 0.79 1.85 1.55 0.91 2.64 0.83 0.47 1.48 Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03	Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.68	0.92	3.04				1.41	0.67	2.96				0.99	0.45	2.19
Internet at home (ref: no) 0.79 0.52 1.21 1.09 0.62 1.94 1.37 0.78 2.42 Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03 Drivets Check (or figure grant scheck) 1.92 1.12 2.49 1.24 1.62	Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.21	0.79	1.85				1.55	0.91	2.64				0.83	0.47	1.48
Parental control/monitoring score 0.94 0.86 1.03 1.03 0.92 1.17 0.92 0.82 1.03	Internet at home (ref: no)				0.79	0.52	1.21				1.09	0.62	1.94				1.37	0.78	2.42
$102 115 232 \qquad 248 134 406 \qquad 0.82 0.41 1.62$	Parental control/monitoring score				0.94	0.86	1.03				1.03	0.92	1.17				0.92	0.82	1.03
rivate School (ref. government school) 1.95 1.15 5.25 2.46 1.24 4.90 0.62 0.41 1.05	Private School (ref: government school)				1.93	1.15	3.23				2.48	1.24	4.96				0.82	0.41	1.63
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)	Academic performance- second/third division (ref)																		
Distinction/first division 1.03 0.63 1.69 1.09 0.55 2.14 1.16 0.61 2.23	Distinction/first division				1.03	0.63	1.69				1.09	0.55	2.14				1.16	0.61	2.23
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no) 1.33 0.86 2.06 0.81 0.47 1.40 1.63 0.91 2.92	Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.33	0.86	2.06				0.81	0.47	1.40				1.63	0.91	2.92
Friend substance use (ref: no) 2.40 1.56 3.70 1.86 1.02 3.38 2.03 1.16 3.53	Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.40	1.56	3.70				1.86	1.02	3.38				2.03	1.16	3.53
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no) 1.05 0.57 1.95 1.69 0.77 3.71 4.76 2.48 9.15	Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.05	0.57	1.95				1.69	0.77	3.71				4.76	2.48	9.15
Peer pressure (ref: no) 2.12 1.12 4.02 2.31 1.07 4.97 3.88 1.81 8.33	Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.12	1.12	4.02				2.31	1.07	4.97				3.88	1.81	8.33
Teacher behave good (ref: no) 0.60 0.32 1.12 1.12 0.53 2.34 0.80 0.37 1.76	Teacher behave good (ref: no)				0.60	0.32	1.12				1.12	0.53	2.34				0.80	0.37	1.76
Teacher appreciate (ref: no) $1.61 \ 0.87 \ 3.00 \ 0.51 \ 0.26 \ 1.01 \ 3.76 \ 1.40 \ 7.61$	Teacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.61	0.87	3.00				0.51	0.26	1.01				3,26	1.40	7.61
f_{001} (b) f_{001} (c)	Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.93	0.50	1.74				0.70	0.33	1.50				0.73	0.34	1.59
Strict school miles/monitoring (ref. no.)	Strict school rules/monitoring (ref: no)				1 10	0.66	1.81				0.72	0.39	1 32				0.61	0.34	1.09
Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no) $2.14 - 0.88 - 5.19 = 0.92 - 0.30 - 2.81 = 1.50 - 0.49 - 4.58$	Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.14	0.88	5.19				0.92	0.30	2.81				1.50	0.49	4.58

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio 714.543, Neglkerke R square 0.298, Chi-square 190.701, and degree of freedom 45, Suicidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 467.518, Neglkerke R square 0.272, Chi-square 128.093, and degree of freedom 45, Sexual behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 472.496, Neglkerke R square 0.437, Chi-square 250.354, and degree of freedom 45, respectively.

Supplementary Table 3. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of PSS from friends on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

	Substance Use (Yes)								icidal Be	havior (Y	es)			S	Sexual bel	havior (Y	es)	
	C	rude Moc	lel	Ad	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Moo	del	Ad	justed Mo	odel	Ci	rude Moo	del	Ad	justed Mo	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
PSS from friends	0.94	0.92	0.97	0.97	0.94	1.00	0.93	0.90	0.96	0.96	0.92	0.99	0.94	0.91	0.96	0.96	0.92	1.00
Age				1.01	0.82	1 24				1.07	0.81	1 41				1.15	0.87	1.52
Say (raf: Mala)				0.63	0.41	0.07				4 10	2.17	7 77				0.20	0.16	0.52
Baligion others (ref. Hindu)				0.03	0.41	1.50				1.69	0.85	2 24				1.16	0.10	2 28
Rengion outers (iei, rinidu)				0.85	0.40	1.50				1.08	0.85	5.54				1.10	0.57	2.38
Invester				0.00	0.57	1.26				0.07	0.54	1 77				0.50	0.22	1.04
Janajati				0.60	0.37	1.30				0.97	0.34	1.//				0.59	0.33	1.04
				0.62	0.29	1.55				0.75	0.50	1.00				0.34	0.22	1.34
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.56	1.06	2.30				0.93	0.56	1.55				0.80	0.48	1.32
Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)				2 0 5	1.04	- 06				0.00	0.00	a ao				1.04	0.00	2.20
Sufficient				2.85	1.04	7.86				0.88	0.32	2.39				1.04	0.33	3.30
Surplus				3.79	1.32	10.91				0.80	0.27	2.38				1.01	0.30	3.45
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)																		
Pokhara/Province 4				0.95	0.57	1.59				1.26	0.65	2.45				2.87	1.46	5.66
Palpa/Province 5				0.58	0.31	1.08				0.96	0.41	2.24				0.78	0.31	1.95
Father education – illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				10.63	2.00	56.43				1.69	0.36	8.00				3.24	0.59	17.88
Do not know				5.49	0.90	33.40				1.12	0.18	6.79				2.54	0.37	17.64
Mother education - illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				0.71	0.35	1.44				1.00	0.37	2.69				0.85	0.33	2.22
Do not know				1.27	0.49	3.29				1.80	0.50	6.49				1.22	0.34	4.41
Mother- Home maker (ref: other)				0.87	0.58	1.31				0.64	0.37	1.10				0.72	0.42	1.22
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.34	0.16	0.73				0.43	0.19	0.97				1.16	0.42	3.21
Family conflict-often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.17	0.35	3.89				1.08	0.22	5.37				1.45	0.31	6.70
Never				0.77	0.22	2.68				0.68	0.13	3.58				0.69	0.14	3.36
Domestic violence often (ref)																		
Sometimes				0.60	0.14	2.60				0.70	0.12	4.02				0.47	0.08	2.80
Never				0.59	0.15	2.25				0.31	0.06	1.58				0.48	0.10	2.35
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.36	0.78	2.39				1.00	0.50	2.00				0.67	0.30	1.47
Never				0.61	0.17	2.23				0.94	0.20	4 50				0.96	0.20	4 71
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3 16	0.75	13 32				1 74	0.32	9.52				1.90	0.31	11.68
Sometimes				2.56	0.61	10.78				1 40	0.26	7.63				1 31	0.21	8 05
Never				2.00	0.01	101/0					0.20	1100				1101	0.21	0.05
Father substance use (ref. no)				1 36	0.88	2.09				1 1 5	0.65	2.04				0.92	0.53	1.61
Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.61	0.95	2 75				0.96	0.45	2.03				2 49	1 25	4 94
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.62	0.89	2.93				1 35	0.13	2.05				0.99	0.45	2 18
Grandnarents substance use (ref: no)				1 21	0.80	1.85				1.50	0.88	2.56				0.81	0.46	1 44
Internet at home (ref. no)				0.79	0.52	1.00				1 10	0.62	1.95				1 41	0.80	2.50
Parental control/monitoring score				0.94	0.52	1.03				1.10	0.02	1.16				0.92	0.80	1.04
Private School (ref: government school)				1 07	1 1 8	3 20				2.45	1 23	1.10				0.92	0.02	1.63
A cademic performance second/third division (ref)				1.77	1.10	5.27				2.45	1.25	4.00				0.02	0.41	1.05
Distinction/first division				1.02	0.62	1.66				1.07	0.54	2.00				1 1 8	0.62	2.28
East not most academic avecatation (rafi no)				1.02	0.02	2.00				0.77	0.34	1 22				1.10	0.02	2.20
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2 41	1.56	2.00				1 00	1.04	3.46				1.00	1 14	2.05
Friend substance use (fef. no)				2.41	0.57	1.04				1.50	0.75	2.56				1.99	2.57	0.50
Phone processing (ref: no)				2 21	1.17	1.94				2 42	0.75	5.30				4.94	2.37	9.50
Tencher habeve good (ref: no)				2.21	1.17	4.19				2.45	1.14	2.12				5.01 0.79	1.79	0.14
Teacher annaoiste (ref. no)				1.50	0.50	2.01				1.05	0.30	2.13				0.70	0.50	1.00
Cood relation between student and teacher (ref. no)				1.50	0.64	2.91				0.55	0.27	1.00				5.44 0.76	1.4/	0.00
Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.92	0.49	1./1				0.08	0.32	1.45				0.70	0.35	1.00
Strict school rules/monitoring (rel: no)				1.07	0.65	1.70				0.69	0.38	1.20				0.63	0.35	1.12
Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.30	0.95	5.57				0.98	0.32	2.96				1.56	0.50	4.84

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio 719.836, Neglkerke R square 0.290, Chi-square 185.408, and degree of freedom 45, Suicidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 468.928, Neglkerke R square 0.269, Chi-square 126.683, and degree of freedom 45, Sexual behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 470.182, Neglkerke R square 0.440, Chi-square 252.668, and degree of freedom 45, respectively.

Supplementary Table 4. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of PSS from significant others on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

			Substance	e Use (Ye	s)			Su	icidal Be	havior (Y	es)			S	Sexual be	havior (Y	es)	
	C	rude Mod	el	Ad	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Moo	del	Ad	justed Me	odel	C	rude Moo	del	Ad	justed Mo	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
PSS from other significant persons	0.97	0.94	0.99	1.00	0.96	1.03	0.96	0.93	0.99	0.97	0.93	1.01	0.96	0.94	0.99	0.99	0.95	1.03
Age				1.01	0.82	1.25				1.08	0.82	1.42				1.15	0.88	1.52
Sex (ref: Male)				0.63	0.41	0.96				3 99	2.12	7 53				0.28	0.16	0.51
Religion others (ref: Hindu)				0.86	0.47	1 54				1 70	0.86	3 38				1 18	0.58	2 40
Brahmin/Chbetri ethnicity (ref)				0.00	0.17	1.5 1				1.70	0.00	5.50				1.10	0.50	2.10
Innaiati				0.87	0.56	1 34				0.94	0.52	1 70				0.58	0.33	1.03
Others				0.63	0.30	1 34				0.75	0.30	1.86				0.50	0.22	1 33
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.57	1.07	2 31				0.96	0.58	1.50				0.80	0.48	1.32
Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)				1.57	1.07	2.51				0.70	0.50	1.57				0.00	0.10	1.52
Sufficient				2.78	1.01	7.63				0.82	0.30	2 22				1.00	0.32	3 16
Surplus				3.61	1.26	10.35				0.73	0.25	2.14				0.95	0.28	3.20
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)																		
Pokhara/Province 4				0.93	0.56	1.56				1.24	0.64	2.40				2.79	1.42	5.45
Palpa/Province 5				0.58	0.31	1.08				0.99	0.43	2.29				0.72	0.29	1.82
Father education – illiterate (ref)												,					,	
Literate				10.33	1.95	54.60				1.66	0.36	7.74				3.44	0.62	19.06
Do not know				5.46	0.90	33.25				1.09	0.18	6.64				2.80	0.40	19.53
Mother education - illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				0.71	0.35	1.45				1.01	0.38	2.70				0.84	0.32	2.15
Do not know				1.25	0.48	3.26				1.79	0.49	6.47				1.15	0.32	4.13
Mother- Home maker (ref: other)				0.87	0.58	1.32				0.63	0.37	1.09				0.72	0.42	1.22
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.34	0.16	0.73				0.42	0.19	0.97				1.15	0.42	3.17
Family conflict-often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.14	0.34	3.79				0.99	0.20	4.85				1.37	0.30	6.19
Never				0.75	0.22	2.60				0.63	0.12	3.30				0.65	0.14	3.10
Domestic violence often (ref)																		
Sometimes				0.55	0.13	2.39				0.65	0.11	3.75				0.42	0.07	2.53
Never				0.56	0.15	2.15				0.31	0.06	1.57				0.46	0.09	2.27
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.42	0.81	2.48				1.04	0.52	2.07				0.67	0.30	1.48
Never				0.58	0.15	2.17				1.00	0.20	4.92				0.91	0.18	4.48
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.17	0.76	13.29				1.75	0.33	9.36				1.86	0.30	11.66
Sometimes				2.48	0.59	10.41				1.33	0.25	7.13				1.25	0.20	7.84
Never																		
Father substance use (ref: no)				1.30	0.85	2.00				1.12	0.63	1.98				0.87	0.50	1.52
Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.63	0.96	2.78				1.01	0.48	2.12				2.57	1.30	5.08
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.63	0.90	2.96				1.38	0.66	2.90				0.98	0.44	2.15
Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.23	0.81	1.87				1.55	0.91	2.64				0.84	0.47	1.49
Internet at home (ref: no)				0.79	0.52	1.21				1.10	0.62	1.95				1.37	0.78	2.42
Parental control/monitoring score				0.93	0.85	1.02				1.04	0.92	1.17				0.92	0.82	1.03
Private School (ref: government school)				1.96	1.17	3.28				2.50	1.25	4.98				0.82	0.41	1.63
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)				· · -														
Distinction/first division				0.97	0.60	1.59				1.05	0.54	2.05				1.14	0.60	2.19
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.32	0.85	2.04				0.78	0.45	1.35				1.62	0.90	2.90
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.45	1.59	3.76				1.94	1.07	3.52				2.03	1.17	3.54
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.06	0.57	1.95				1.64	0.75	3.57				4.77	2.49	9.16
Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.23	1.17	4.24				2.35	1.10	5.04				3.95	1.84	8.47
reacher benave good (ref: no)				0.55	0.30	1.03				1.04	0.50	2.15				0.76	0.35	1.05
reacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.44	0.78	2.00				0.49	0.25	0.96				3.20	1.5/	/.45
Good relation between student and teacher (ref. no)				0.92	0.49	1./1				0.08	0.32	1.44				0.75	0.34	1.39
Surici school rules/monitoring (ref: no)				1.04	0.03	1./1				0.68	0.5/	1.24				0.60	0.55	1.0/
Substance onered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.21	0.94	5.50				1.02	0.54	3.08				1.55	0.51	4./1

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio for 722.578, Neglkerke R square 0.287, Chi-square 182.666, and degree of freedom 45, Suicidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 470.958, Neglkerke R square 0.265, Chi-square 124.653, and degree of freedom 45, respectively.

Supplementary Table 5. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of family SC on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

	Substance Use (Yes)							Sı	icidal Be	havior (Y	es)			5	Sexual be	havior (Y	es)	
	С	rude Mod	el	Ad	liusted Mo	odel	С	rude Mo	del	Àd	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Moo	del	Ac	liusted Mo	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
Family social canital	0.82	0.76	0.88	0.83	0.75	0.93	0.78	0.72	0.86	0.80	0.70	0.92	0.88	0.81	0.96	0.87	0.75	1 01
	0.02	00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	00		0.00		0.04	1.47	0.00	0.01	0.00		0.07	1.01
Age				1.02	0.82	1.26				1.11	0.84	1.47				1.15	0.87	1.51
Sex (ref: Male)				0.61	0.40	0.94				4.13	2.16	7.92				0.27	0.15	0.49
Religion others (ref: Hindu)				0.83	0.46	1.51				1.60	0.79	3.23				1.17	0.57	2.37
Brahmin/Chhetri ethnicity (ref)																		
Janajati				0.86	0.55	1.33				0.97	0.53	1.78				0.57	0.32	1.02
Others				0.67	0.32	1.42				0.80	0.32	2.01				0.58	0.24	1.42
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.59	1.08	2.35				0.99	0.59	1.65				0.81	0.49	1.34
Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)																		
Sufficient				3.01	1.09	8.26				0.91	0.33	2.48				1.12	0.35	3.54
Surplus				3.80	1.32	10.92				0.74	0.25	2.19				1.00	0.30	3.40
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)																		
Pokhara/Province 4				0.94	0.56	1.58				1.12	0.57	2.22				2.83	1.45	5.55
Palpa/Province 5				0.62	0.33	1.16				1.02	0.44	2.38				0.74	0.29	1.87
Father education – illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				10.24	1.88	55.88				1.68	0.34	8.17				3.64	0.64	20.59
Do not know				5.45	0.86	34.43				1.27	0.20	8.09				2.99	0.42	21.29
Mother education - illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				0.74	0.36	1.52				1.02	0.38	2.73				0.86	0.33	2 23
Do not know				1 20	0.45	3 19				1 53	0.42	5.65				1 12	0.31	4.06
Mother-Home maker (ref: other)				0.88	0.58	1 32				0.65	0.37	1 13				0.73	0.43	1.00
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.33	0.16	0.71				0.05	0.17	0.03				1 10	0.15	2.96
Family conflict often (ref)				0.55	0.10	0.71				0.40	0.17	0.95				1.10	0.41	2.90
Sometimes				1.41	0.41	1.96				1 42	0.27	7.51				1.62	0.25	7.61
Novor				0.08	0.41	2.52				1.42	0.27	5.01				0.80	0.55	2.00
Demostie vielence often (ref)				0.96	0.27	5.52				1.04	0.16	5.91				0.80	0.10	3.99
Sometimes				0.47	0.11	2.05				0.47	0.00	2.75				0.20	0.06	2 20
News				0.47	0.11	2.05				0.47	0.08	2.75				0.39	0.00	2.30
Never				0.47	0.12	1.64				0.21	0.04	1.09				0.42	0.08	2.15
Section of the sectio				1.04	0.57	1.00				0.72	0.25	1 5 4				0.52	0.22	1.22
Sometimes				1.04	0.57	1.90				0.75	0.35	1.54				0.52	0.22	1.22
Never				0.35	0.09	1.40				0.48	0.09	2.66				0.60	0.11	3.24
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.48	0.82	14.81				2.30	0.42	12.44				1.90	0.30	12.04
Sometimes				3.04	0./1	13.08				1.98	0.36	10.96				1.38	0.22	8.85
Never				1 20	0.04	1.00				1.07	0.00	1.02				0.00	0.51	1.54
Father substance use (ref: no)				1.29	0.84	1.98				1.07	0.60	1.93				0.88	0.51	1.54
Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.65	0.97	2.81				1.05	0.50	2.21				2.59	1.31	5.11
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.64	0.89	2.99				1.33	0.63	2.80				0.98	0.44	2.16
Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.21	0.80	1.85				1.62	0.94	2.80				0.83	0.47	1.47
Internet at home (ref: no)				0.77	0.50	1.19				1.12	0.63	2.00				1.35	0.76	2.39
Parental control/monitoring score				0.97	0.88	1.06				1.07	0.94	1.20				0.94	0.83	1.05
Private School (ref: government school)				2.06	1.22	3.45				2.83	1.39	5.76				0.84	0.42	1.68
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)																		
Distinction/first division				1.08	0.66	1.76				1.09	0.56	2.14				1.27	0.66	2.45
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.34	0.87	2.08				0.86	0.49	1.51				1.65	0.92	2.96
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.38	1.54	3.67				1.94	1.05	3.57				1.97	1.13	3.44
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.06	0.57	1.97				1.68	0.75	3.76				4.77	2.48	9.18
Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.31	1.21	4.41				2.52	1.15	5.53				4.10	1.91	8.80
Teacher behave good (ref: no)				0.57	0.31	1.07				1.06	0.51	2.23				0.80	0.37	1.74
Teacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.50	0.81	2.76				0.46	0.23	0.92				3.26	1.40	7.62
Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.91	0.48	1.70				0.72	0.34	1.52				0.71	0.32	1.55
Strict school rules/monitoring (ref: no)				1.05	0.63	1.74				0.68	0.37	1.26				0.61	0.34	1.10
Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.23	0.90	5.48				0.93	0.29	2.94				1.52	0.50	4.60

Model summary for Substance User: -2 log likelihood ratio 710.990, Neglkerke R square 0.302, Chi-square 193.408, and degree of freedom 45, Sucidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 456.490, Neglkerke R square 0.286, Chi-square 134.261, and degree of freedom 45, sexual behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 456.490, Neglkerke R square 0.286, Chi-square 134.261, and degree of freedom 45, respectively.

Supplementary Table 6. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of school SC on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

			Substance	e Use (Ye	s)			Sı	iicidal Be	havior (Y	es)			5	Sexual be	havior (Y	es)	
	C	rude Mod	el	Ad	justed Mo	odel	С	rude Mo	del	Ad	justed Me	odel	C	rude Mo	del	Ad	ljusted M	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
School social capital	0.93	0.89	0.97	1.00	0.94	1.05	0.87	0.83	0.92	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.91	0.87	0.95	0.98	0.91	1.04
Δ αe				1.01	0.82	1 25				1.08	0.82	1 43				1 1 5	0.87	1.51
Sev (ref: Male)				0.62	0.82	0.05				3 70	2.01	7 12				0.28	0.07	0.51
Paligion others (ref: Hindu)				0.02	0.48	1.54				1 70	0.85	3 30				1 17	0.10	2 38
Drohmin/Chhatri athniaity (raf)				0.80	0.40	1.54				1.70	0.85	5.59				1.1/	0.57	2.38
Janaiati				0.87	0.56	1.24				0.05	0.52	1 72				0.58	0.22	1.02
Others				0.67	0.30	1.34				0.95	0.32	1.75				0.58	0.33	1.05
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.58	1.07	2 32				0.74	0.50	1.59				0.55	0.22	1.34
Family Income Hardly sufficient (ref)				1.56	1.07	2.32				0.90	0.58	1.56				0.00	0.40	1.54
Sufficient				2.80	1.02	7 70				0.84	0.31	2.26				1.02	0.33	3 21
Sumble				3.61	1.02	10.36				0.72	0.24	2.20				0.94	0.33	3.17
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)				5.01	1.20	10.50				0.72	0.24	2.11				0.74	0.20	5.17
Pokhara/Province 4				0.94	0.56	1 56				1 36	0.70	2 65				2.82	1 44	5 51
Palpa/Province 5				0.54	0.31	1.08				1.02	0.70	2.05				0.74	0.29	1.86
Father education – illiterate (ref)				0.50	0.51	1.00				1.02	0.44	2.55				0.74	0.27	1.00
Literate				10.40	1.96	55.05				1.67	0.36	7 70				3 30	0.61	18 75
Do not know				5 49	0.90	33 47				1.17	0.20	6.90				2 79	0.40	19.34
Mother education - illiterate (ref)				5.15	0.70	55.17				1.17	0.20	0.90				2.19	0.10	17.51
Literate				0.71	0.35	1 45				0.98	0.36	2.66				0.83	0.32	2 15
Do not know				1 24	0.35	3 26				1.68	0.30	6.11				1 15	0.32	4 14
Mother-Home maker (ref: other)				0.88	0.59	1 32				0.64	0.37	1 11				0.72	0.32	1.22
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.34	0.16	0.72				0.40	0.18	0.92				1 11	0.41	3 01
Family conflict-often (ref)				0.51	0.10	0.72				0.10	0.10	0.72					0.11	5.01
Sometimes				1 14	0.34	3.81				0.97	0.20	4 77				1 36	0.30	6 19
Never				0.76	0.22	2.62				0.65	0.12	3 43				0.65	0.14	3 13
Domestic violence often (ref)				0170	0.22	2.02				0.00	0.12	5115				0.00	0111	5115
Sometimes				0.55	0.13	2.38				0.62	0.11	3 48				0 44	0.07	2.64
Never				0.56	0.15	2.14				0.28	0.06	1 39				0.47	0.09	2.38
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref)				0.00	0110	2				0.20	0.00	1107				0.17	0105	2.00
Sometimes				1.42	0.81	2.48				1.05	0.52	2.12				0.66	0.30	1 48
Never				0.57	0.15	2.12				0.87	0.17	4.31				0.90	0.18	4.40
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.14	0.75	13.17				1.72	0.32	9.15				1.81	0.29	11.39
Sometimes				2.46	0.59	10.32				1.35	0.25	7.22				1.24	0.20	7.83
Never																		
Father substance use (ref: no)				1.29	0.85	1.98				1.11	0.63	1.96				0.88	0.50	1.53
Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.63	0.96	2.77				1.00	0.47	2.11				2.57	1.30	5.07
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.63	0.90	2.95				1.34	0.63	2.85				0.98	0.44	2.16
Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.23	0.81	1.86				1.50	0.88	2.57				0.83	0.47	1.47
Internet at home (ref: no)				0.79	0.51	1.20				1.00	0.56	1.78				1.34	0.76	2.37
Parental control/monitoring score				0.93	0.85	1.02				1.05	0.93	1.19				0.92	0.82	1.03
Private School (ref: government school)				1.96	1.17	3.28				2.74	1.36	5.53				0.83	0.42	1.67
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)																		
Distinction/first division				0.97	0.59	1.58				1.05	0.53	2.07				1.16	0.60	2.22
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.31	0.85	2.03				0.76	0.44	1.31				1.57	0.88	2.83
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.45	1.60	3.77				1.90	1.04	3.45				2.02	1.16	3.52
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.06	0.57	1.95				1.60	0.73	3.51				4.79	2.50	9.20
Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.25	1.18	4.26				2.34	1.09	5.01				3.98	1.86	8.51
Teacher behave good (ref: no)				0.56	0.30	1.03				1.10	0.53	2.31				0.76	0.35	1.64
Teacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.43	0.78	2.64				0.49	0.25	0.98				3.25	1.39	7.61
Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.92	0.49	1.73				0.78	0.36	1.68				0.76	0.34	1.66
Strict school rules/monitoring (ref: no)				1.04	0.63	1.73				0.76	0.41	1.40				0.62	0.34	1.12
Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)				2.24	0.92	5.44				0.83	0.27	2.51				1.47	0.48	4.50

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio 472.582, Neglkerke R square 0.287, Chi-square 182.539 and degree of freedom 45, Sucidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 466.777, Neglkerke R square 0.273, Chi-square 128.627 and degree of freedom 45, respectively.

variables including demographic, SES, failing and school factors ($n = 945$)	Substance Use (Yes)								uicidal Be	havior (Y	(es)			5	Sexual be	havior (Y	es)	
	0	rude Mo	del	Ac	ljusted Mo	odel	(Crude Mo	del	Àd	justed M	odel	C	rude Mo	del	A	ljusted M	odel
	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI	OR	LCI	UCI
Neighborhood social capital	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.96	0.90	1.03	0.91	0.85	0.98	0.97	0.89	1.06	0.97	0.91	1.03	1.01	0.92	1.10
Age				1.01	0.82	1.24				1.08	0.82	1.43				1.16	0.88	1.52
Sex (ref: Male)				0.62	0.40	0.94				3.91	2.07	7.38				0.29	0.16	0.52
Religion others (ref: Hindu)				0.84	0.46	1.51				1.67	0.84	3.34				1.19	0.58	2.44
Brahmin/Chhetri ethnicity (ref)																		
Janajati				0.88	0.57	1.36				0.94	0.52	1.72				0.58	0.33	1.02
Others				0.63	0.30	1.34				0.75	0.30	1.86				0.54	0.22	1.33
Joint Family (ref: single)				1.57	1.07	2.31				0.97	0.59	1.60				0.80	0.48	1.33
Family Income- Hardly sufficient (ref)																		
Sufficient				2.83	1.03	7.76				0.84	0.31	2.25				1.02	0.32	3.22
Surplus				3.61	1.26	10.34				0.71	0.24	2.08				0.96	0.28	3.24
Area of residence- Kathmandu/Province 3 (ref)																		
Pokhara/Province 4				0.96	0.57	1.60				1.25	0.64	2.41				2.73	1.40	5.34
Palpa/Province 5				0.60	0.32	1.11				0.99	0.43	2.28				0.70	0.28	1.76
Father education – illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				10.77	2.02	57.32				1.66	0.36	7.73				3.48	0.62	19.34
Do not know				5.66	0.93	34.59				1.13	0.19	6.83				2.88	0.41	20.09
Mother education - illiterate (ref)																		
Literate				0.69	0.34	1.40				0.98	0.36	2.63				0.85	0.33	2.20
Do not know				1.20	0.46	3.13				1.70	0.47	6.15				1.15	0.32	4.16
Mother- Home maker (ref: other)				0.87	0.58	1.30				0.65	0.38	1.11				0.73	0.43	1.23
Father employed (ref: not employed)				0.34	0.16	0.72				0.41	0.18	0.93				1.13	0.41	3.05
Family conflict-often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.19	0.36	3.97				1.04	0.21	5.15				1.36	0.30	6.15
Never				0.80	0.23	2.79				0.65	0.12	3.45				0.64	0.13	3.07
Domestic violence often (ref)																		
Sometimes				0.54	0.12	2.36				0.59	0.11	3.33				0.42	0.07	2.48
Never				0.57	0.15	2.19				0.28	0.06	1.40				0.44	0.09	2.22
Feeling love and bonding with parents often (ref)																		
Sometimes				1.41	0.81	2.47				1.06	0.53	2.13				0.67	0.30	1.48
Never				0.55	0.15	2.07				0.83	0.17	4.13				0.89	0.18	4.39
Verbal/emotional abuse often (ref)				3.14	0.75	13.15				1.79	0.34	9.54				1.79	0.29	11.00
Sometimes				2.48	0.59	10.37				1.36	0.25	7.28				1.20	0.20	7.37
Never																		
Father substance use (ref: no)				1.31	0.85	2.00				1.07	0.60	1.88				0.87	0.50	1.50
Mother substance use (ref: no)				1.60	0.94	2.73				1.02	0.49	2.13				2.61	1.32	5.17
Sibling substance use (ref: no)				1.66	0.92	3.02				1.36	0.65	2.85				0.97	0.44	2.13
Grandparents substance use (ref: no)				1.23	0.81	1.87				1.52	0.89	2.59				0.84	0.48	1.49
Internet at home (ref: no)				0.79	0.52	1.21				1.08	0.61	1.91				1.37	0.77	2.41
Parental control/monitoring score				0.94	0.86	1.03				1.03	0.91	1.16				0.91	0.81	1.02
Private School (ref: government school)				1.97	1.18	3.29				2.53	1.27	5.05				0.81	0.41	1.62
Academic performance- second/third division (ref)																		
Distinction/first division				0.98	0.60	1.60				1.02	0.52	1.98				1.14	0.60	2.19
Feel not meet academic expectation (ref: no)				1.30	0.84	2.01				0.78	0.45	1.36				1.64	0.91	2.94
Friend substance use (ref: no)				2.47	1.60	3.80				1.98	1.09	3.60				2.02	1.16	3.51
Friends involvement in sexual behavior (ref: no)				1.06	0.58	1.96				1.66	0.76	3.62				4.78	2.49	9.18
Peer pressure (ref: no)				2.22	1.17	4.21				2.40	1.11	5.16				4.04	1.89	8.64
Teacher behave good (ref: no)				0.57	0.31	1.05				1.01	0.49	2.09				0.75	0.35	1.61
Teacher appreciate (ref: no)				1.45	0.79	2.68				0.48	0.24	0.94				3.13	1.34	7.30
Good relation between student and teacher (ref: no)				0.91	0.49	1.70				0.70	0.33	1.50				0.73	0.34	1.60

Supplementary Table 7. Logistic regression value of odds ratio and level of significance for the effect of Neighborhood SC on substance use, suicidal behavior and sexual behavior of adolescents controlling all other variables including demographic, SES, family and school factors (n = 943)

Model summary for Substance Use: -2 log likelihood ratio 721.432, Neglkerke R square 0.288, Chi-square 183.812, and degree of freedom 45, Suicidal behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 472.590, Neglkerke R square 0.262, Chi-square 123.021, and degree of freedom 45, Sexual behavior: -2 log likelihood ratio 473.144, Neglkerke R square 0.436, Chi-square 249.706, and degree of freedom 45, respectively

0.64

0.90

1.74

5.32

0.68

0.94

0.37

0.31

1.24

2.84

0.59

1.54

0.33

0.51

1.06

4.66

1.06

2.19

Strict school rules/monitoring (ref: no)

Substance offered/available at school territory (ref: no)

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Okayama Prefectural University, Soja for providing the opportunity to do doctorate in nursing, which really made my dream come true. I also would like to thank Tribhuvan University and Institute of Medicine, Nepal.

Foremost, I heartily thank to my advisors Prof. Sachiko Inoue and Prof. Tetsuya Ogino for their consistent support, encouragement, patience, guidance, enthusiasm, immense knowledge and all of their invaluable inputs for my Ph D study and research. I am indebted to my advisors for all the care, continued support and effort towards me from the very first day of my entry into this university up to the completion of the course. The endless guidance, tireless time to read, review and provide valuable suggestions to my work by my Professors is hard to forget throughout my life and I am very lucky to get the guidance from such an expert, kind and genuine supervisors. The words are never sufficient to express how grateful I am, I have learned a lot from you both. Thank you so much for making this possible, without whom I would not have been able to made it through.

I am very lucky and pleased to be part of the Graduate School of Health and Welfare Science and would like to pay the special thanks to the Dean Prof. Hideyuki Ito, HOD of Faculty of Health and Welfare Science, Prof. Katsuko Okimoto, HOD, Nursing Science. I am very thankful to all the teachers/faculty of Department of Health and Welfare Science and Faculty of Nursing Science. My immense thanks go to all the respected teachers of the thesis committee for their encouragement, insightful comments, questions, feedback and guidance, which incented me to widen my research from various perspectives. Their valuable comments and feedbacks for the improvement from the very first presentation of my thesis proposal up to the final presentation of my thesis was immensely important.

My sincere gratitude goes to all the staffs in administration department, staffs of Library and staffs of the department of International Exchange Centre, OPU, Soja for all the support and help. It's my pleasure to appreciate all of those with whom I have had the pleasure to work during these three years period. I would like to thank all the friends in my lab for all the support and encouragement that I obtained in these three years period.

My special thanks go to the Department of Education, Office of Education, Schools and all the participants in Nepal without whom the research would not have been possible. I am grateful to Prof. Vikash K.C., Prof. Prakash Upadhyaya, Prof. Sukra Raj Adhikari, Mr. Bibhav Adhikari, Mr. Padam Raj Acharya and Mr. Nabaraj Dhakal for their help on different aspect of the research, especially the research instrument including the translation and statistical aspect.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank all who directly and indirectly helped me in this endeavor.

REFERENCES

- Abel, W. D., Sewell, C., Martin, J. S., Bailey-Davidson, Y., & Fox, K. (2012). Suicide ideation in Jamaican youth: sociodemographic prevalence, protective and risk factors. *West Indian Medical Journal*, 61(5), 521-525.
- Abdul Gafoor, K., & Kurukkan, A. (2014). Construction and validation of Scale of Parenting Style. *Guru Journal of Behavioral and Social Sciences*, 2(4), 315-323.
- Abraham, K. A. (2010). Study on the Self-Esteem and Social Relations of Adolescents with Learning Disability. Thesis on Master of Philosophy (Social Work), Christ University, Bangalore, India. Available from http://repository.christuniversity.in/1857/1/thesis_deepu_abraham.pdf
- Adhikari, R., & Tamang, J. (2009). Premarital sexual behavior among male college students of Kathmandu, Nepal. *BMC public health*, 9(1), 241. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-241
- Adhikari, R. P., Upadhaya, N., Pokhrel, R., Suwal, B. R., Shrestha, M. P., & Subedi,
 P. K. (2016). Health and Social Vulnerability of Adolescents in Nepal. *SMJ Public Health Epidemiol*, 2(3), 1032. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7791-0
- Ahlborg, M. G., Svedberg, P., Nyholm, M., Morgan, A., & Nygren, J. M. (2019). Into the realm of social capital for adolescents: A latent profile analysis. *PloS one*, 14(2), e0212564.
- Akdemir, D., Çak, T., Aslan, C., Aydos, B. S., Nalbant, K., & Çuhadaroğlu-Çetin, F. (2016). Predictors of self-esteem in adolescents with a psychiatric referral. *Turkish journal of pediatrics*, 58(1).
- Alami, A., Khosravan, S., Moghadam, L. S., Pakravan, F., & Hosseni, F. (2014). Adolescents' self-esteem in single and two-parent families. *International journal of community-based nursing and midwifery*, 2(2), 69.
- Alonso-Stuyck, P. (2019). Which Parenting Style Encourages Healthy Lifestyles in Teenage Children? Proposal for a Model of Integrative Parenting Styles. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, *16*, 2057. doi:10.3390/ijerph16112057.
- Anli, I., & Karsli, T., A. (2010). Perceived parenting style, depression and anxiety levels in a Turkish late-adolescent population. *Procedia-Soc. Behav. Sci.* doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.091.
- Areepattamannil, S. (2010). Parenting practices, parenting style, and children's school achievement. *Psychological Studies*, *55*(4), 283-289.
- Aryal, K. K., Bista, B., Khadka, B. B., Pandey, A. R., Mehta, R., Jha, B. K., Kann, L., Riley, L. M., Yamakawa, Y., Rani, M., Agrawal, N., & Karki, K. B. (2017). *Global school-based student health survey Nepal, 2015*. Nepal Health Research Council.
- Åslund, C., & Nilsson, K. W. (2013). Social capital in relation to alcohol consumption, smoking, and illicit drug use among adolescents: a crosssectional study in Sweden. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *12*(1), 33. doi: 10.1186/1475-9276-12-33
- Aunola, K., Stattin, H., & Nurmi, J. E. (2000). Parenting styles and adolescents' achievement strategies. *Journal of adolescence*, *23*(2), 205-222. doi:10.1006/jado.2000.0308
- Bae, S. M. (2019). Individual and social stress, social capital, and depressive symptoms as predictors of adolescent suicide in South Korea: A mediated

moderation model. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 1359105319847257. doi: 10.1177/1359105319847257

Bannink, R., Pearce, A., & Hope, S. (2016). Family income and young adolescents perceived social position: Associations with self-esteem and life satisfaction in the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *Arch. Dis. Child*, 101, 917–921. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2015-309651.

Banstola, R. S. (2017). Psychosocial Problem among School-going Adolescents in Pokhara, Western Nepal. Janapriya Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 6, 121-133.

Baumrind, D., & Thompson, R. A. (2002). The ethics of parenting. Handbook of Parenting Volume 5 Practical Issues in Parenting, 3.

Bendtsen, P. (2013). Adolescent alcohol use: The role of family, school, community and country. Doctoral Dessertation, Københavns Universitet, Denmark.

Bornstein, M., H. (2002). *Biology and Ecology of Parenting. Handbook of Parenting.* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., Publishers, 10 Industrial Avenue Mahwah, New Jersey 07430.

Brassai, L. (2011). *Meaning in life as protective factor for adolescent's health behavior*. PhD Thesis, School of Mental Health Sciences, Semmelweis University of Medicine.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Harvard university press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental psychology*, 22(6), 723.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2007). The bioecological model of human development. *Handbook of child psychology*, *1*.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (2009). The ecology of human development. Harvard university press. Available from https://books.google.co.jp/books?hl=en&lr=&id=8cf0FYm0jW0C&oi=fnd &pg=PR17&dq=Uric+Bronfenbrenner

Burešová, I., Bartošová, K., & Čerňák, M. (2015). Connection between parenting styles and self-harm in adolescence. *Procedia-social and behavioral sciences*, *171*, 1106-1113. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.272

Çakar, F. S., & Tagay, Ö. (2017). The mediating role of self-esteem: the effects of social support and subjective well-being on adolescents' risky behaviors. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 17(3), 859-876. doi: 10.12738/estp.2017.3.0024

Central Bureau of Statistics. (2014). Population Monograph of Nepal. Government of Nepal. Available from

https://mohp.gov.np/downloads/Population%20Monograph%20V01.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Adolescent and School Health, Why Schools? Schools: The right place for a healthy start. *The centers for disease control and prevention*. Available from https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/about/why_schools.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). 2017 National Youth Risk Behavior Survey. Available from https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/2017/2017_yrbs_national_ hs_questionnaire.pdf

- Cero, I., & Sifers, S. K. (2013). Parenting behavior and the interpersonalpsychological theory of suicide: A mediated moderation analysis with adolescents. *Journal of affective disorders*, 150(3), 987-992. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.025
- Çevik, G. B., & Yildiz, M. A. (2017). The Role of Perceived Social Support and Coping Styles in Predicting Adolescents' Positivity. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 5(5), 723-732. doi: 10.13189/ujer.2017.050504
- Chatard, A., Selimbegović, L., & Konan, P. N. D. (2009). Self-esteem and suicide rates in 55 Nations. European Journal of Personality: Published for the European Association of Personality Psychology, 23(1), 19-32. doi: 10.1002/per.701
- Chhabra, G. S., & Sodhi, M. K. (2012). Impact of family conflict on the psychosocial behaviour in male adolescents. *Journal of Nepal Paediatric Society*, *32*(2), 124-131. doi: 10.3126/jnps.v32i2.6147
- Chen, L. Y., Martins, S. S., Strain, E. C., Mojtabai, R., & Storr, C. L. (2018). Sex and age differences in risk factors of marijuana involvement during adolescence. *Addictive Disorders & Their Treatment*, 17(1), 29-39. doi: 10.1097/ADT.00000000000120
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American journal of sociology*, *94*, S95-S120.
- Collins, W., A., & Steinberg, L. (2008). Adolescent Development in Interpersonal Context. In *Child and Adolescent Development an Advanced Course*; Damon, W., Lerner, R.M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 534–590.
- Cooley, C., H. (1998). On Self and Social Organization; University of Chicago Press: Chigago 60637, USA.
- Cripps, K., & Zyromski, B. (2009). Adolescents' Psychological Well-Being and Perceived Parental Involvement in Middle Schools. *RMLE Online*, *33*(4), 1– 13. doi: 10.1080/19404476.2009.11462067
- Crosby, R. A., Holtgrave, D. R., DiClemente, R. J., Wingood, G. M., & Gayle, J. A. (2003). Social capital as a predictor of adolescents' sexual risk behavior: a state-level exploratory study. *AIDS and Behavior*, 7(3), 245-252.
- Cummings, E. M., & Cummings, J. S. (2002). Parenting and attachment. *Handbook* of Parenting Volume 5 Practical Issues in Parenting, 35.
- Curran, E. M. (2007). The relationship between social capital and substance use by high school students. *Journal of Alcohol and Drug Education*, 51(2), 59.
- Currie, C., Zanotti, C., Morgan, A., Currie, D., De Looze, M., Roberts, C., & Barnekow, V. (2009). Social determinants of health and well-being among young people. *Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report from the 2009/2010 Survey, 2010*, 271. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe. ISBN 978 92 890 1423 6.
- Darling, N., & Steinberg, L. (1993). Parenting style as context: An integrative model. *Psychological bulletin*, 113(3), 487.
- Darroch, J. E., Woog, V., Bankole, A., Ashford, L. S., & Points, K. (2016). Costs and benefits of meeting the contraceptive needs of adolescents. *Guttmacher Institute*.
- Dema, T., Tripathy, J. P., Thinley, S., Rani, M., Dhendup, T., Laxmeshwar, C., & Lhazeen, K. (2019). Suicidal ideation and attempt among school going
adolescents in Bhutan–a secondary analysis of a global school-based student health survey in Bhutan 2016. *BMC public health*, *19*(1), 1605.

- De Silva, M. J., McKenzie, K., Harpham, T., & Huttly, S. R. (2005). Social capital and mental illness: a systematic review. *Journal of epidemiology & community health*, *59*(8), 619-627.
- DeVore, E. R., & Ginsburg, K. R. (2005). The protective effects of good parenting on adolescents. *Current opinion in pediatrics*, 17(4), 460-65.
- DiClemente, R. J., Salazar, L. F., Crosby, R. A., & Rosenthal, S. L. (2005). Prevention and control of sexually transmitted infections among adolescents: the importance of a socio-ecological perspective a commentary. *Public health*, 119(9), 825-836.
- Donath, C., Graessel, E., Baier, D., Bleich, S., & Hillemacher, T. (2014). Is parenting style a predictor of suicide attempts in a representative sample of adolescents? *BMC pediatrics*, *14*(1), 113. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-14-113
- Du, H., King, R., B., & Chi, P. (2017). Self-esteem and subjective well-being revisited: The roles of personal, relational, and collective self-esteem. *PLoS* ONE 12(8).
- Dwairy, M. (2004). Parenting Styles and Mental Health of Palestinian- Arab Adolescents in Israel. *McGill Univ.*, 41, 233–252. doi:10.1177/136346150404356.
- Enejoh, V., Pharr, J., Mavegam, B. O., Olutola, A., Karick, H., & Ezeanolue, E. E. (2016). Impact of self-esteem on risky sexual behaviors among Nigerian adolescents. *AIDS Care*, 28(5), 672-676. doi: 10.1080/09540121.2015.1120853
- Erikson, E. (1959). Theory of identity development. *E. Erikson, Identity and the life cycle. New York: International Universities Press.* Available from https://www.bpi.edu/ourpages/auto/2018/11/21/57748242/theory%20of%20 identity%20erikson.pdf
- Ferguson, K., M. (2006). Social capital and children's wellbeing: a critical synthesis of the international social capital literature. *Int J Soc Welf.*, 15(1), 2–18.
- Glozah, F. (2014). Exploring the role of self-esteem and parenting patterns on alcohol use and abuse among adolescents. *Health Psychol. Res.* 2, 1898.
- García, J., A., Olmos, F., C., Matheu, M., L., & Carreño, T., P. (2019). Self-esteem levels vs global scores on the Rosenberg self-esteem scale. *Heliyon*, 5(3). doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01378.
- Grusec, J. E. (2002). Parental socialization and children's acquisition of values. *Handbook of parenting*, *5*, 143-167.
- Haber, M. G., Cohen, J. L., Lucas, T., & Baltes, B. B. (2007). The relationship between self-reported received and perceived social support: A metaanalytic review. *American journal of community psychology*, 39(1-2), 133-144. doi: 10.1007/s10464-007-9100-9
- Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B., & Anderson, R. (2010). Multivariate data analysis (7th ed.): Prentice-Hall, Inc. Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA.
- Handren, L. M., Donaldson, C. D., & Crano, W. D. (2016). Adolescent alcohol use: protective and predictive parent, peer, and self-related factors. *Prevention Science*, 17(7), 862-871. doi: 10.1007/s11121-016-0695-7
- Harter, S. (2008). The Developing Self. In Child and Adolescent Development an Advanced Course; Damon, W., Lerner, R.M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 216–255.F

- Heaven, P., & Ciarrochi, J. (2008). Parental styles, gender and the development of hope and self-esteem. European Journal of Personality: Published for the European Association of Personality Psychology, 22(8), 707-724. doi: 10.1002/per.699
- Herz, L., & Gullone, E. (1999). Relatioship between Self-esteem and Parenting Style: Australian and Vietnamese Australian Adolescents. J. Cross-Cult. Psychlogy, 30, 742. doi: 10.1177/0022022199030006005.
- Hoff, E., Laursen, B., Tardif, T., & Bornstein, M. (2002). Socioeconomic Status and Parenting. In *Handbook of parenting*. *Biology and Ecology of Parenting*; Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers: 10 Industrial Avenue Mahwah, New Jersey 07430, Volume 2. pp. 231–251.
- Hoskins, D. (2014). Consequences of Parenting on Adolescent Outcomes. *Societies*, 4, 506–531. doi: 10.3390/soc4030506.
- House, J. S., Umberson, D., & Landis, K. R. (1988). Structures and processes of social support. *Annual review of sociology*, *14*(1), 293-318.
- Huang, Y. H., Liu, H. C., Sun, F. J., Tsai, F. J., Huang, K. Y., Chen, T. C., & Liu, S. I. (2017). Relationship between predictors of incident deliberate self-harm and suicide attempts among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 60(5), 612-618. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.005
- Huang, J., Y., Wang, K., Y., & Ringel-Kulka, T. (2015). Predictors of life satisfaction among Asian-American adolescents-analysis of add health data. *Springer Plus 4*, 216.
- Hussain, A., Aldhafri, S., Kazem, A., Alzubiadi, A., & Al-Bahrani, M. (2011). Development and Validation of Short Version of the Parental Authority Questionnaire. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 39(9), 1193–1208. doi: 10.2224/sbp2011.39.9.1193
- Jayanthi, P., & Rajkumar, R. (2014). Is low self-esteem a risk factor for depression among adolescents? an analytical study with interventional component. *International Journal of Medical Research & Health Sciences*, 3(3), 627-633. doi: 10.5958/2319-5886.2014.00408.1
- Jorge, K. O., Paiva, P. C. P., Vale, M. P. D., Kawachi, I., & Zarzar, P. M. (2018). Alcohol intake among adolescent students and association with social capital and socioeconomic status. *Ciencia & Saude Coletiva*, 23, 741-750. doi: 10.1590/1413-81232018233.05982016
- Jessor, R. (2014). Problem behavior theory: A half-century of research on adolescent behavior and development. In *The Developmental Science of Adolescence: History through Autobiography*; Lerner, R.M., Petersen, A.C., Silbereisen, R.K., Brooks-Gunn, J., Eds.; Psychology Press: 711 Third Avenue. New York. NY 10017. Available from https://ibs.colorado.edu/jessor/pubs/Jessor 2014 Problem%20Behavior%20Theory AHalf-CenturyofResearch.pdf.
- Kabir, M. A., & Goh, K. L. (2014). Determinants of tobacco use among students aged 13–15 years in Nepal and Sri Lanka: results from the Global Youth Tobacco Survey, 2007. *Health Education Journal*, 73(1), 51-61. doi: 10.1177/0017896912469576
- Kalina, O., Geckova, A. M., Jarcuska, P., Orosova, O., van Dijk, J. P., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2009). Psychological and behavioural factors associated with sexual risk behaviour among Slovak students. *BMC Public Health*, 9(1), 15. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-15

- Kaljee, L. M., & Chen, X. (2011). Social capital and risk and protective behaviors: a global health perspective. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics*, 2, 113.
- Kang, B. H., Kang, J. H., Park, H. A., Cho, Y. G., Hur, Y. I., Sim, W. Y., & Kim, K. (2017). The mediating role of parental support in the relationship between life stress and suicidal ideation among middle school students. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine*, 38(4), 213-219. doi: 10.4082/kjfm.2017.38.4.213
- Kann, L., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., Queen, B., & Lim, C. (2018). Youth risk behavior surveillance—United States, 2017. MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 67(8), 1
- Karaman, G. N. (2013). Predicting the problem behavior in adolescents. Egitim Arastirmalari, *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 52, 137-154.
- Karki, S., Länsimies, H., Laukkanen, E., Pirskanen, M., & Pietilä, A. M. (2016). Substance use by adolescents in the Western Developmental Region of Nepal. *Journal of Substance Use*, 21(1), 98-106. doi: 10.3109/14659891.2015.1005182
- Kerr, M., Stattin, H., & Özdemir, M. (2012). Perceived parenting style and adolescent adjustment: Revisiting directions of effects and the role of parental knowledge. *Developmental psychology*, 48(6), 1540. doi: 10.1037/a0027720
- Kern, R. M., & Jonyniene, J. (2012). Psychometric properties of the Lithuanian version of the Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire (PSDQ): Pilot study. *The Family Journal*, 20(2), 205-214.
- Kawachi, I., & Berkman, L. (2000). Social cohesion, social capital, and health. *Social epidemiology*, *174*(7).
- Kawachi, I., & Berkman, L. F. (2001). Social ties and mental health. *Journal of Urban Health*, 78(3), 458-467.
- Kerpelman, J. L., McElwain, A. D., Pittman, J. F., & Adler-Baeder, F. M. (2016). Engagement in risky sexual behavior: Adolescents' perceptions of self and the parent–child relationship matter. *Youth & Society*, 48(1), 101-125. doi: 10.1177/0044118X13479614
- Kim, Y. (2011). Adolescents' health behaviours and its associations with psychological variables. *Central European Journal of Public Health*, 19(4).
- Kim, H.Y. (2013). Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Assessing normal distribution (2) using skewness and kurtosis. *Restor. Dent. Endod*, 38, 52–54. doi: 10.5395/rde.2013.38.1.52.
- Kleiman, E. M., & Riskind, J. H. (2013). Utilized social support and self-esteem mediate the relationship between perceived social support and suicide ideation. *Crisis*. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000159
- Lamichhane, D. (2015). Factors associated with self-esteem among adolescents in public schools in Kathmandu, Master's thesis. Available from Tribhuwan University, IOM, Maharajgunj Nursing Campus Library, Nepal
- Langille, D. B., Asbridge, M., Kisely, S., & Rasic, D. (2012). Suicidal behaviours in adolescents in Nova Scotia, Canada: protective associations with measures of social capital. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 47(10), 1549-1555. doi: 10.1007/s00127-011-0461-x
- Laursen, B., & Collins, W. A. (2009). Parent-child relationships during adolescence. In Lerner, R. M., & Steinberg, L. (Eds.). *Handbook of adolescent*

psychology: Individual bases of adolescent development (Vol. 1). John Wiley & Sons.

- Lerner, R., M., & Steinberg, L. (2009). *Handbook of adolescent psychology. John* Wiley & Sons Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA.
- Lerner, R., M., Lerner, J., V., & Colleagues. (2013). The Positive Development of Youth: Comprehensive Findings from the 4-h Study of Positive Youth Development. National 4-H Council 7100 Connecticut Ave Chevy Chase, MD 20815.
- Li, S. D., Zhang, X., Tang, W., & Xia, Y. (2017). Predictors and implications of synthetic drug use among adolescents in the gambling capital of China. Sage open, 7(4), 2158244017733031.
- Liu, H. C., Liu, S. I., Tjung, J. J., Sun, F. J., Huang, H. C., & Fang, C. K. (2017). Self-harm and its association with internet addiction and internet exposure to suicidal thought in adolescents. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 116(3), 153-160.
- Lodz, N. A., Mutalip, M. H. A., Mahmud, M. A. F., Awaluddin, M., Yoep, N., Paiwai, F., Hashim, M. H., & Kasim, N. A. A. (2019). Risky sexual behaviours among school-going adolescent in Malaysia-findings from National Health and Morbidity Survey. *Journal of Environmental Science*, 3(2), 226-235. doi: 10.26502/jesph.96120059
- Lundborg, P. (2005). Social capital and substance use among Swedish adolescentsan explorative study. *Social science & medicine*, *61*(6), 1151-1158. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.12.031
- Maccoby, E. E. (2000). Parenting and its effects on children: On reading and misreading behavior genetics. *Annual review of psychology*, *51*(1), 1-27.
- Magson, N. R., Craven, R. G., Munns, G., & Yeung, A. S. (2016). It is risky business: can social capital reduce risk-taking behaviours among disadvantaged youth? *Journal of Youth Studies*, 19(5), 569-592. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2015.1098776
- Maharjan, S. (2008). Self-esteem of Adolescents in Rupandehi and Kathmandu District. Available from https://sujenman.files.wordpress.com/2010/01/maharjan2008 selfesteem.
- Martin, G., Richardson, A. S., Bergen, H. A., Roeger, L., & Allison, S. (2005).
 Perceived academic performance, self-esteem and locus of control as indicators of need for assessment of adolescent suicide risk: implications for teachers. *Journal of adolescence*, 28(1), 75-87. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2004.04.005
- Martínez, I., García, J. F., & Yubero, S. (2007). Parenting styles and adolescents' self-esteem in Brazil. *Psychological reports*, *100*(3), 731-745. doi: 10.2466/PR0.100.3.731-745
- Masselink, M., Van Roekel, E., & Oldehinkel, A. J. (2018). Self-esteem in early adolescence as predictor of depressive symptoms in late adolescence and early adulthood: the mediating role of motivational and social factors. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *47*(5), 932-946. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0727-z
- McAdams, T. A., Rijsdijk, F. V., Narusyte, J., Ganiban, J. M., Reiss, D., Spotts, E., ... & Eley, T. C. (2017). Associations between the parent–child relationship and adolescent self-worth: a genetically informed study of twin

parents and their adolescent children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(1), 46-54. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12600

- McAtee, J. R. F. (2012). Self-esteem, Alcohol Consumption, and Risky Sexual Behaviors in College Fraternity Males. Doctoral dissertation, Oklahoma State University.
- McClure, A. C., Tanski, S. E., Kingsbury, J., Gerrard, M., & Sargent, J. D. (2010). Characteristics associated with low self-esteem among US adolescents. *Academic pediatrics*, 10(4), 238-244. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2010.03.007
- McGee, R., & Williams, S. (2000). Does low self-esteem predict health compromising behaviours among adolescents? *J. Adolesc. 23*, 569–582. doi: 10.1006/jado.2000.0344.
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health education quarterly*, *15*(4), 351-377.
- McNeely, C., & Blanchard, J. (2010). The teen years explained: A guide to healthy adolescent development. Center for Adolescent Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. 615 N. Wolfe St., E-4543 Baltimore, MD 21205. ISBN 978-0-614-3953.
- McPherson, K. E., Kerr, S., Morgan, A., McGee, E., Cheater, F. M., McLean, J., & Egan, J. (2013). The association between family and community social capital and health risk behaviours in young people: an integrative review. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 971. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-97
- McPherson, K. E., Kerr, S., McGee, E., Morgan, A., Cheater, F. M., McLean, J., & Egan, J. (2014). The association between social capital and mental health and behavioral problems in children and adolescents: an integrative systematic review. *BMC psychology*, 2(1), 7.
- Mead, G., H. (1934). *Mind, Self and Society*; University of Chicago Press: Chigago 60637, USA.
- Milevsky, A., Schlechter, M., Netter, S., & Keehn, D. (2007). Maternal and paternal parenting styles in adolescents: Associations with self-esteem, depression and life-satisfaction. *Journal of child and family studies*, *16*(1), 39-47. doi: 10.1007/s10826-006-9066-5
- Ministry of Health and Population (MoHP). (2012). Nepal adolescents and youth survey 2010/11. *Government of Nepal, Ministry of Health and Population*.
- Ministry of Health and population (MoHP). (2015). Nepal Health Sector Strategy 2015 2020. *Government of Nepal, Ministry of Health and Population*.
- Ministry of Population and Environment (MoPE). (2017). National Population Report 2017. Ministry of Population and Environment, Singha Durbar, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Ministry of Education, Science & Technology. (2017). Education in Figures (At a Glance Report). *Government of Nepal.*
- Ministry of Health and population (MoHP). (2017). Nepal Demographic and Health Survey2016. Ministry of Health; New ERA; & ICF, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Ministry of Health and population. (2018). Ministry of Health and Population;
 World Health Organization. Nepal–WHO Country Cooperation Strategy:
 2018–2022; Ministry of Health and Population: Ramshah Path: Kathmandu,
 Nepal.

- Moreira, P. A. S., Cloninger, C. R., Dinis, L., Sá, L., Oliveira, J. T., Dias, A., & Oliveira1, J. (2014). Personality and well-being in adolescents. *Front Psychol.*, 5. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01494
- Moore, S., & Kawachi, I. (2017). Twenty years of social capital and health research: a glossary. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 71(5), 513-517.
- Ndugwa, R. P., Kabiru, C. W., Cleland, J., Beguy, D., Egondi, T., Zulu, E. M., & Jessor, R. (2011). Adolescent problem behavior in Nairobi's informal settlements: applying problem behavior theory in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Urban Health*, 88(2), 298-317. doi: 10.1007/s11524-010-9462-4
- Nguyen, N. (2015). Factors influencing adolescent alcohol and marijuana use: the role of religiosity, school-based prevention programs, parental influence, and peer influence, Doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh.
- Newman, K., Harrison, L., Dashiff, C., & Davies, S. (2008). Relationships between parenting styles and risk behaviors in adolescent health: An integrative literature review. *Rev. Latino-Am. Enfermagem.*, 16(1).
- Orth, U., Robins, R. W., & Roberts, B. W. (2008). Low self-esteem prospectively predicts depression in adolescence and young adulthood. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 95(3), 695. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.95.3.695
- Paiva, P. C. P., de Paiva, H. N., de Oliveira Filho, P. M., Lamounier, J. A., de Ferreira, E. F., Ferreira, R. C., Kawachi, I., & Zarzar, P. M. (2014). Development and validation of a social capital questionnaire for adolescent students (SCQ-AS). *PloS One*, 9(8), e103785.
- Pan American Health Organization. (2018). The health of adolescents and youth in the Americas: Implementation of the Regional Strategy and Plan of Action on Adolescent and Youth Health 2010-2018. WHO Regional Office for Americas. Washington, DC.
- Pandey, P. L., Seale, H., & Razee, H. (2019). Exploring the factors impacting on access and acceptance of sexual and reproductive health services provided by adolescent-friendly health services in Nepal. *PloS one*, *14*(8).
- Parke, R. D., & Buriel, R. (2008). Socialization in the family: Ethnic and ecological perspectives. In *Child and Adolescent Development an Advanced Course*; Damon, W., Lerner, R.M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2008; pp. 534–590.
- Pérez-Fuentes, M. D. C., Molero Jurado, M. D. M., Gázquez Linares, J. J., Oropesa Ruiz, N. F., Márquez, S., Del Mar, M., & Saracostti, M. (2019). Parenting Practices, Life Satisfaction, and the Role of Self-Esteem in Adolescents. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(20), 4045. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16204045
- Piko, B. F., & Balázs, M. Á. (2012). Authoritative parenting style and adolescent smoking and drinking. *Addictive behaviors*, 37(3), 353-356. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.11.022
- Potts, N. L., & Mandleco, B. L. (2011). *Pediatric nursing: Caring for children and their families*. Delmar Cengage Learning: Clifton Park, NY, USA.
- Pradhan, P. M. S., Niraula, S. R., Ghimire, A., Singh, S. B., & Pokharel, P. K. (2013). Tobacco use and associated factors among adolescent students in Dharan, Eastern Nepal: a cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *BMJ* open, 3(2), e002123.

- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community. Simon and Schuster, New York. Available from http://onlinecampus.fcps.edu/media2/Social_Studies/AP_Govt/Topic21/Res ources/2019_Bowling_Alone.pdf
- Randall, J. R., Doku, D., Wilson, M. L., & Peltzer, K. (2014). Suicidal behaviour and related risk factors among school-aged youth in the Republic of Benin. *PLoS One*, 9(2), e88233. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088233
- Raymond-Flesch, M., Auerswald, C., McGlone, L., Comfort, M., & Minnis, A. (2017). Building social capital to promote adolescent wellbeing: A qualitative study with teens in a Latino agricultural community. *BMC public health*, 17(1), 177. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4110-5
- Reininger, B. M., Pérez, A., Flores, M. I. A., Chen, Z., & Rahbar, M. H. (2012). Perceptions of social support, empowerment and youth risk behaviors. *The journal of primary prevention*, 33(1), 33-46.
- Robinson, C. C., Mandleco, B., Olsen, S. F., & Hart, C. H. (1995). The parenting styles and dimensions questionnaire (PSDQ). *Handbook of family measurement techniques*, *3*, 319-321.
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the Adolescent Self-image, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Rosenberg, M., Schooler, C., Schoenbach, C., & Rosenberg, F. (1995). Global selfesteem and specific self-esteem: Different concepts, different outcomes. *American sociological review*, 141-156. doi: 10.2307/2096350
- Rosenberg, M., Schooler, C., & Schoenbach, C. (1989). Self-esteem and adolescent problems: Modeling reciprocal effects. *American sociological review*, 1004-1018. doi: 10.2307/2095720
- Rothon, C., Goodwin, L., & Stansfeld, S. (2012). Family social support, community "social capital" and adolescents' mental health and educational outcomes: a longitudinal study in England. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 47(5), 697-709.
- Ryan, D. P. J. (2001). Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory. Available from https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/44165922/bronfenbrenners_ecologica l.pdfF
- Schriber, R. A., & Guyer, A. E. (2016). Adolescent neurobiological susceptibility to social context. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19, 1-18. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2015.12.009
- Shanmugam, V., & Kathyayini, B., V. (2017). Assertiveness and Self-Esteem in Indian Adolescents. *Galore Int. J. Health Sci. Res.* 2(4).
- Sharaf, A. Y., Thompson, E. A., & Walsh, E. (2009). Protective effects of selfesteem and family support on suicide risk behaviors among at-risk adolescents. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 22(3), 160-168. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6171.2009.00194.x
- Sharma, G., & Pandey, N. (2015). Parenting Styles and Its Effect on Self-esteem of Adolescents. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, *3(1)*.
- Shek, D. T., & Ma, C. M. (2012). Consumption of pornographic materials among early adolescents in Hong Kong: profiles and psychosocial correlates. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 11(2), 143-150. doi: 10.1515/ijdhd-2012-0024

- Shoshani, A., & Steinmetz, S. (2013). Positive Psychology at School: A School-Based Intervention to Promote Adolescents' Mental Health and Well-Being. *J. Happiness Stud.* doi: 10.1007/s10902-013-9476-1.
- Shyny, T. Y. (2017). Construction and Validation of PS-FFQ (Parenting Style Four Factor Questionnaire). *International Journal of Engineering Development* and Research, 5(3), 426-437.
- Singh, R., Mahato, S., Singh, B., Thapa, J., & Gartland, D. (2019). Resilience in Nepalese adolescents: Socio-demographic factors associated with low Resilience. *Dovepress*, 893–902. doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S226011.
- Smith, D. E., & Moore, T. M. (2013). Parenting style and psychosocial outcomes in a sample of Jamaican adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 18(3), 176-190. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2012.682593
- Smith, A. R., Chein, J., & Steinberg, L. (2013). Impact of socio-emotional context, brain development, and pubertal maturation on adolescent risktaking. *Hormones and behavior*, 64(2), 323-332. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.03.006
- Smokowski, P. R., Bacallao, M. L., Cotter, K. L., & Evans, C. B. R. (2015). The Effects of Positive and Negative Parenting Practices on Adolescent Mental Health Outcomes in a Multicultural Sample of Rural Youth. *Child Psychiatry and Human Devlopment*, 46, 333–345. doi: 10.1007/s10578-014-0474-2
- Spear, L. P. (2013). Adolescent neurodevelopment. *Journal of adolescent health*, 52(2), S7-S13. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.05.006
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles, and adolescent school achievement. *Educational psychology review*, *17*(2), 125-146. doi: 10.1007/s10648-005-3950-1
- Springer, A., Parcel, G., Baumler, E., & Ross, M. (2006). Supportive social relationships and adolescent health risk behavior among secondary school students in El Salvador. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(7), 1628-1640. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.018
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 9(2), 69-74. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.005
- Steinberg, L. (2008). A social neuroscience perspective on adolescent risktaking. *Developmental review*, 28(1), 78-106.
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, S. D., Dornbusch, S. M., & Darling, N. (1992). Impact of Parenting Practices on Adolescent Achievement: Authoritative Parenting, School Involvement, and Encouragement to Succeed. *Child Development*, 63, 1266–1281.
- Stokols, D. S. (1992). Environmental quality, human development, and health: An ecological view. *Journal of applied developmental psychology*, 13.
- Supple, A.J., & Small, S., A. (2006). The Influence of Parental Support, Knowledge, and Authoritative Parenting on Hmong and European American Adolescent Development. J. Fam. Issues, 27, 1214.
- Takakura, M., Hamabata, Y., Ueji, M., & Kurihara, A. (2014). Measurement of social capital at school and neighborhood among young people. *Japanese* Association of School Health, 10(1), e8.

- Takakura, M. (2011). Does social trust at school affect students' smoking and drinking behavior in Japan? *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(2), 299-306. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.11.003
- Thapa, B., Powell, J., Yi, J., McGee, J., Landis, J., Rein, L., & Karmacharya, B. (2017). Adolescent Health Risk and Behavior Survey: A school-based survey in central Nepal. *Kathmandu University Medical Journal* (KUMJ), 15(60), 301-307.
- Tonsing, K., Zimet, G. D., & Tse, S. (2012). Assessing social support among South Asians: The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Asian journal of psychiatry*, 5(2), 164-168.
- Trzesniewski, K. H., Donnellan, M. B., Moffitt, T. E., Robins, R. W., Poulton, R. & Caspi, A. (2006). Low self-esteem during adolescence predicts poor health, criminal behavior, and limited economic prospects during adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 42 (2), 381–390. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.2.381
- Tzanakis, M. (2013). Social capital in Bourdieu's, Coleman's and Putnam's theory: empirical evidence and emergent measurement issues. *Educate*~, *13*(2), 2-23.
- UNESCO. (2017). Good Policy and Practice in Health Education, Booklet 10, Education Sector Responses to the use of Alcohol, Tobacco and Drugs. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 7, place de Fontenoy, 75352 Paris 07 SP, France, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Vienna International Centre, Wagramer Strasse 5, A 1400 Vienna, Austria and the World Health Organization, Avenue Appia 20, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland ISBN 978-92-3-100211-3.
- UNICEF. (2019). Shedding much-needed light on mental health. Available from https://www.unicef.org/nepal/stories/shedding-much-needed-light-mentalhealth
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). (2018). World Drug Report 2018. United Nations publication, Sales No. E. 18. XI. 9 2018.
- United Nations. (2020). World Drug Report 2020. United Nations publication, Sales No. E.20.XI.6. ISBN: 978-92-1-148345-1. Available from https://wdr.unodc.org/wdr2020/en/exsum.html.
- United Nations. (2020a). World Fertility 2019: Early and later childbearing among adolescent women. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, New York. (ST/ESA/SER.A/446). Available from

https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/fertilit y/World_Fertility_2019.pdf

- Valente, J. Y., Cogo-Moreira, H., & Sanchez, Z. M. (2020). Evaluating the effects of parenting styles dimensions on adolescent drug use: secondary analysis of Tamojunto randomized controlled trial. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 29(7), 979-987.
- Van de Bongardt, D., Reitz, E., & Deković, M. (2015). Indirect over-time relations between parenting and adolescents' sexual behaviors and emotions through global self-esteem. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *53*(3), 273-285.
- Veselska, Z., Geckova, A. M., Orosova, O., Gajdosova, B., van Dijk, J. P., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2009). Self-esteem and resilience: The connection with

risky behavior among adolescents. *Addictive Behaviors*, *34*(3), 287-291. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2008.11.005

Wen, M. (2017). Social capital and adolescent substance use: The role of family, school, and neighborhood contexts. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(2), 362-378. doi: 10.1111/jora.12299

World Bank. (2019). Reproductive, Maternal, Child and Adolescents Health.

- World Health Organization. (2014). *Health for the world's adolescents: a second chance in the second decade: summary* (No. WHO/FWC/MCA/14.05). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2014a). Preventing suicide: A global imperative.
- World Health Organization. (2017). Mental Health Status of Adolescents in South-East Asia: Evidence for Action. World Health Organization Regional Office for South East Asia Region, New Delhi, India. Available from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254982/9789290225737eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- World Health Organization. (2017a). Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation: summary. World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland.
- World Health Organization. (2018). Regional atlas on adolescent and youth 2017: monitor the health status and trend of adolescent and youth in Africa.
- World Health Organization. (2018a). Situation of child and adolescent health in Europe.
- World Health Organization. (2018b). Adolescents: health risks and solutions.
- World Health Organization. (2018c). Global status report on alcohol and health
 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA
 3.0 IGO. Available from

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312318/WHO-MSD-MSB-18.2-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y&ua=1

- World Health Organization. (2018d). Strategic Guidance on Accelerating Actions for Adolescent Health in South-East Asia Region (2018-2022). World Health Organization, Regional Office for South-East Asia. Available from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274312/9789290226475eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- World Health Organization. (2019). Suicide in the World: Global Health Estimates. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2019.
- World Health Organization. (2019a). WHO global report on trends in prevalence of tobacco use 2000-2025, third edition. ISBN 978-92-4-000003-2.
- World Health Organization. (2020). Adolescent Mental Health. Available from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health
- World Health Organization. (2020a). Adolescent health in the South-East Asia Region. Available from https://www.who.int/southeastasia/healthtopics/adolescent-health
- World Health Organization. (2020b). Adolescent Health. Available from https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health#tab=tab 1
- World Health Organization. (2020c). Adolescent pregnancy. Available from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-pregnancy

- Xu, Y., Wang, C., & Shi, M. (2018). Identifying Chinese adolescents with a high suicide attempt risk. *Psychiatry Research*, 269, 474-480. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.08.085
- Zaborskis, A., Sirvyte, D., & Zemaitiene, N. (2016). Prevalence and familial predictors of suicidal behavior among adolescents in Lithuania: A crosssectional survey. *BMC Public Health*, 16, 554.
- Zamboanga, B. L., Schwartz, S. J., Jarvis, L. H., & Van Tyne, K. (2009).
 Acculturation and substance use among Hispanic early adolescents: Investigating the mediating roles of acculturative stress and self-esteem. *The journal of primary prevention*, 30(3-4), 315-333.
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of personality* assessment, 52(1), 30-41.
- Zuquetto, C. R., Opaleye, E. S., Feijo, M. R., Amato, T. C., Ferri, C. P., & Noto, A. R. (2019). Contribution of parenting styles and prental drunkness to adolescent drinking. *Braziallian Journal of Psychiatry*, 41(6).

Letter to School

Okayama Prefectural University Okayama, Japan

The Principal

To,

Date:

.....School Subject: Request for data collection Dear Sir/Madame,

Namaskar, I (Ratna Shila Banstola) would like to state that I am Nursing Instructor in TU, IOM, Pokhara Campus, Nepal and now the doctorate nursing student in Okayama Prefectural University (OPU), Japan. As per the requirement of doctorate degree I have to conduct a research study which is entitled as "Risk Behavior among Adolescents in Nepal", therefore I would like to request for your cooperation and support from your facility by permitting to collect the data among adolescents of classes 9 to 11. The data collection will be done through self-administered questionnaire and it will take around 25 to 30 minutes. The study has also aimed to assess the impact of parents' knowledge and practice on adolescents' self-esteem and risk behavior, therefore an envelope with information about research study to obtain consent from parents for the parent and their child's participation in the study and a questionnaire for the parents will be sent with the students to their parents. There is no foreseeable risk for the adolescents and their parents and the participation in the study is fully voluntary. Anonymity and confidentiality of the participants will be maintained and the identity of the individual student or the school will not be revealed in any way. The collected data will be used for the research purpose only and the result of the study will be made available to the concerned school too. If you have any queries you can contact to the investigator at any point of time in the contact information attached below. We would like to thank you for your continued understanding and cooperation; and express our deep appreciation for the extraordinary expense and support.

Thank You so much.

Investigator: Ratna Shila Banstola Instructor, TU, IOM, Pokhara Campus Doctorate student, Graduate School of Health and Welfare Science, OPU Email: bastolaratna1@gmail.com Phone No: 9846056924

Coinvestigator: Dr. Sachiko Inoue Associate Professor Faculty of Health and Welfare Science OPU, Soja, Japan

Okayama Prefectural University Okayama, Japan

Research title: Risk Behavior among Adolescents in Nepal

Name of the Researcher: Ratna Shila Banstola

Date:....

Namaskar, I am Ratna Shila Banstola (Nursing Instructor in TU, IOM, Pokhara Campus, Nepal; now the doctorate nursing student in Okayama Prefectural University [OPU], Japan). I am here for a study entitled above for the partial fulfillment of the requirement of doctorate degree. The objective of the study is to identify the risk behavior among urban high school adolescents. Your participation in the study is important for achieving this objective and the study findings will be helpful to plan preventive interventions, which will be the important merit of this study. Therefore, I would like to request you for the participation. The study involves no foreseeable risks or harm to you. Your participation in the study is fully voluntary as none of you are forced in any means. If you decide to participate, the questionnaire will be given to you. If you do not want to participate or do not want to continue you can quit at any time. In the questionnaire you will be asked about socio-demographic, family, friends and school related information; social support; self-esteem and risk behavior. There is no need to write your name in the questionnaire and all your information will be kept confidential. So that I hope you will help by providing true information in the questionnaire. It will take 25 to 30 minutes to answer the questions. The result of the study will be published in the journals or presented on conferences; however, your identity will not be revealed to anybody else. I would like to state that this study is self-funded, and there is no payments or gifts for you.

If you have any questions you can ask now or if later you can contact at any time to the investigator in following address or phone number.

If you have understood about the purpose of the study and would like to participate, please give your assent below with check mark on agree or if you do not want to participate do check mark on do not agree.

Agree to participate:

Do not agree to participate:

Name:

Class:

Date:

Thank you.

Investigator: Ratna Shila Banstola Nursing Instructor, TU, IOM, Nepal Doctorate student,Graduate School of Health and Welfare Science, OPU Email: bastolaratna1@gmail.com Phone No: 9846056924 Co-investigator: Dr. Sachiko Inoue Associate Professor Faculty of Health and Welfare Science OPU, Soja, Japan.

Letter to Parent for Adolescents' Participation

Okayama Prefectural University Okayama, Japan

Research title: Risk Behavior among Adolescents in Nepal Name of the Researcher: Ratna Shila Banstola Date:.....

Dear Parents

Namaskar, I am Ratna Shila Banstola (Nursing Instructor in TU, IOM, Nepal; now the doctorate nursing student in Okayama Prefectural University [OPU], Japan). I am writing to ask your permission for your child to participate in the study entitled above, which is planned for the partial fulfillment of the requirement of doctorate degree. The objective of the study is to identify the risk behavior among urban high school adolescents, so that the findings will be helpful to plan preventive interventions and this will be the important merit of the study. To participate, your child needs to answer the questionnaire, which is about socio-demographic, family, friends and school; social capital; social support; self-esteem; and risk behavior related information. It will take around 25 to 30 minutes to answer the questions. The study involves no foreseeable risks or harm. There is no need to write your child's name in the questionnaire and all the information will be kept confidential. The result of the study will be published in the journals or presented on conferences by the researcher. However, the identity of participants will not be revealed to anybody else. The participation in the study is fully voluntary. Although your child will be asked to give their assent to participate, your permission for participation is very important. Therefore, I would like to request you to kindly consider on this. The study is selffunded. There is no payments or gifts for the participation.

If you are happy to permit your child to participate in the study, please sign the consent sheet attached here with.

If you have any questions you can contact the investigator at any time in the contact given below. Your cooperation will be highly appreciated.

Thank you.

Investigator: Ratna Shila Banstola Nursing Instructor, TU, IOM, Nepal Doctorate student,Graduate School of Health and Welfare Science, OPU Email: bastolaratna1@gmail.com Phone No: 9846056924 Co-investigator: Dr. Sachiko Inoue Associate Professor Faculty of Health and Welfare Science OPU, Soja, Japan.

CONSENT FORM

Research title: Risk Behavior among Adolescents in Nepal

Name of the Researcher: Ratna Shila Banstola

I agree to take part in the study and I voluntarily consent for participation of my adolescent child in this study. I understand that our data will be used for research purpose only and it will be anonymized. The study result will be presented in the scientific conferences or published as article but participants' identity will not be revealed in any way. I understand that we are free to decline to participate or we may withdraw participation at any point.

Name of Parent/Guardian:

Signature:	Date
Researcher name:	
Signature:	Date
Thank you.	

Information to Parents for their Participation

Okayama Prefectural University Okayama, Japan

Research title: Impact of Parents' Knowledge and Practice on Self-esteem and Riskbehavior of Adolescents in Urban High Schools in Nepal

Name of the Researcher: Ratna Shila Banstola

Date:....

Namaskar, I am Ratna Shila Banstola (Nursing Instructor in TU, IOM, Pokhara Campus Nepal; now the doctorate nursing student in Okayama Prefectural University [OPU], Japan). I am here for the study entitled above as a partial fulfillment of the requirement of doctorate degree. The objective of the study is to identify the impact of parents' knowledge and practice on self-esteem and risk behavior of adolescents. So that intervention programs can be planned and this will be the important merit of the study. Therefore, I would like to request for your participation. The study involves no foreseeable risks or harm to you. Your participation is fully voluntary. The participants in the study need to answer the questionnaire, in which the information about socio-demographic characteristics; your knowledge on adolescents' self-esteem and practice to your adolescent children are asked. It will take around 20 minutes to answer these questions. There is no need to write your name in the questionnaire and all your information will be kept confidential. The result of the study will be published in the journals or presented on conferences however, your identity will not be revealed to anybody else. The study is self-funded and there is no gift for the participants.

If you are happy to take part in this study, please sign the consent sheet attached and please answer the questionnaire that is given to you. Either of the parent can fill the questionnaire.

If you do not want to participate or do not want to continue you can quit at any time. Your participation will be highly appreciated. If you have any questions you can contact the investigator at any time in the contact given below.

Thank you so much.

Investigator: Ratna Shila Banstola Nursing Instructor, TU, IOM, Nepal Doctorate student,Graduate School of Health and Welfare Science, OPU Email: bastolaratna1@gmail.com Ph. No.: 9846056924 Co-investigator: Dr. Sachiko Inoue Associate Professor Faculty of Health and Welfare Science OPU, Soja, Japan.

CONSENT FORM

Research title: Impact of Parents' Knowledge and Practice on Self-esteem and Riskbehavior of Adolescents in Urban High Schools in Nepal

Name of the Researcher: Ratna Shila Banstola

I agree to take part in the study and I voluntarily consent to participate. I understand that our data will be used for research purpose only and it will be anonymized. The study result will be presented in the scientific conferences or published as article but participants' identity will not be revealed in any way. I understand that we are free to decline to participate or we may withdraw participation at any point.

Participant name:	
Signature:	Date
Researcher name:	
Signature:	Date

Thank you.

WITHDRAWAL FROM RESEARCH CONSENT

Ms. Ratna Shila Banstola

I agreed to participate in the study entitled "Impact of Parents' Knowledge on Selfesteem of adolescents and Practice on Self-esteem and Risk-behavior among Adolescents of Urban High Schools in Nepal" and signed a consent form previously, but now I have chosen to withdraw from participation.

Using this form, I am asking you to document my decision to withdraw from this research.

Participant's Name

Signature of Participant

Date

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent Thank you. Date

Questionnaire on Self-esteem, Perceived Social Support, Social Capital and Risk behavior of Adolescents

Objective of the questionnaire: To obtain information regarding self-esteem, social support, social capital and risk behavior of adolescents along with socio-demographic and social context (family, friends, and school) related information of adolescents. Direction: You are requested to express some of your background information, feeling and experiences through this questionnaire. Please tick ($\sqrt{}$) mark your answer or write your answer in the space provided. Code No..... School Name:.... Grade:.... Date:.... Socio-demographic and Social Context Related Information 1. Age:....completed years 2 Sex: A. Male **B**. Female 3 Religion: D. Christian B. Buddhist C. Muslim A. Hindu E. Others(Specify)..... 4. Ethnicity/ Surname::.... 5 Family Type: A. Nuclear B. Joint 6 Father's educational status: A. No education B. Read and write only B. Primary C. Secondary D. Higher secondary E. College/University level F. Do not know 7 Mother's educational status: A. No education B. Read and write only B. Primary C. Secondary D. Higher secondary E. College/University level F. Do not know 8 What is your father's current occupation? 9 What is your mother's current occupation?..... 10 How sufficient is your family income to manage daily expenses of livelihood? A. Hardly sufficient **B.** Sufficient C. Surplus 11 How do you feel about the socioeconomic status of your family in reference to your friends/neighbor? B. Medium C. low A. High 12 How is the marital status of your parents? A. Both alive and staying together B. Both alive but separated/divorced C. Father not alive D. Mother not alive E. Both not alive

Social Context

1 Is there conflict in your fa	mily?			
A. Most often	B. Sometimes only	C. Never		
2 Is there domestic violence	in your family?			
A. Most often	B. Sometimes only	C. Never		
3 Do you feel loved by and	bonding with parents?			
A. Most often	B. Sometimes only	C. Never		
4 Do you verbally abused at	t home (labeling, insulti	ng, humilia	ting)?	
A. Most often	B. Sometimes only	C. Never		
5 Do you physically abused	at home (slap, bit, pinc	h, hit etc.)?		
A. Most often	B. Sometimes only	C. Never		
Parental monitoring/cont	trol	Most often	Sometimes	Never
Ask about my friends				
Supervise my activities in	computer or mobile			
phones				
I need to take permission b	before going out of			
home				
Parents visit school and tea	achers			
	· T 1			

My father controls everything I do My mother controls everything I do

7 Do any of the member of your family uses substances?

Family members	Smoking Tobacco	Smkeless tobacco (Surti, Khaini, Pan)	Alcohol	Marijuana	others
Father					
Mother					
Brother					
Sister					
Grand parent					
Others					

8 Do you have access of devices like cellphone, tablets, laptop etc. to connect with modern mass media (internet)?

A. Yes

A. Yes

A. Yes

B. No

9 If yes, do you have access to computers in your bed room?

B. No

10 Do you have internet connection available at home?

B. No

11 Do anyone of your friends involve in any of the following risk behavior? Please tick all which apply:

A. Smoking

D. Any licit or illicit drug use

B. Drinking alcohol

- C. Marijuana
- F. sexual activity

E. Suicidal activity

12 Do you have ever pressured to involve in these behaviors by your friend/friends? A. Yes B. No 13 Result of last annual examination (Percentage/division secured):..... 14 Do you feel that you are not meeting with the expectations of your parents on your academics? A. Yes B. No 15 Do you feel good about the way teachers treat you? A. Yes B. No 16 Do you feel you are liked and appreciated by teachers? A. Yes B. No 17 Does your school has strict rules for monitoring students' activities at school? A. Yes B. No 18 Does your school has any programs or classes on prevention of risk behavior? A. Yes B. No 19 Is there good relation between teachers and students in school? A. Yes B. No 20 Does your school is child and adolescent friendly? A. Yes B. No 21 During the past 12 months, has anyone offered, sold, or given you an illegal drug or substances at school property?

A. Yes B. No

Social Capital

Instruction: Please indicate how you feel about each statement by tick ($\sqrt{}$) marking in one of the boxes among the given alternatives.

Family Social Capital	Often	Sometimes	Never
I like spending time with my family, we have			
good relation			
My parents and I do fun things together			
My family is better than most and I trust my			
family a lot			
My parents give me time, trust me and listen to			
me			
My parents respond and try to fulfill my basic			
needs i.e., provide the materials (academic, play,			
little pocket money, new/needed clothes)			
I do not feel bored at my home			

School and Neighborhood Social Capital	ngly e	e	tral	gree	ngly gree
	Stro agre	Agre	Neut	Disa	Stro Disa
School (trust and reciprocity)					
Students in my school can be trusted					
Students in my school are kind and dependable					
Students in my school help each other					
Students in my school usually try to be helpful					
Students in my school understand each other					
Teacher in my school can be trusted					
Teacher in my school are kind and dependable					
Neighborhood (trust and reciprocity)					
The neighbors can be trusted					
The neighbors are kind and dependable					
The neighbors usually try to be helpful					
The neighbors help each other					
The neighbors get along with each other					

Perceived Social Support Related Information Instructions: Please read the statements given below and indicate how you feel about each statement by tick ($\sqrt{}$) marking one of the boxes among the seven alternatives.

SN	Statements	Very Strongly Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Mildly Disagree	Neutral	Mildly Agree	Strongly Agree	Very Strongly Agree
1	There is a special person who is around when I am in need.							
2	There is a special person with whom I can share joys and sorrows.							
3	My family really tries to help me.							
4	I get the emotional help & support I need from my family.							
5	I have a special person who is a real source of comfort to me.							
6	My friends really try to help me.							
7	I can count on my friends when things go wrong.							
8	I can talk about my problems with my family.							
9	I have friends with whom I can share my joys and sorrows.							
10	There is a special person in my life who cares about my feelings.							
11	My family is willing to help me make decisions.							
12	I can talk about my problems with my friends							

Self-Esteem Related Information

Instructions: Below is a list of statements dealing with your general feelings about yourself. Please tick mark ($\sqrt{}$) one of the alternatives to indicate how much you agree with each statement.

S.N.	Statements	l	,		ee	ly ee
		duo.	ree	ree	sagr	rong sagr
		Sti	Ae	Ag	Di	Di
1.	On the whole, I am satisfied with myself.					
2.	At times, I think I am no good at all.					
3.	I feel that I have a number of good qualities.					
4.	I am able to do things as well as most other people.					
5.	I feel I do not have much to be proud of.					
6.	I certainly feel useless at times.					
7.	I feel that I'm a person of worth, at least on an equal					
	plane with others.					
8.	I wish I could have more respect for myself.					
9.	All in all, I am inclined to feel that I am a failure.					
10.	I take a positive attitude toward myself.					

Questions related to Adolescent Risk Behavior

	Yes	No	If	Yes
Did you ever try the following?			age at first try (complete d years)	how many days in past 30 days
Carry a weapon such as a knife at school or elsewhere				
Physical fight				
Chewing tobacco such as, paan, gutkha, supari				
Smoking tobacco				
Alcohol				
Marijuana				
Pain killers, sleeping tablets without doctor's advice				
Inject any illegal drug into your body				
Consider attempting suicide (in past 12 months)				
Make a plan or idea about how you would attempt suicide				
Actually, attempt suicide				
Watch sexual material in websites				
Share sexually explicit material in internet, with/by friends				
Sexual activity				

Thank You for Your Great Cooperation!!!

Questionnaire on Parents' Knowledge of Adolescents' Self-esteem and their Parenting Practice and Parenting Style

Objective of the questionnaire: To obtain information regarding parents' knowledge about adolescents' self-esteem and their parenting.

Direction: You are requested to express some of your background information, your knowledge and opinion about adolescent's self-esteem and your practice to your adolescent children through this questionnaire. The questionnaire is divided into three parts. First part consists of questions related to socio-demographic characteristics and second the information related to knowledge about adolescents' self-esteem and the third part consists of questions about parenting practice and style. Please put tick mark ($\sqrt{}$) your answer or write your answer in the space provided.

Code No	Date:	Name of	the
School:			
Socio-demo	graphic Information	n	
1. Relation	n with the child: A.	Father B	B. Mother
2. Age in	completed years		
3. Religio	n:		
A. Hind	.ı B. Buddł	nist C. Musli	m D. Christian
E. If oth	ers (please specify))	
4. Ethnici	y/Surname:		
5. Family	Type: A. Nucle	ar B. Joint	
6. Educati	onal level you have	completed	
7. Occupa	tion		
8. How su	ifficient is your fa	mily income to man	age daily expenses of family
liveliho	od?		
A. Ha	ardly sufficient	B. Sufficient	C. Surplus
9. Your fa	mily's total monthl	y income in rupees	
10. What is	your marital status	?	
A. Marri	ed and staying toget	her with spouse B. Se	eparated/divorced
C. Widov	w/Widower		

Knowledge Questionnaire

In everyday language we talk about self-esteem. The word self-esteem of children and adolescents is how familiar to you?

Very well Somehow

Not at all

The following are the statements related to self-esteem of adolescents, please put tick mark ($\sqrt{}$) on the space which best match with your opinion

	Statements related to self-esteem of adolescents	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagre
1.	Adolescence is the period between 10 to 19 years of age				
2.	self-esteem is a person's overall sense of self-worth or value				
3.	Self-esteem is related to the belief and pride in oneself				
4.	Self-esteem is fluctuating during adolescence				
5.	Self-esteem can play a significant role in motivation and success for adolescents				
6.	Every human has basic needs and self-esteem is amongst them (comes after food, shelter, clothing, love and security need)				
7.	Adolescent require respect, recognition and appreciation from others to develop self-esteem				
8.	Feeling of proud and confidence are the signs of high self-esteem				
9.	Focus on weakness, feeling of failure indicate low self- esteem				
10.	Self-esteem is not inborn quality rather develops during developmental period				
11.	Parents, family, and others like peers, relatives etc. have a key role to enhance self-esteem of adolescents				
12.	Praise, support, good relation between parent and child can increase self-esteem of adolescents				

Questions related to Parenting

Please indicate how you feel about each statement by tick ($\sqrt{}$) marking in one of the boxes among the four alternatives.

Parenting Practice	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
1. I show respect to my adolescent child				
2. I acknowledge and respect his viewpoints				
3. I become aware of my own attitude and exhibit trust				
towards my adolescent child				
4. I show some flexibility and room for discussion				
5. I encourage and compliment for the good effort of my child				
6. I express in words that they (child/adolescents) are love	d			
and they are valuable to us not just for their achievement	its			
7. I try to reward good behavior and focus less on				
punishment for bad behavior				
8. I appreciate differences in him/herself and others				
9. I try to make him feel proud by praising				
10. I try to maintain good relationship with child				
11. Be realistic, honest and apologize my mistake/bad behavior if any				
12. We usually sit together and maintain open				
communication with child				
13. I allow to talk my child without interruption and listen				
him				
14. I try to develop common interests such as sport, movie				
15. Our family has talk and mealtime together				
16. We ask about opinion of child in family decision				
17. Me or my spouse attend school events and meet school,				
teachers				
18. Notice if the child having any trouble				
19. Support and help the child from my level best				
20. Try to make him feel parents are there to help				
21. We provide materials and environment needed for his				
academic and other work as possible				

Parenting style	All of the time	Most of the time	Some time	Rarely	Never
1. I have little patience to tolerate any disobey and has clear					
expectations regarding my child's behavior					
2. I strongly believe that my child's future is in my hand					
and so there is a strict time table for my child to follow					
3. I believe that through punishment a child can be corrected					
4. Whenever my child shows disobedience, I scold and					
criticize him/her with bursting anger					
5. I behave like a friend, Philosopher and guide to my child					
6. Important decisions of the family are done together and					
I give full freedom to my child to share his views					
7. I set some appropriate rules for him/her and give friendly					
corrections whenever necessary.					
8. My child talks with me out of being punished after					
he/she has done something wrong					
9. Even busy I manage time to visit my child's school & teachers					
10. I sometime threaten my child but do not actually punish					
him/her					
11. Lam very liberal and not strict to my child					
12. As I am very busy, I get less time to involve with my					
child (studies or to listen his/her needs and wishes)					
13. My child is quite free and I do not have any demand or					
control on my child					

Please indicate how you feel about each statement by tick ($\sqrt{}$) marking in one of the boxes among the five alternatives.

Thank You for your precious time and information!!!